1895 Evangelism

Resources from a Period of "Manifest Demonstration of the Spirit"

The W. W. Prescott Armadale Sermons

How Ellen White described this evangelistic experience:

- Instruction precious as gold.
- A feast of precious things.
- The truth in new lines.
- The truth in clear and simple style, yet rich in nourishment.
- The burning words of truth as heard in 1844.
- A glorious and convincing light.
- Hardly a discourse that could be called a doctrinal sermon.
- In every sermon Christ preached.
- Exalting Jesus higher and yet higher.
- Nothing but the plain gospel.

The themes she listed:

- His preexistence
- His personal dignity
- His work as Creator
- His relation to the Sabbath
- His relation to man as the source of life
- His holy law uplifted
- His Presence and work in the hearts of men
- His coming the second time in glory and power.

The reaction of unbelievers which she described:

- Were deeply interested
- Turned pale and said, "That man is inspired."
- Listened as if spellbound.
- Sat with their eyes riveted in amazement.
- Said, "All the words are precious."
- Said, "I have never attended meetings where Christ was more manifestly taught and exalted."
- Begged a copy of the discourses.

Would you—

- Like to read more completely what Ellen White said of this amazing evangelistic experience?
- Like also to "beg a copy of the discourses"?

You just may respond like Ellen White—

"How can Seventh-day Adventists preach any other doctrine?"

Contents

I. Historical Background

- A. From *The Shaping of Adventism*.
- B. From *The Return of the Latter Rain*.

II. Ellen White Descriptions

- A. Oct. 19, 1895 (Letter w-82, to Son Edson, unreleased).
- B. Oct. 22, 1895 (Letter 84, to Son Edson, unreleased).
- C. Nov. 6, 1895 (Letter 25, to S. N. Haskell, unreleased).
- D. Nov. 6, 1895 (MS 19, unreleased, emphasis supplied).
- E. Nov. 7, 1895 (Letter 51, to Bro. McCullogh, unreleased).
- F. Nov. 17, 1895 (Letter 113, to J. H. Kellogg).
- G. Nov. 18, 1895 (Letter 83, to Edson White, emphasis supplied).
- H. Nov. 21, 1895 (Review and Herald article, Jan. 7, 1896, "The Australian Camp-Meeting").

III. W. W. Prescott Articles from The Bible Echo

- A. Oct. 20, 1895, Armadale Camp- meeting Talk, "Abiding in Christ and Walking in Christ," *The Bible Echo, Dec.* 2 & 9, 1895.
- B. Oct. 23, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "Sermons in Stone," *The Bible Echo*, Dec. 16 & 23, 1895.
- C. Oct. 23, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "The Kingdom of God; or The Great Controversy Between Good and Evil," The Bible Echo, Feb. 17 & 24, 1896.
- D. Oct. 31, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "The Word Became Flesh," *The Bible Echo*, Jan. 6 & 13, 1896.
- E. Nov. 2, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "The Faith of Jesus, The Commandments of God, and The Patience of the Saints," *The Bible Echo*, Jan. 20 & 27, 1896.
- F. Nov. 5, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "God or Caesar, Which?", *The Bible Echo*, March 2, 9 & 16, 1896.
- G. Nov. 9, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "Christ Our Example," *The Bible Echo*, Feb. 3 & 10, 1896.
- H. 1895, undated talk, "The Law in Christ; Or, the Relation Between the Law and the Gospel," *The Bible Echo*, April 20 & 27, May 4, 11, 18, & 25, June 1, 1896.

Contents (con'd)

Appendix A

Statements on the Law and Gospel Blended

- A. June 6, 1896 (Letter 96, to Uriah Smith, in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 1574-1576).
- B. Nov. 1888 (MS 15, "To Brethren Assembled at General Conference," in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 164-166).
- C. May 27, 1890 (*Review and Herald* article, "Living Channels of Light," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 674).
- D. Dec. 27, 1890 (Diary, Washington, D.C., in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 779, 783).
- E. 1890 (MS36, "Danger of False Ideas on Justification by Faith," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 822).
- F. Feb. 27, 1891 (Diary, "Christ Our Righteousness," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 892).
- G. Dec. 13, 1892 (*Review and Herald* article, "Let the Trumpet Give a Certain Sound," in *The* 1888 *Materials*, pp. 1079, 1080).
- H. March 20, 1894 (*Review and Herald* article, "Christ the Center of the Message," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 1225).
- I. May 1, 1895 (Letter 57, to O. A. Olsen, in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 1338, 1339).
- J. May 25, 1896 (*The Bible Echo* article, "Preaching the Law and the Gospel").

Appendix B

Statements on the Commandments of God and the Faith of Jesus of Equal Importance

- A. Dec. 1888 (MS 24, "Looking Back at Minneapolis").
- B. June 1889 (MS30, "Experience Following the Minneapolis Conference").
- C. Sept. 13, 1889 (MS27, "Counsels to Ministers").
- D. Oct. 1889 (MS22, Diary Entries).
- E. Dec. 1889 (MS 18, "Address in Regard to the Sunday Movement").
- F. 1889 (MS13, "Standing by the Landmarks").
- G. Nov. 1890 (Letter If, "To Brethren in Responsible Positions").
- H. March 24, 1891 (Sermon, "Our Present Dangers", *General Conference Bulletin*, April 13, 1891).
- I. Jan. 16, 1896 (Letter 6, "To Brethren Who Occupy Responsible Positions in the Work").
- J. April 15, 1901 (Sermon, "An Appeal to Our Ministers" in *General Conference Bulletin*, April 16, 1901).

Appendix C

Article on J. S. Washburn and His 1890's Evangelism (Review and Herald, Jan. 26, 1989)

I. Historical Background

A. From The Shaping of Adventism.

Biography of William Warren Prescott, by Gilbert M. Valentine, Chapter 8, "Reformers in Refuge Down Under," pp. 87-91 (used by permission).

Evangelist to the Antipodes

... Arriving in the midst of an evangelistic campaign in Sydney in August 1895, Prescott found himself pressed into doing most of the preaching. His Christ- centered sermons, proclaimed in a rich American accent, made an immediate impact on colonial ears accustomed to the raucous call of currawongs and kookaburras. Eventually, he helped conduct public evangelistic meetings in all five of the eastern colonies, enabling him to model effective new patterns of evangelism. At the same time, he used his writing and editorial expertise in producing new tracts and pamphlets for evangelistic work. Mrs. White also utilized his editorial help in working through some difficult sections of *Desire of Ages*.

As we have noticed previously, Prescott's theological emphasis had changed radically since 1888. Events following Minneapolis had led him into a new religious experience that centered on "personal relationship with Christ." As a result, he now saw the doctrines of the church from a different perspective. As he explained years later to delegates at the 1919 Bible Conference, the change had come to him "almost like a personal revelation, like a person speaking to me." When he first "started out" in the work, he thought "the thing to do was to prove the doctrines. ... As I had observed and heard," he went on, the preacher's task is "simply to demonstrate the truthfulness" of church teachings. Since his "new vision," however, he had "cast the whole thing aside and

started in the simplest way presenting Christ."¹ Church doctrines, he now believed, should be presented as "simply the gospel of Christ rightly understood." They should "grow out of a belief in Jesus Christ as a living personal Saviour."²

This was not some artificial additive or some sugar coating that Prescott thought was necessary to give Adventists a gospel flavor. Rather, it was a genuine, total reorientation of his belief structure. It set the pattern for the rest of his ministry. To bring other Adventist preachers to the same conviction became his life-long burden. "That ye might know Him whom to know is life eternal," became his hallmark text of Scripture. According to H. M. S. Richards, who attended some of the professor's later ministerial institutes, Prescott's "legacy to Adventist preachers" was that "Christ must be the center of every sermon." Australia in the 1890's was still largely untouched by the Gospel message of 1888. Prescott's message stirred not only the minds but the hearts of the people.

The story of the campmeeting at Armadale in Melbourne in late 1895 illustrates well the kind of impact produced by the new thrust in Prescott's preaching. Pitched in the center of a middle-class suburb in full view of a major city railway line, the sixty-five-tent encampment presented a striking novelty for the community. As the meetings progressed, the regular congregation of two hundred camping church members was augmented during evenings and weekends by an inquisitive public. Evangelist John Corliss and Ellen White shared in the preaching, but it was Prescott who dominated the meetings not only with his schedule but also with his charisma. Undoubtedly, the professor's legendary voice attracted some of the

1895 Evangelism Page 1

^{1 &}quot;1919 Bible Conference Transcript," July 13,

General Conference Bulletin, Feb. 23, 1893, p. 350.

³ H. M. S. Richards, Sr. to G. M. Valentine, May 21, 1981.

colonials, but, according to those present, it was the Christ-centered content of his sermons that pulled in the crowds in ever increasing numbers.

Church workers were astonished at the interest, particularly in the light of the widespread prejudice against Adventists that had developed in the community. Uriah Smith's Thoughts on Daniel and Revelation had been widely distributed by colporteurs and its Arian slant on the pre-existence of Christ caused many to view Adventists as a heretical, sub-Christian sect which denied the divinity of Christ. Prescott responded to the criticism by preaching sound Christian doctrine. "His theme from first to last and always is Christ," reported an ecstatic W. C. White. "Preaching Jesus as Professor Prescott has done," added A. G. Daniells, "seems to have completely disarmed the people of prejudice." He felt that the public image of Adventists had been "completely revolutionized" by the professor.⁴

Prescott even managed to turn the traditional Adventist Saturday-Sunday polemic into a remarkable gospel presentation. Several weeks after the presentation on the Sabbath doctrine the seasoned but awed W. C. White was still marveling. Prescott had preached "with a clearness and power that exceeds anything I have ever heard in my life," he reported. The truth had been presented "with a freshness and a brightness" never seen in it before. He recalled that he had not even once heard Prescott preach "what we are accustomed to call a doctrinal sermon" on "the old lines." "The old lines of work" of getting up an "interest" by "presenting the prophecies" must "be abandoned," he asserted. "The whole thing" must receive "a new setting." He longed to see "every one" of the ministers emulate Prescott in "preaching Christ and him crucified."⁵

Ellen White, too, was ecstatic over Prescott's sermons and the quality of the people who were drawn by his "exaltation of Jesus." They were "the very best class" of society. "Unbelievers turn pale and say, that man is inspired," she reported to her son Edson. She saw in this Christ-centered evangelism a pattern for the whole church. Testimonies went out encouraging others to follow the professor's example.

The new strategy of having secretaries take down the sermon in shorthand and transcribing it for printing and distribution to the homes of the people during the following week also proved highly successful. It was considered a major advance that had the added spinoff of providing the Australian field with much-needed tracts and booklets for evangelism. Australia was "years behind" in that regard, according to W. C. White. Others back home in Battle Creek, while applauding the progress, would have preferred it to have been at the hand of someone other than Prescott. Their reaction highlights the continuing tension over the "new theology" in the church at this time.

One pamphlet, entitled "The Law in Christ" was a transcript of what Prescott considered one of his best Armadale sermons. Approved by the Australian book committee, it was later developed into a series of six [actually seven] articles in *The Bible Echo*, the Australian church paper. During October 1895, Prescott sent the manuscript to the Battle Creek Publishing House, hoping that it would receive wider circulation. A Christo-centric presentation of the "law" and "justification by faith," the manuscript was based on Prescott's new understanding of the "law in Galatians." Two months later the Battle Creek committee informed Prescott that they would not publish the pamphlet. It contained "fundamental errors," they said—an assessment that "greatly surprised" Prescott's Australian friends.⁷

Prescott replied to the announcement by saying that he found the refusal a "trifle peculiar." Almost amused, he ventured to ask for an explanation. But Mrs. White was not at all amused. Absolutely indignant at the book committee, she stated plainly that she had no confidence in them. They were not adhering to the principle of "the Bible only" as the "rule of doctrine," she said and rebuked them for "restricting" the circulation of the gospel. Several months later, still bristling at the memory of the episode, she declared that the committee had been "following in the paths of Rome." Taking up cudgels in defense of the Minneapolis reform preachers, she declared it was not for the men on the committee to "condemn or control" the productions of those whom God was using as "light-bearers to the world." She repeated her charge that the committee had been acting like the papacy.8

Some months later—when Mrs. White wrote to S. N. Haskell in South Africa just before Prescott was about to leave Australia to visit him—she again alluded to the incident. Mindful of Haskell's suspicion of Prescott because of the Anna Rice episode and fearful that he might still react negatively to the zealous reformer, she urged Haskell to receive the professor with confidence. "The truth" was "in his heart," she said, as well as on his "lips." Waxing even stronger in Prescott's defense, she pointed out that "men in authority" in the church were "not always to be obeyed." In fact, "God sometimes commissions men to teach that which is regarded as contrary to established doctrines" and no "priest or ruler"

has a right to prevent them giving "publicity" to their opinions. Just to make sure that the lessons would not be lost on the conservative Haskell, she lamented that "the spirit which ran riot at Minneapolis" was still being kept alive in the church. Adventists were "in danger of closing their eyes to truth" simply because it contradicted something they had previously accepted as truth."

Such apologetics were not required for Australian Conference president, A. G. Daniells. In fact, he was doing his best to persuade the General Conference officers to allow Prescott to stay on in Australia in order to put a "permanent mould" on the work. But his efforts were unsuccessful.

A "mould," nevertheless, was put on Daniells himself. During the Armadale meetings the two ministers developed a respect for each other that blossomed into genuine friendship. Daniells was greatly impressed by Prescott's Christian experience and the time he spent in Bible study and prayer. He had been amiss in this respect himself. Prescott in turn, rejoiced that Daniells had "turned a new leaf" and that he could help Daniells renew his Christian experience. "He hardly seems to me like the same man now," he reported to W. C. White afterward. 10 He was sure the change would be of much benefit to the church. Six years later the mutual respect and friendship would bear fruit. After Daniells' election to the leadership of the General Conference, he would insist that Prescott be appointed to serve as his lieutenant.

Page 2 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 3

⁴ W. C. White to Brethren, Nov. 21, 1985; A. G. Daniells to O. A. Olsen, Nov. 22, 1895.

W. C. White to S. McCullogh, Nov. 5, 1895; W.C. White to A. J. Breed, Nov. 22, 1895

⁶ E. G. White to S. N. Haskell, Nov. 6, 1985. [Actually E. G. White to J. Edson White, Oct. 19, 1895.]

Book Committee Minutes, Nov. 13, 1895; W.W. Prescott to F. D. Starr, Jan 16, 1896

⁸ E. G. White to O. A. Olsen, May 22, 1896 [*The 1888 Materials*, p. 1520 ff.]; E. G. White to Book Committee, Oct. 26, 1896. The members of the committee were: G. C. Tenney, U. Smith, M. E. Kellogg, G. W. Caviness, J. Kolvoord, F. M. Wilcox, and F. D. Starr.

⁹ E. G. White to S. N. Haskell, May 30, 1896 [*The 1888 Materials*, p. 1536 ff.].

¹⁰ W. W. Prescott to W. C. White, June 5, 1896; Sep. 5, 1896.

B. From The Return of the Latter Rain.

A historical look at the loud cry and latter rain; unpublished manuscript by Ron Duffield, pp. 161, 162, 166, 167 (used by permission).

Armadale Campmeeting

Not long after arriving in Australia, Prescott took part in a three-week campmeeting in Armadale. This campmeeting ran from October 17 through November 11, 1895. Here Prescott took the heaviest responsibility in preaching, speaking over 31 times during the campmeeting. He presented all of his topics "as it is in Christ," including sermons on the Sabbath, the human and divine nature of Christ, and righteousness by faith. He also shared some of the same thoughts on Romans 5 that he had shared at the 1895 Ministerial Institute. EGW [Ellen G. White] and her secretary, Maggie Hare, were present at the campmeeting and heard Prescott speak. Maggie Hare took Prescott's sermons down in shorthand so they could be printed as pamphlets for the Australian Tract Society to be used in canvassing. Seven of these sermons can be found in The Bible Echo; two of which have also been found in pamphlet form. The rest of Prescott's 31 sermons printed in pamphlet form have not yet been located and/or released from the General Conference Archives.

The significance of Prescott's campmeeting sermons is seen when read in the light of EGW's response to them. Several of her letters written about this campmeeting have never been released from the White Estate. You will remember from the last chapter, the letter EGW wrote to S. N. Haskell, June 1, 1894, defending Jones and Prescott regarding their "misstep." In that letter, EGW made the comment: "heavenly intelligences will come among us, and men will speak as they are moved upon by the Holy Spirit of God" (*The 1888 Materials*, p. 1250). It would be well to keep this in mind while reading EGW's comments about the Armadale campmeeting. ...

No less than a dozen times, EGW wrote of the preaching of W. W. Prescott [WWP] during that time in terms that described a great outpouring of the Holy Spirit upon him. What should we learn today from these events that happened long ago? Was God, by demonstrating it in Australia, showing the church what He wanted to accomplish at Battle Creek, but could not because of continued rejection? Is not God showing us today what He wants to do with each and every believer when the Holy Spirit is welcomed as a dear Guest?

Other Work of W. W. Prescott

Prescott's work continued as he went from Armadale to Tasmania to help with another campmeeting. EGW's appraisal of the Tasmania campmeeting was the same: "The manifestation of the Holy Spirit has been seen in the discourses given, in the Bible lessons, in the education of workers, and with the believers. They never have had such privileges in hearing the riches of the truth presented in clear distinct lines" (Letter 127, Dec. 11, 1895, To Edson White).

Following the campmeetings, EGW and her son, W. C. White [WCW], had a "long talk" with a couple of other evangelists who were planning a "prolonged pull and expected to work up an interest by presenting the prophecies." Along with the help of W. W. Prescott, EGW and WCW tried to show them that "another line of work was called for in these times" (WCW to AGD [A. G. Daniells], Dec. 13, 1895).

W. C. White wrote several letters to O. A. Olsen [OAO], requesting that Prescott stay and help in Australia. As they began planning for the 1896 campmeeting "campaign," W. C. White and the Conference Committee of Australia requested that the General Conference allow Prescott to lead out in these campmeetings. White suggested that "his presence would ensure success." If Prescott could not stay, then their "first choice would be Bro. A. T. Jones" (WCW to OAO, Jan.

24, 1896). The committee even went as far as to say that if Prescott or Jones' services could not be obtained it would "be better to postpone this expensive campaign for a year" until they might obtain "proper help" (AGD to WWP, March 3, 1896). Both requests were denied and neither Prescott nor Jones would take part in future campmeetings there.

It should be obvious from this brief look at the year of 1895, that God was not done in His effort to show the church His desire to pour out the latter rain. What could not be done in Battle Creek because of unbelief was demonstrated in Australia. But a church cannot move any faster than its leadership, and since Battle Creek was the heart of the work, influencing the whole denomination, God in His mercy kept step with them.

Page 4 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 5

II. Ellen White Descriptions

A. Oct. 19, 1895 (Letter w-82, to Son Edson, unreleased).

In the evening Prof. Prescott gave a most powerful discourse, instruction precious as gold. The tent was full, and many were standing outside. All seemed to be fascinated with the Word of God as the speaker presented the truth in new lines, separating the truth from the companionship of error, and by the divine influence of the Spirit of God making it to shine like precious jewels. ...

God has given brother Prescott a special message for the people. The truth comes forth from human lips in the demonstration of the Spirit and power. ... We are hoping and praying for an outpouring of the Spirit of God upon the people. We think that the best class of people are attending the meetings. The interest awakened exceeds anything we have yet had here in campmeetings. The great object of the speakers is to sweep away the refuge of lies, by exalting Jesus higher and yet higher. We are doing our best to lead the people to look upon the Lamb of God that taketh away the sin of the world. ...

Seldom can I give myself the pleasure of listening to discourses from our ministering brethren, but Sabbath forenoon I attended the meeting and heard Prof. Prescott preach. I know that since coming to this place he has had the outpouring of the Holy Spirit, his lips have been touched with a coal from off the altar. We know and can distinguish the voice of the shepherd. The truth has been poured forth from the lips of the servant of God as the people had never heard it before; unbelievers turn pale and say, "that man is inspired." The people do not stroll about the grounds, but go immediately into the tent and listen as if spellbound.

B. Oct. 22, 1895 (Letter 84, to Son Edson, unreleased).

The Lord has given Brother Prescott a

message for the people, which is highly appreciated. His mind is fruitful in the truth, and the power and the grace of God are upon him. We feel that we are highly favored in having his services at this camp meeting. I long to attend every meeting.

C. Nov. 6, 1895 (Letter 25, to S. N. Haskell, unreleased).

We are at this time in our camp-meeting having a feast of precious things. The word is presented in a most powerful manner. The Holy Spirit has been poured out upon Brother Prescott in a great measure. ... Brother Prescott has been bearing the burning words of truth such as I have heard from some in 1844. The inspiration of the Spirit of God has been upon him. Unbelievers say, "These are the words of God. I never heard such things before."

We have had the truth presented in clear lines. Bro. Prescott has never had such power in preaching the truth as he has had since coming to this meeting. The unbelievers sit with their eyes riveted on him in amazement, as the truth comes forth from his lips, vitalized by the Spirit of God. When I consider the responsibility resting upon all who hear this heaven sent message, I tremble at the word of the Lord. Who will receive the message sent to them?

D. Nov. 6, 1895 (MS 19, unreleased, emphasis supplied).

I have just been listening to a discourse given by Professor Prescott. It was a most powerful appeal to the people. Those not of our faith seemed deeply interested. They say, "there is no life in our churches, everything is so cold and dry; we are starving for the bread of life." The people are of the very best class of society, of all ages; noble looking men of white hair, sit and listen as for their life. Some men who are superintendents of Sunday Schools, are as eager to get the discourses as they see our reporters taking notes in shorthand. They say, "I do not want to lose one idea." All the words, they say, are precious. ... All say, "never did we have the privilege of hearing the Bible made so plain and brought to that simplicity in explanation, that we can not help but understand it. ..."

Maggie Hare is reporting Professor Prescott's discourses and my talks, for publication. Professor Prescott's sermons will never seem the same, I fear, as when given by the living preacher: for the words are spoken in the demonstration of the Spirit, and with power, his face all aglow with the sunshine of heaven. ... I think I may safely say I have never in my experience seen so large a number attending meetings not of our faith who are so hungry for the truth.

E. Nov. 7, 1895 (Letter 51, to Bro. McCullogh, unreleased).

In the evening Elder Prescott preached. The tent was full, and scores, it is reported, could not get under the canvas and went away. ... We have seen the power of God in human vessels as they have presented the truth at these meetings ... the Lord is in our midst.

F. Nov. 17, 1895 (Letter 113, to J. H. Kellogg).

I have been privileged to witness the past five weeks that which has given me much joy to see a people eager, hungry, and earnest to hear the Word of God presented in clear and new light. The Word of God has been presented in demonstration of the Spirit and with power. The Lord has sent Professor Prescott to us not an empty vessel, but a vessel full of heavenly treasure that he can give to every man his portion of meat in due season. This the people of God everywhere want. ...

As they see Maggie Hare taking the precious truths in shorthand, they act like a flock of half-starved sheep, and they beg for a copy. They want to read and study every point presented. Souls

are being taught of God. Brother Prescott has presented truth in clear and simple style, yet rich in nourishment. ...

We have heard many in different localities where our camp meetings have been held, express themselves as very much surprised that we do believe in Jesus Christ, that we believe in His divinity. They say, "I have been told that this people do not preach Christ, but I have never attended meetings where Christ was more manifestly taught and exalted than in the sermons and in every line of work at these meetings." How can Seventh-day Adventists preach any other doctrine?

G. Nov. 18, 1895 (Letter 83, to Edson White, emphasis supplied).

The Lord has visited Brother Prescott in a most remarkable manner and given to him the Holy Spirit to give to this people. ... Those who are not in the truth say, "That man speaks from the inspiration of the Spirit of God." We are sure that the Lord has endowed him with His Holy Spirit and the truth is being poured forth from his lips in rich currents. The truth has been listened to by preachers and by people not of our faith. After the meeting they beg of Brother Prescott to give them a copy of these discourses. ...

Brother Prescott has spoken many times and those not of our faith have felt deeply and expressed themselves that he was speaking under the inspiration of the Spirit of God.

The people in the suburbs of Melbourne are calling, "Set up your tents in our locality and let the people hear the things that you have preached in Armadale. We all need the words that you have spoken to us here."...

Abundant evidence has been given that the Holy Spirit of God has spoken to men through human agencies. ... Large numbers testify that they have never heard the Word administered with such power and in the **manifest demonstration of the Spirit** as at this meeting. God

Page 6 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 7

has said in the heavenly courts to His heavenly intelligences, "Let there be spiritual light to shine amid the moral darkness of accumulated error and fables, and reveal truth." The Messenger of the covenant has come, and the Sun of Righteousness to arise and shine forth upon the eager listeners. His preexistence, His coming the second time in glory and power, His personal dignity, His holy law uplifted, are the themes that have been dwelt upon with simplicity and power.

H. Nov. 21, 1895 (Review and Herald article, Jan. 7, 1896, "The Australian Camp-Meeting").

Our third Australian camp-meeting was held in Armadale, a populous suburb of Melbourne, about three miles southeast from the center of the city. During the early part of the year our brethren had planned for the meeting to be held in Ballarat, a city of thirty thousand people, about ninety miles north from Melbourne. There is a faithful little church there that needed strengthening, and as the Australian Conference is in debt, it seemed desirable to hold the meeting where it would be less expensive than in Melbourne.

But the Lord has been giving me light about the work to be done in our large cities. The people in the cities are to be warned, and the message should go to them now. The time will come when we cannot work so freely in the large cities; but now, the people will listen to the message, and this is our time to work most earnestly for the people in the centers of population. Many will hear and obey, and carry the message to others.

The interest which began to be awakened by the camp-meeting held two years ago in Brighton, should be carried forward by a camp-meeting in some part of Melbourne each year. When our brethren took these things into consideration, they decided that the meeting should be held in Melbourne, and in their search for a ground were led to locate in Armadale. The first plan was to locate the meeting at Northcote, where it would be convenient for our brethren and sisters. But the Lord hedged up the way at Northcote, and led them to a locality convenient to densely populated suburbs where the message had never been given.

During the meeting we have had abundant evidence that the Lord has been guiding both in the location and in the work of the meeting. A new field has been opened, and an encouraging field it appears to be. The people did not swarm upon the ground from curiosity, as at our first meeting in Brighton, and as at Ashfield last year. The majority came straight to the large meeting tent, where they listened intently to the word; and when meeting was over, they quietly returned to their homes, or gathered in groups to ask questions or discuss what they had heard.

The interest steadily increased from the beginning of the meeting. The evening discourses, given by Elders Prescott, Corliss, and Daniells, all presented the truth as it is in Jesus Christ. Hardly a discourse was given during the whole meeting that could be called a doctrinal sermon. In every sermon Christ was preached, and as the great and mysterious truths regarding his presence and work in the hearts of men were made clear and plain, the truths regarding his second coming, his relation to the Sabbath, his work as Creator, and his relation to man as the source of life, appeared in a glorious and convincing light that sent conviction to many hearts. With solemnity the people said, "We have listened to truth tonight."

A Bible study was usually given at three o'clock each afternoon. These studies followed the same lines as the evening discourses, and they were regularly attended by scores besides those living on the campground. The forenoons were mostly occupied by meetings of the Australian and Union Conferences, the tract society, the Sabbath-school association, and the publishing and school interests.

The early morning hour, before breakfast, was set apart and generally observed as a silent hour for individual study and prayer. Occasionally, a general meeting was held at this hour. We have found blessing in setting apart a season when every soul could feel that there was time to pray and to study the word of God without interruption. The half-past eight morning hour was devoted alternately to district prayer-meetings and general social meetings. Although quite feeble during most of the meeting, the Lord has strengthened me to bear my testimony here. During the three weeks of the meeting I have usually spoken Sabbath, Sunday, and Wednesday afternoons, besides short talks in the morning meetings.

Sabbath morning, Oct. 19, Elder Corliss gave valuable instruction to our people. In the afternoon, I spoke from the fourth chapter of John, dwelling upon the conversation of Christ with the woman of Samaria, in which he said, "If thou knewest the gift of God, and who it is that saith to thee, Give me to drink; thou wouldest have asked of him, and he would have given thee living water." A testimony meeting followed, in which praise and glory were given to God for his unspeakable goodness and matchless love to fallen man in giving Jesus, his only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in him should not perish, but have everlasting life. All seemed to have a desire to lift up Jesus higher and still higher. Some outsiders took part, one minister testifying that the blessing of God was in the meeting, and that it was good to be there. We felt much pleased to see so large an attendance, and were impressed with the fact that more than half were persons we had never met in general meeting before.

Sunday morning, Elder Wilson, from New Zealand, gave a most profitable, although plain and simple, discourse. It was beautiful in its simplicity. The simpler the teaching, the more the under shepherd represents the Chief Shepherd. In the afternoon the tent was full to overflowing. Quite a number stood on the outside, and all listened with deep interest, and the Lord strengthened me as I bore a plain testimony to the

people, dwelling especially upon our obligation to acknowledge God in all our ways, and to seek more and more to obtain a knowledge of God, as presented in Christ's prayer in the seventeenth chapter of John.

In the evening Professor Prescott gave a most valuable lesson, precious as gold. The tent was full, and many stood outside. All seemed to be fascinated with the word, as he presented the truth in lines so new to those not of our faith. Truth was separated from error, and made, by the divine Spirit, to shine like precious jewels. It was shown that perfect obedience to all the commandments of God is essential for the salvation of souls. Obedience to the laws of God's kingdom reveals the divine in the human, sanctifying the character.

In visiting the people with the *Echoes*, and inviting them to the meetings, one of the workers met a woman who had been keeping the Sabbath for about twelve months. She had never heard the living preacher, but in studying the Bible she was convicted that she was keeping the wrong day, that the seventh day was the true Bible Sabbath. She is now attending the meetings, and feasting upon the truth. There are many interesting cases developing, that are just on the point of taking their stand.

The Lord is working in power through his servants who are proclaiming the truth, and he has given brother Prescott a special message for the people. The truth comes from human lips in demonstration of the Spirit and power of God.

The meetings have been well attended by the people of Armadale and Malvern, both afternoons and evenings, and on Sundays and Wednesdays large numbers have come from the distant suburbs. The people say: "You cannot appreciate the change of feeling about your meeting and work. It has been commonly reported that you do not believe in Christ. But we have never heard

Christ preached as at these meetings." "There

Page 8 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 9

is no life in our churches. Everything is cold and dry. We are starving for the Bread of Life. We come to this campmeeting because there is food here." As they see our stenographers reporting the discourses, they plead that they be printed soon, and placed within their reach. One who is a Sunday-school teacher, took copious notes of Elder Prescott's discourse on "God and Caesar," and then made copies for two ministers who were interested in the subject.

On every side we hear discussion of the subjects presented at the camp-meeting. One day as Elder Corliss stepped out of a train, the guard [conductor] stopped him with the request that he explain Col. 2:16. They stopped, and as the crowd rushed by, the explanation was given, and from Lev. 23:37, 38 it was shown that there were sabbaths besides the Sabbath of the Lord. Earnest requests have been sent in that some of the addresses be given in the Melbourne town hall.

As two gentlemen were coming to a Sabbath afternoon service, one remarked to the other, "These are a strange people. All we shall hear will be Moses and Sinai. After the meeting, he came to Elder Daniells, and expressed very great surprise at what he had heard. He told him what they had said, and added that he could hardly believe his ears. He had heard nothing but the plain gospel. Another man who had been considerably opposed to the work was prevailed upon to attend one of the meetings, and has since told a friend that it will be a distinct loss to the spiritual interests of the community when the Adventists go away; for Christ has been indeed exalted in these meetings.

A former Wesleyan local preacher's family are all interested, and thoroughly convinced of the truth. Even the children ask why they should "keep the pope's Sunday when they know it is not the true Sabbath." A lady who lives some distance away has been reading the *Echo*, and came here expressly to attend some of the meetings. In the very first one she attended, Professor

Prescott made a call for those who would follow the Lord to stand. She arose, and has since been baptized. A widow who has been attending most of the meetings has now kept three Sabbaths. One lady who was much prejudiced finally came to the meeting to satisfy her children, but just as soon as the service was over, she rushed out of the tent, not wishing to speak to any one. However, she came again, and it happened that the subject was "Sunday in the New Testament;" the choir followed with, "I Will Follow Thee, My Saviour," and she says she could not get that song out of her mind; it rang in her ears continually. She is now earnestly seeking for truth.

Camp-meetings are a success in arresting the attention of the people. Many who attended the Brighton meeting two years ago have been present at the Armadale meeting. They went through that meeting without deciding to obey the truth, but are manifesting a greater interest here, and some have taken their position now in obedience to the truth. Twenty were baptized, Sunday, Nov. 10. *Melbourne*, *Nov.* 21.

Page 10 1895 Evangelism

III. W. W. Prescott Articles from *The Bible Echo*

"With this number we begin a most valuable and interesting series of addresses, delivered by Professor W. W. Prescott at the Armadale camp-meeting. The series will appear under the head of "Camp-Meeting Addresses." Those who could not attend the meeting will doubtless esteem it a privilege to have an opportunity of reading these addresses through the columns of the BIBLE ECHO." (*The Bible Echo*, Dec. 2, 1895)

A. Oct. 20, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "Abiding in Christ and Walking in Christ," *The Bible Echo*, *Dec*. 2 & 9, 1895.

ABIDING IN CHRIST AND WALKING IN CHRIST

"He that saith He abideth in Him ought himself also so to walk even as He walked." 1 John 2:6.

Abiding and walking are the lessons of this text. As a result of abiding in Christ, we ought to walk as He walked. The first lesson is abiding in Christ. "Abide in Me, and I in you. As the branch cannot bear fruit of itself, except it abide in the vine; no more can ye, except ye abide, in Me. I am the vine, ye are the branches: he that abideth in Me, and I in him, the same bringeth forth much fruit; for without Me ye can do nothing." John 15:4, 5. Christ says, "I am the true Vine." There are a great many that profess to be vines; but I am the real vine, I am the Vine that has life. We are the branches. But in the Scripture Christ is spoken of as a branch. "Behold, I will bring forth My servant the Branch." "Behold the man whose name is the Branch; and He shall grow up out of His place, and He shall build the temple of the Lord." Zech. 3:8; 6:12. "For he shall grow up before Him as a tender plant, and as a root out of a dry ground: he hath no form nor comeliness; and when we shall see Him there is no beauty

that we should desire Him." Isa. 53:2. "I am the vine, ye are the branches." But the Scripture speaks of Christ Himself as the branch. Christ is a branch unto God that He may be a vine unto us.

Before any branch can grow, there must be some life underneath that does not show itself. So the branch is after all only a root which has come up in sight, but which depends for life upon the roots that draw life from the soil. God is the source of all things; but He comes in sight to men in

JESUS CHRIST THE BRANCH,

and Christ the branch is but the root of God, growing up in sight that men may see it, and God be manifested. When Jesus Christ came to the world, it was God manifesting Himself; but because the root came up out of what appeared to be dry ground, because it did not manifest itself in the way that men thought it ought to, they did not recognize it. They thought it was something not to be desired, and so they rejected it; and yet it was a branch springing up from the root of life, it was God manifesting Himself to the world so that He could be seen. Clouds and darkness are round about His throne; yet He manifested Himself, so that the world, if they would, might see Him in the Branch.

Christ became a branch unto God in order that He might be a vine unto other branches. But the branch abides in the vine only by having a living connection with it. Just as soon as the branch is severed from the vine, though it is put back again with great care, it no longer abides in the Vine. It will not abide in the vine except it be grafted, and the success of this grafting depends upon making such a connection that the life from the vine shall flow into the branch again.

And we must abide in Christ as—

THE BRANCH ABIDES IN THE VINE,

so that very life of God shall be our life. The branch is full of life, yet it has no life of its own.

1895 Evangelism Page 11

So we must present ourselves every day to be filled with life from God. Just the moment the connection is severed between the branch and the vine, just that moment the branch ceases to live. That is the lesson of abiding in Christ. As the branch is connected with the vine, filled with life, yet needing all the time to be filled, so we are to be connected with Christ, wholly dependent upon Him for life.

That is the lesson; what is the application?—"He that saith he abideth in Him ought himself also so to walk even as He walked." If the branch is connected with the vine, it bears the fruit of the vine. God in Christ is the true Vine, but the fruit of the grape vine is not found directly on the stalk. The fruit is found on the branches. Christ is our vine, and those who, through becoming connected with Him, are His branches, will bring forth the same fruit as He did when He was here, a branch Himself. That is to say, they will walk even as He walked. This brings before us the thought of—

CHRIST OUR EXAMPLE.

"He that saith he abideth in Him, ought himself also so to walk even as He walked." Not as men say He walked, but as He walked. And how shall we know how He walked? By reading and studying His life. That is where we find how Christ walked, and there we will find how we ought to walk. And we will walk as He walked, not wholly as an *obligation*, but as a *result*. If one says he abides in Christ, and walks not as He walked, his life is contrary to his profession. We do not get into Christ by trying to walk as He walked; we do not abide in Christ by trying to walk as He walked; but we first get into Christ, and then as a consequence, just as the branch will bring forth the fruit of the vine, so will the Christian, who really abides in Christ, bring forth the same fruit that He bore, walking as He walked.

If we abide in Him, we will walk in His steps,

and He has left us an example that we should walk in His steps. There are many people who take it upon themselves to point out what are Christ's footsteps; but His word is the test, and in it we may find whether they are pointing out the right footsteps or not. There are in the world today many false conceptions of Christ, which amount really to having a false Christ. It is not what our *idea* of Christ is, but what *He is*, that is to be our example; not what we have been taught that Christ is, but what word says that He is.

It was revealed unto Simeon "that he should not see death before he had seen the Lord's Christ," and that is what we want to see. Not any man's idea of what Christ ought to be, but the Lord's Christ. That is the Christ of the word, and our idea of how Christ walked should be formed wholly by the word.

A PRACTICAL TEST.

And now let us test it that way. It is quite likely that as soon as we begin to talk of walking with Christ, there comes up the thought, Christ walked on the water; and you surely do not expect us to walk on the water. Let me call your attention to an incident at the beginning of Christ's ministry: "And Jesus, walking by the Sea of Galilee, saw two brethren, Simon called Peter and Andrew his brother, casting a net into the sea, for they were fishers. And He saith unto them, Follow Me, and I will make you fishers of men. And they straightway left their nets and followed Him." Matt. 4: 18- 20. Before Christ walked on the sea, He walked by the sea on the land; and before He saw Peter on the water, He saw him on the land and told him to follow Him, and Peter left his nets and followed Him. Later on in Christ's ministry, we find that after He had fed the five thousand, His disciples took ship to go across the lake, but He went apart into a mountain to pray; "and when the evening was come, He was there alone. But the ship was now in the midst of the sea, tossed with waves; for the wind was contrary. And in the fourth watch of the night Jesus went unto them, walking on the sea." Matt. 14:23-25. But notice that before He walked on the sea, He had spent the night in secret prayer. "But the ship was now in the midst of the sea, tossed with the waves: for the wind was contrary." So is our ship. Very likely just now some ship is being tossed by the waves of human tempest. And in the fourth watch of the night, Jesus came to them from His season of secret prayer, walking on the sea. "And when the disciples saw Him walking on the sea, they were troubled, saying, It is a spirit; and they cried out for fear. But straightway Jesus spake unto them, saying, Be of good cheer; it is I; be not afraid." Let Him say that to you now. "Be of good cheer; it is I; be not afraid." "And Peter answered Him, and said, Lord, if it be Thou, bid me come unto Thee on the water. And He said, Come. And when Peter was come down out of the ship, he walked on the water to go to Jesus. But when he saw the wind boisterous, he was afraid; and beginning to sink, he cried, saying, Lord save me. And immediately Jesus stretched forth His hand and caught him, and said unto him, O thou of little faith, wherefore didst thou doubt?" Verses 26-31. Christ's walk on the sea was

THE WALK OF FAITH,

but Peter failed because of his lack of faith. It is contrary to nature to walk on the water, and it is contrary to our nature to walk as Christ walked; but He says to us as He said to Peter, "Be of good cheer; it is I; be not afraid." Whether it be on land or on sea, His word is a rock; and when He puts His word beneath our feet, He builds for us a bridge of rock, and it makes no difference whether He puts that bridge on land, or water, or in the sky.

But Peter sank. And the Peter that sank that night on the water is the Peter that sank that other night, in failing to testify for Jesus. The reason in both cases was his lack of faith. In every walk of Christ there is a lesson for us, and as it is unnatural for man to walk on water, so it is unnatural for him to walk as Christ walked—in obedience to the character of God; but power is given through faith in God's word, "Come unto Me."

Although Christ was God in the flesh, yet He did not escape—

THE CRITICISM OF MEN

as to the way He walked. Observe the record: "And it came to pass as Jesus sat at meat in the house, behold many publicans and sinners came and sat down with Him and His disciples. And when the Pharisees saw it,"—Who is a Pharisee?—He is a man who has undertaken to be his own Saviour, and is very confident in his own power to do the work. It does not matter whether he lived eighteen hundred years ago, or whether he lives today. Who is a Christian? One who depends upon Christ as his Saviour, and has all confidence in Him.

Christ came in contact with Pharisees who were making themselves holy, and they found fault with Him for eating with publicans and sinners, and "they said unto His disciples, Why eateth your master with publicans and sinners? But when Jesus heard that, He said unto them, They that be whole need not a physician, but they that are sick. But go ye and learn what that meaneth, I will have mercy and not sacrifice; for I am not come to call the righteous, but sinners to repentance." Matt. 9:10-13. When they found fault with the way He was walking, He said, I am walking according to the Scriptures, and if you were following those Scriptures, you would not find fault with Me. These men were the leaders of the religious thought of the day. They were looked upon as the teachers of the people, and they prided themselves in that position. Yet they criticised Christ's walk.

Let us read another record: "And when the

Page 12 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 13

chief priests and the scribes saw the wonderful things that He did, and the children crying in the temple, and saying, Hosanna to the Son of David; they were sore displeased." What displeased them?—Because the children cried Hosanna to Christ and not to the scribes and Pharisees. "And said unto Him, Hearest Thou what these say? And Jesus saith unto them, Yea; have ye never read, Out of the mouth of babes and sucklings Thou hast perfected praise?" I am walking in accordance with the Scriptures.

Let us turn to Mark's Gospel on this point; "And it came to pass that He went through the cornfields on the Sabbath day; and His disciples began, as they went, to pluck the ears of com. And the Pharisees said unto Him, Behold, why do they on the Sabbath day that which is not lawful?" Mark 2:23, 24. For what did they find fault with Him this time? The first time it was about sitting down and eating with sinners; but it was His glory to receive sinners then, and it is so now. The second time they found fault with Him about the children singing His praises. Let them sing them now. The third time it was because He did not keep the Sabbath day according to their idea, and how does He meet it? "Have ye never read what David did, when he had need and was an hungered, he and all that were with him?" If you had read the Scriptures, you would not have found fault with Me in that way. The principles laid down in the Scriptures are the principles which govern My life, but I am not walking according to your interpretation of the Scriptures.

With those who desire the truth, as soon as the truth is presented to them, the controversy is at an end. Those who desire an argument will dodge from one point to another, as did the Pharisees with Christ.

"And He entered again into the synagogue; and there was a man there which had a withered hand. And they watched Him, whether He would heal him on the Sabbath day." The same controversy again. "And He saith unto the man

which had the withered hand, Stand forth. And He saith unto them, Is it lawful to do good on the Sabbath days, or to do evil? to save life, or to kill? But they held their peace." Mark 3:1-4. Well they might; for there was nothing to be said. And He healed the man.

THE CONTROVERSY IN CHRIST'S TIME AND OURS.

In Christ's time the controversy between Him and the Pharisees was how to keep the Sabbath; and when Christ settled it, He settled it on the basis of the Scriptures. The controversy today is, Which day shall we keep for the Sabbath? Settle it on the same ground. That is walking as Christ walked. "He that saith he abideth in Him ought himself also so to walk even as He walked," not as people say He walked. If someone says that Christ kept the first day of the week, go to the Bible, and ask for the record. If some claim that the Sabbath was changed by Him or by the apostles in honour of His resurrection, ask for a "Thus saith the Lord." The word is our only safe guide. Walk as He walked. The man who walks as Christ walks will not necessarily walk as the leading religious teachers of the day walk. Christ did not; for it was the Pharisees who found fault with Him. Christ did not conform His life to their ideas. He told them what the Scripture said, and told them that He was walking in accordance to that word. And today let that word settle every controversy.

CHRIST THE MANIFESTATION OF THE CHARACTER OF GOD.

When Christ, looking back over His life of thirty-three years, said that He had finished the work His Father gave Him to do, how did He sum it all up? "All things that I have heard of My Father I have made known unto you." "If ye keep My commandments, ye shall abide in My love,

even as I have kept My Father's commandments and abide in His love." John 15:15, 10. In this statement we have not so much a command as an example, and when Christ said that, He gave His complete biography. When he said, "I have kept My Father's commandments," He gave His whole life- history. And what does it mean?—I have manifested the character of My Father. What, then, does it mean to keep the commandments?—It means to manifest the character of God as it appeared in Jesus Christ. Nothing short of that is keeping the commandments. The Pharisees prided themselves that they were keeping the commandments, but Christ said, "Ye know not the Scriptures." What they knew about the Scriptures, they had learned by the head. What we learn about the Scriptures, we must learn by heart, "the eyes of your understanding being enlightened, that ye may know,"—know it really and truly by heart.

When Christ told them that He had kept His Father's commandments, He told them that He was the manifestation of God on the earth. He told them in those words that God was in Christ, reconciling the world unto Himself; He told them that He did not speak His own words, but the words of His Father. "The Father that dwelleth in Me, He doeth the works." He told them that He was the Word of God on the earth, because He was declaring the character of God. He told them He was Jesus Christ. All this He told them in these words: "I have kept My Father's commandments." Christ was a man, the Son of man. There has, then, been one man who walked this earth, and kept the commandments of God. He is our example. We are to walk as He walked.

CAN WE KEEP THE COMMANDMENTS?

When we thus learn from the Scriptures that keeping the commandments is manifesting the character of God, we may say, It is impossible for us to do that. That is a good beginning. We cannot do it, that is true. But who did keep the commandments?—Jesus Christ. And who can do it over again, even in sinful flesh?—Jesus Christ. And how shall we walk as He walked? "And what agreement hath the temple of God with idols? for ye are the temple of the living God; as God hath said, I will dwell in them, and walk in them; and I will be their God, and they shall be My People." 2 Cor. 6:16. God dwelt in Christ and walked in Christ. Christ was the branch unto God that He might be the vine unto us, that the life through Him might flow into us as branches, that we might bear the fruit of the vine.

"He that saith he abideth in Him ought himself also so to walk even as He walked." Let the scripture tell how He walked: "I have kept my Father's commandments." The life of God abides in him who abides in Christ, and the scripture is fulfilled, "I will dwell in them and walk in them." God in Christ, by His Holy Spirit dwelling in the man, walks in him. This shows how we can walk as Christ walked.

But first of all, take what the word of God says. Do not take what man says. Let the light of God shine upon His word. Let His Holy Spirit teach us the blessed living truth of His word, and God Himself will fulfil His word in everyone who thus receives it.

But let us read further: "A new heart also will I give you, and a new spirit will I put within you; and I will take away the stony heart out of your flesh, and I will give you a heart of flesh. And I will put My Spirit within you, and cause you to walk in My statutes, and ye shall keep My judgements and do them." Eze. 36:26, 27. That is the promise of God. But when He says, "My Child, this way," and I choose to go another way, He does not cause us to walk in His way. He does not cause us to do contrary to our will in this matter. But when one says, Lord, show me the way (Ps. 119:33), He shows him the way, and causes him to walk in it. That is the way of His working.

Page 14 1895 Evangelism Page 15

The blessed Bible teaches us the same truth in a hundred different ways. Suppose we turn to a page of what we may call God's picture book. To help children to understand, we give them pictures to illustrate what we are teaching. We are but children, and God often tells us a truth by putting a picture before us. Here is one:—

"And great multitudes came unto Him, having with them those that were lame, blind, dumb, maimed, and many others, and cast them down at Jesus' feet; and He healed them." Could any one be much worse off? They were in a terrible plight, but "He healed them." "Insomuch that the multitude wondered, when they saw the dumb to speak, the maimed to be whole, the lame to walk, and the blind to see; and they glorified the God of Israel." Matt. 15:30, 31. We are lame; we cannot walk as Christ walked. Christ had a noble walk. We cannot walk that kind of a walk. What does He do for us. He healed *them*; cannot He heal us?

Here is another of God's pictures, which we have looked at many times. It is the picture of the man lame from his mother's womb. Take the Scripture just as it reads. What was the matter with this man? He was lame. And how long had he been lame?—All his life. What did Peter say to him?—"Silver and gold have I none; but such as I have give I thee: in the name of Jesus Christ of Nazareth rise up and walk." What then? "And he took him by the right hand and lifted him up, and immediately his feet and ankle bones received strength." And when he had received strength, what did he do?—"And he leaping up stood, and walked, and entered with them into the temple, walking and leaping, and praising God." But he had to receive strength in the name of Jesus of Nazareth before he could walk. And the people "were filled with wonder and amazement at that which had happened unto him."

"And when Peter saw it, he answered unto the people, Ye men of Israel, why marvel ye at this?" Ye men that believe in Israel's God, why do ye wonder at this? Do you not believe in a God of power? "Why look ye so earnestly on us, as though by our own power or holiness we had made this man to walk?" Acts 3:6-12.

WALKING AS CHRIST WALKED.

No man can make another walk as Christ walked if he has not the strength to walk that way. It is through faith in Jesus of Nazareth. "And His name, through faith in His name, hath made this man strong, whom ye see and know; yea, the faith which is by Him hath given him this perfect soundness in the presence of you all." Israel's God lives today, and the same power that touched that man who never had walked and made him able to walk, can take the worst sinner, who never has stepped one step in the steps of Jesus Christ, and make him to walk as Christ walked. "In the name of Jesus Christ of Nazareth, rise up and walk."

Here is another picture to show us that we can walk as He walked through faith in His name: "And there sat a certain man at Lystra, impotent in his feet, being a cripple from his mother's womb, who never had walked." But he had heard Paul speak, and the message had taken hold of his heart. Paul saw that he had faith to be healed, and he "said with a loud voice, stand upright on thy feet. And he leaped and walked." Acts 14:8- 10. And he walked like a well man. He was made well in order that he might do this. That is the work of Jesus Christ. And today by His power we can walk as He walked. "As ye have therefore received Christ Jesus the Lord, so walk ye in Him." Col. 2:6. And to walk in Him is the only way we can walk as He walked.

"And walk in love, as Christ also hath loved us, and hath given Himself for us an offering and a sacrifice to God for a sweet smelling savour." Eph. 5:2. Many people have a very incorrect idea of what it means to walk in love. They seem to have an idea that it is to get up a kind of ecstasy so that they do not know where they are or what they are doing. It means to them to get above the

ordinary things of life. This is not the correct view. The Scripture defines exactly what it means to walk in love. "And this is love that we walk after His commandments." 2 John 6. "For this is the love of God that we keep His commandments." 1 John 5: 3. "If ye love Me," Christ said, "keep My commandments." "If ye keep My commandments, ye shall abide in My love, even as I have kept My Father's commandments, and abide in His love." John 15:10. The love of God is not a sentimental emotion, not a fanatical frenzy of experience. Christ worked at the carpenter's bench during the greater part of His life. He went down to Nazareth and was subject to His parents. His walk as a young man is the walk for every young man. Christ tells us how to love Him. He does not accept anything else.

It is of great importance for us to—

GET A RIGHT IDEA OF JESUS CHRIST.

Let a man get a wrong idea of Him, and He will devote his life to his false idea, and sacrifice the lives of all who do not see his Christ as He sees Him. Take, for instance, the example of Paul. He was looking for Messiah; but it was his Messiah, not the Lord's Messiah, so that when the Lord's Messiah came he did not see Him. Some did, and believed on Him, and Paul immediately began to persecute them because they did not believe on his Christ. "For ye have heard of my conversation in time past in the Jews' religion, how that beyond measure I persecuted the church of God, and wasted it." "In the Jews' religion." God's religion never persecuted anybody. It is man's religion that leads one to persecute those who do not see his Christ. God's religion never does so. "And profited in the Jews' religion above many my equals in mine own nation." Observe what the Jews' religion was. "Being more exceedingly zealous of the traditions of my fathers." Gal. 1:13, 14. He was zealous of the traditions of his

fathers, not of the word of God. "But when it pleased God who separated me from my mother's womb, and called me by His grace, to reveal His Son in me, that I might preach Him among the heathen; immediately I conferred not with flesh and blood. Neither went I up to Jerusalem to them that were apostles before me; but I went into Arabia, and returned again unto Damascus. Then after three years I went up to Jerusalem to see Peter, and abode with him fifteen days. But other of the apostles saw I none, save James the Lord's brother. Now the things which I write unto yon, behold, before God, I lie not. Afterward I came into the region of Syria and Cilicia; and was unknown by face unto the churches of Judea which were in Christ; but they had heard only, that he which persecuted us in times past now preacheth the faith which once he destroyed. And they glorified God in me." Gal. 1:15-24. It is important that we have a true idea of Christ.

CHRIST IS ALL AND IN ALL,

and in order to walk as He walked, we must know Him in His capacity of adapting Himself to us. The Scripture sets Him forth in this way, that we may appropriate the love of God to ourselves.

"I am the door." John 10:7. That is the entrance. No man can enter except through Christ.

"I am the way." John 14:6. I am the door and the way to walk in.

"I am the light of the world." John 8:12.

I am the door, the way, the light. This is a dark world, and we need a light.

"I am that bread of life." John 6:48. We need strength to walk in the way. "I am that bread of life."

"I am the good shepherd." John 10:11. He is the companion who goes with His sheep.

"I am ... the life." John 14:6. This is the power for the way.

"I am the resurrection." John 11:25. That is the end of the road.

Page 16 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 17

I am the door, I am the way, I am the light, I am the bread, I am the Good Shepherd, I am the life, I am the resurrection. That is: I am the entrance, the road, the light to walk by, the strength to walk with, the companion by the way, the power for the way, and the end of the way. And so David in the 23rd Psalm says, "Yea, though I walk through the valley of the shadow of death, I will fear no evil: for Thou art with me; Thy rod and Thy staff they comfort me." Jesus Christ's walk extends not simply to the grave, but through the grave. And because of this, we may go through the valley of the shadow of death, and not be left in it. "I am the resurrection and the life;" and he who abides in Christ, who is the door, the way, the light, the bread, the Good Shepherd, the life, and the resurrection, does walk "even as He walked."

B. Oct. 23, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "Sermons in Stone," *The Bible Echo*, Dec. 16 & 23, 1895.

SERMONS IN STONE

Some poet has spoken of seeing sermons in stones, and this will be our study this morning—to see "sermons in stones."

"Joseph is a fruitful bough, even a fruitful bough by a well; whose branches run over the wall. The archers have sorely grieved him, and shot at him, and hated him; but his bow abode in strength, and the arms of his hands were made strong by the hands of the Mighty God of Jacob (from thence is the shepherd, the stone of Israel)" "To whom coming, as unto a living stone, disallowed indeed of men, but chosen of God and precious, ye also, as living stones, are built up a spiritual house, a holy priesthood, to offer up spiritual sacrifices, acceptable to God by Jesus Christ" Gen. 49:22-24; 1 Peter 2:4, 5. We shall see different cases, where, under one experience and another, one record and another, this thought of the "living stone" is brought out.

"Then came Amalek, and fought with

Israel in Rephidim. And Moses said unto Joshua, choose us out men, and go out, fight with Amalek; tomorrow I will stand on the top of the hill with the rod of God in mine hand. So Joshua did as Moses had said to him, and fought with Amalek; and Moses, Aaron, and Hur went up to the top of the hill. And it came to pass, when Moses held up his hand, that Israel prevailed; and when he let down his hand, Amalek prevailed. But Moses' hands were heavy; and they took a stone, and put it under him, and He sat thereon." Ex. 17:8-12. The fact that Moses sat upon a stone means something more than simply that he had something to sit upon. It indicates that it was the God of Israel, "the stone of Israel," who gave him the victory.

THE STONE IN THE HAND OF ISRAEL'S SHEPHERD BOY.

We have, too, the case of David and Goliath. We need not take time to read how the Philistines had defeated the army of Israel, and how Goliath came out morning after morning to defy them. David, who was but a shepherd boy at this time, came down to visit his brethren. They rather despised him. "And Eliab's anger was kindled against David, and he said, Why camest thou down hither? and with whom hast thou left those few sheep in the wilderness?" 1 Sam. 17:28. David came from keeping the sheep. A shepherd is one who keeps his sheep, not loses them. Christ is the Good Shepherd.

David, after talking with Saul, obtained his consent to go out and fight Goliath, and "Saul armed David with his armour, and he put a helmet of brass upon his head; also he armed him with a coat of mail." He thought that if David was going to fight against Goliath, he would need armour. "And David said unto Saul, I cannot go with these; for I have not proved them. And David put them off him. And he took his staff in his hand, and chose him five smooth stones out of the brook, and put them in a shepherd's bag which he had, even in a scrip;

and his sling was in his hand: and he drew near to the Philistine. And the Philistine came on and drew near unto David; and the man that bare the shield went before him. And when the Philistine looked about and saw David, he disdained him; for he was but a youth, and ruddy, and of a fair countenance. And the Philistine said unto David, Am I a dog, that thou comest to me with staves? And the Philistine cursed David by his gods. And the Philistine said to David, Come to me, and I will give thy flesh unto the fowls of the air, and to the beasts of the field. Then said David to the Philistine, Thou comest to me with a sword, and with a spear, and with a shield; but I come to thee in the name of the Lord of hosts, the God of the armies of Israel, whom thou hast defied. ... And it came to pass when the Philistine arose, and came, and drew nigh to meet David, that David hasted, and ran toward the army to meet the Philistine. And David put his hand in his bag, and took thence a stone, and slang it, and smote the Philistine in his forehead, that the stone sunk into his forehead; and he fell upon his face to the earth. So David prevailed over the Philistine with a sling and with a stone." 1 Sam. 17:38-50.

David went out in the name of the Lord, and Jesus went with him to give him the victory simply by a stone. It was not simply David's power and accuracy that caused that stone to sink into the forehead of the Philistine. It was the power of the Lord, who was fighting the battle for him. That record is for us. We have battles to fight against the enemy of the Lord of hosts, and we prevail over him with a stone. David without armour, without implements of warfare, David going forth in the faith of the Lord of hosts, is the example for us. He prevailed with a stone. Jesus Christ, the living stone, is our strength and power for our battles with the enemy.

A BUILDING OF PREPARED STONES.

In 1 Kings 6, we have a record of the building of Solomon's temple. In the 7th verse is a

description of the house: "And the house, when it was in building, was built of stone made ready before it was brought thither; so that there was neither hammer nor ax nor any tool of iron heard in the house, while it was in building." The stones of this temple were quarried out and hewn, and each stone fitted for its particular place in the temple, before they were brought together; and then when they were brought from the quarry, each stone fitted into its place. The building was put together, stone upon stone, and there was heard no sound of ax or hammer. "They prepared timbers and stones to build the house." But all the preparing was done before they were fitted together.

"Ye also as lively stones, are built up—

A SPIRITUAL HOUSE,

a holy priesthood, to offer up spiritual sacrifices, acceptable to God by Christ Jesus. Wherefore also it is contained in the scripture, Behold, I lay in Sion a chief comer stone, elect, precious; and he that believeth on Him shall not be confounded. Unto you therefore which believe He is precious; but unto them which be disobedient, the stone which the builders disallowed, the same is made the head of the comer, and a stone of stumbling, and a rock of offence, even to them which stumble at the word, being disobedient." 1 Pet. 2:4-8. Christ is the living stone; and as soon as we come in contact with Him, we become living stones. Apart from Him, we are dead; but coming in contact with Him, we are built up a spiritual house for Him, "whose house are we, if we hold fast the confidence and rejoicing of the hope firm unto the end" (Heb. 3:6); "Jesus Christ Himself, being the chief cornerstone." Eph. 2:20. "For ye are the temple of the living God." 2 Cor. 6:16. And the whole house, fitly framed together, groweth unto an holy temple in the Lord. We are built together for an habitation of God. Each believer is a temple of God, and then the believers

Page 18 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 19

are built together, and that makes the church, which is the temple of the living God, He, by His Holy Spirit, taking up His dwelling place there.

We become living stones because He is a living stone, and we are built upon Him. Other foundation can no man lay than that which is laid. "I will return, and will build again the tabernacle of David, which is fallen down; and I will build again the rains thereof, and I will set it up." He will gather again a people with which to build His church. He is at work now, preparing the stones for His temple. They are being quarried and hewn, each one to fill his place in the temple of God. When that temple is complete, the work will be done.

PREPARING THE STONES.

In Hosea we have again brought to view the figure of preparation: "O Ephraim, what shall I do unto thee? O Judah, What shall I do unto thee? for your goodness is as a morning cloud, and as the early dew it goeth away. Therefore have I hewed them by the prophets." The Lord takes us out of the quarry, rough unhewn stones. That is the beginning of our experience. Each individual is to be fitted for his particular place in the temple of God. And when the temple is fitted together, it will be without the sound of ax or hammer. That is done before. It is then that He says, "Come, ye blessed of My Father." But we are not to wait till that time to prepare. The work of preparing these rough, unhewn stones must be done before. I once visited a cemetery in which was a very beautiful statue of a man standing by a chair. It was of heroic size; and the attendant called my attention to the fact that that was all carved out of one stone. The sculptor, when he started, saw an immense stone, but he also saw the man and the chair. As he looks, he loses sight of the rough edges, and sees instead a man of heroic size, standing there perfect. Everything else must be cut away, and he goes to work with his tools. He wants the world to see what he sees, and so he cuts away everything but the man and the chair.

God takes us, rough, unlikely-looking stones; but He sees in us an expression of His character, and He looks upon us, not as rough stones, but as what we may be. Even then He sees in us Jesus Christ. And so He goes to work to cut and to polish. What is He doing? Some would think that He was destroying the whole thing. But He has a place for that stone, and He wants it cut in a particular way. These are the hard experiences of life, when it seems as if Christ would pound us to pieces. But He will not spoil His stone. He knows exactly the place it is to fill in His temple, and He is cutting it so that it will fit. The Lord carries on His work of preparing, that a people may be prepared, each one to fit in his place in the heavenly temple, and each one becomes a living stone, because of his contact with Christ, the living stone. God will develop in each one just that phase of character that will fit the best in the place He wants filled. When He comes, He says, Let the work of preparation cease. "He that is unjust, let him he unjust still; and he which is filthy, let him be filthy still; and he that is righteous, let him be righteous still; and he that is holy, let him be holy still." Rev. 22:11.

When we receive Jesus Christ, God sees in us that perfection of character which we may attain. He knows what He purposes to do with us. He gives us the character of Christ, and then looks upon that character and so "we are accepted in the Beloved." He accepts us, not for what we are, but for what He purposes to make of us and for what Christ is. He will make of each one of us a stone for His temple. The Master-builder looks at the rough stone, and sees in it His model of perfection. He accepts us, not for what we are, but for what He is.

Let us turn to another line of thought. "And He gave unto Moses, when He had made an end of communing with him upon Mount Sinai, two tables of testimony, tables of stone, written with the finger of God." Ex. 31:18. In Ex. 34:28 we are told what was written there. You will remember that when Moses came down from the mount the first time, he found that the children of Israel had broken God's commandments already, and were worshipping idols; and that when he saw them, he cast the two tables of stone down and broke them. Then God told him to prepare two more tables. You see in this the rewriting of the law. Man in the first place broke the law. God then wrote it on the tables of stone. After He had written it there to tell them in words what His character was, Jesus Christ came to interpret it in His life. Jesus Christ was the one who spoke the law on Sinai; and when He came, in human flesh, He sat upon another mount, and spoke the law over again. We have it in the sermon on the mount. It was the same law, the same Christ, the same principles, but He was opening it out. He not only opened it out in words, but He Himself was the law, the expression of God's character. He tells us what God is, not only in His word, but by being that among us. He was God manifest in the flesh. "The Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us."

Then Christ is the stone, the stone of Israel. God wrote the law perfectly and completely in the first place on the tables of stone, and gave them to the people. Then He wrote that same law upon the Living Stone and gave it to the people. Thus, you will see, Christ is the living law. That was putting the law in stone the second time. Here, then we have the law in stone twice; on the tables of stone, written with the finger of God, and on the Living Stone, Christ, and presented to the people.

Let us consider for a moment—

THE LAW WRITTEN ON THE TABLES OF STONE.

"Moreover the law entered that the offence might abound." It came to give the knowledge of sin, and to condemn sin. "The sting of death is sin, and the strength of sin is the law." Rom. 5:20; 1 Cor. 15:56. Sin is not taken into account where there is no law. Sin results in death. "Sin, when it is finished, bringeth forth death." James 1:15. The law on the tables of stone, simply as the ten words of God, condemns to death. "Death passed upon all men, for that all have sinned." Then when we meet the law simply as God's code, it means death to us. But God has put that same law upon living stone, and when we meet it written on the Living Stone, it means life to us; but it is still the same law. We must either meet the law upon the tables of stone, and be condemned and put to death by it, or we must meet it upon the Living Stone, and be made alive by it.

But we must meet it. God does not ask us whether we want to or not. What we say makes no difference. But whether we are condemned or made alive by it, it is the law of God just the same. It is our attitude toward it that makes the difference. The law in Jesus Christ is—

THE LAW OF THE SPIRIT OF LIFE.

He is the Living Stone, the Rock of Ages.

"And whosoever shall fall on this stone shall be broken; but on whomsoever it shall fall, it will grind him to powder." Matt. 21:44. One of two things must happen: We must fall on the stone, or the stone must fall on us. If we fall on the stone, we come down on top; we shall be broken, and He will heal us. If we fall the other way, the stone comes down on top, and it grinds us to powder. One of these experiences comes to every one. Shall we fall on the living stone, or shall it fall on us, and grind us to powder? We must meet the law of God out of Christ or in Christ. When we meet God out of Christ, He is a consuming fire; when we meet Him in Christ, He is our glory. We must be hidden in the Rock in order to see the glory of God without perishing. I beseech you to think most earnestly of this lesson. We must

Page 20 1895 Evangelism Page 21

be brought face to face with the law of God. When the Spirit of God brings the law before our minds, and brings conviction, it is that we may be forgiven and cleansed.

GOD'S GREAT PURPOSE

Let me call your attention to another point. God's purpose in history, in types, in shadows, in ceremonies, is to preach the gospel; and even in some of those things that seem to us the most forbidding, God is still preaching the gospel. I doubt not that in the minds of many there has been a feeling that stoning to death was a terrible punishment, and how many look to it as a way of preaching the gospel? You remember that in the days of the theocracy of God, when His law was the law of the nation, any offence against it was punished by stoning. But in this method of punishing for breaking the national law, God was preaching the gospel. If you will make a study of this, and look up each of the ten commandments, you will find that the punishment for breaking it as a national law was stoning. And how was the gospel preached in this? God was teaching the people, in this form of punishment, that the law out of Christ would stone them to death. Just as these literal stones killed them, the law in dead stone would put them to death. He was even in this way teaching them of the Living Stone, the Stone of Israel, the law in life, and that is the gospel.

"And when the tempter came to Him, he said, If thou be the Son of God,—

COMMAND THAT THESE STONES BE MADE BREAD."

Matt. 4:3. It seems as if God has put lessons for us even in the devil's mouth. Some preach Christ through envy, but nevertheless Christ is preached. "If Thou be the Son of God, command that these stones be made bread." Christ's

work on this earth was to change stones to bread, that the law which on the tables of stone condemns and kills should be changed in Him, the Living Stone, into the very bread of life. His work all through His career was to change stones into bread, put the law into the gospel, change death into life, and become the living life. He said, "I am the bread of life," and at the same time He is the Stone of Israel. The law of God, lived by Christ, becomes life, and He says the commandment is life everlasting. So while Christ refused for His own benefit to change literal stones into bread, yet His whole life was spent in changing stones into bread to satisfy the longing of hungry souls. When we receive the law of God in Christ, it has power to make us like unto Himself.

A BUILDING ALL GLORIOUS WITHIN.

This lesson of stones goes all through the Scripture. Suppose we take the lesson found in 1 Kings 6:14: "So Solomon built the house, and finished it." Remember that this house was built of stone. From the outside, all that could be seen was stone; and you know that sometimes a stone building looks rather cold and uninviting. "So Solomon built the house, and finished it. And he built the walls of the house within with boards of cedar, both the floor of the house, and the walls of the ceiling; and he covered them on the inside with wood, and covered the floor of the house with planks of fir. And he built twenty cubits on the sides of the house, both the floor and the walls with boards of cedar; he even built them for it within, even for the oracle, even for the most holy place. And the house, that is, the temple before it, was forty cubits long. And the cedar of the house within was carved with knops and open flowers: all was cedar; there was no stone seen."

"So Solomon overlaid the house within with pure gold." From the outside it was building of stone, nothing but stone. But inside there was not a stone to be seen. Stand outside of Christ, look from without at the Christian life, and all you see is two tables of stone. It seems forbidding; but come inside. You need not take down the stone to do this. Come inside, and the building is aflame with gold. It is only those who stand outside who complain that it is a hard law which they have to keep. Come inside; there are no stones to be seen inside, and yet they are not taken away. By them the building stands. Suppose you take them away, what becomes of the rest of the building?—Down it falls. Takes away the law, and the gospel comes with it. You cannot keep the pure gold of the gospel apart from the law. Come inside. There you will see nothing but pure gold.

Another thought. Just as soon as you enter a building of gold, your image will be reflected everywhere. Christ would have us reflect *His* image in the temple of the living God.

All through the Scripture mention is made of walled cities, and these walls were made of stones. Jerusalem was—

A WALLED CITY.

The wall was meant as a protection. But if a city is shut in with a wall, no matter how elaborate, if there is a flaw in it, the protection is gone. The enemy never attacks a walled city that has a breach in the wall anywhere except at the open place. You will find that this idea of the wall is made very prominent throughout the Scriptures. We will notice it in Nehemiah. He was sorry because the city of his fathers lay waste, and the wall was tom down; and he proposed to go up and rebuild the city and the wall. "But it came to pass," he says in his record, "that when Sanballat heard that we builded the wall, he was wroth, and took great indignation, and mocked the Jews. And he spake before his brethren and the army of Samaria, and said, What do these feeble Jews? Will they fortify themselves? Will they sacrifice? Will they make an end in a day? Will they revive the

stones out of the heaps of the rubbish which are burned?" Nell. 4:1, 2. What do they think they are going to do? The stones are buried. Do these feeble Jews think that they are going to recover them? "Now Tobiah the Ammonite was by him, and he said, Even that which they build, if a fox go up, he shall even break down their stone wall. Hear, O our God, for we are despised; and turn their reproach upon their own head, and give them for a prey in the land of captivity, and cover not their iniquity, and let not their sin be blotted out from before Thee; for they have provoked Thee to anger before the builders. So built we the wall; and all the wall was joined together unto the half thereof; for the people had a mind to work."

GOD'S WALL FOR HIS PEOPLE.

We read in Mark that a certain man planted a vineyard and set a hedge about it. What was the hedge for?—Protection. The Lord brought up His vine out of Egypt, and set it anew, and built a hedge about it. That is the purpose of a wall to protect and keep out the enemy; but the wall must be complete. God has built a wall for His people. The law is this protection, but in order to be a complete protection, it must be a complete wall. Our safety is in having a complete wall; but they have broken down the wall sadly. It is God's purpose to have it built again. "Is not this the fast that I have chosen," He says, "to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that ye break every yoke? Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor that are cast out to thy house? When thou seest the naked, that thou cover him, and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh? Then shall thy light break forth as the morning, and thine health shall spring forth speedily; and thy righteousness shall go before thee; the glory of the Lord shall by thy rereward. Then shalt thou call, and the Lord shall answer; thou shalt cry, and He shall say, Here I am. If thou take away from the midst

Page 22 1895 Evangelism Page 23

of thee the yoke, the putting forth of the finger, and speaking vanity; and if thou draw out thy soul to the hungry, and satisfy the afflicted soul; then shall thy light rise in obscurity, and thy darkness be as the noonday: and the Lord shall guide thee continually, and satisfy thy soul in drought, and make fat thy bones: and thou shalt be like a watered garden, and like a spring of water, whose waters fail not. And they that shall be of thee shall build the old waste places: thou shalt raise up the foundations of many generations; and thou shalt be called, The repairer of the breach, The restorer of paths to dwell in. If thou turn away thy foot from the Sabbath, from doing thy pleasure on my holy day; and call the Sabbath a delight, the holy of the LORD, honourable; and shalt honour him, not doing thine own ways, nor finding thine own pleasure, nor speaking thine own words: then shalt thou delight thyself in the LORD; and I will cause thee to ride upon the high places of the earth, and feed thee with the heritage of Jacob thy father: for the mouth of the LORD hath spoken it." Isa. 58:6-14.

A BREACH TO BE REPAIRED.

There has been a breach made in the wall God would set about His people. It is to be repaired, and God's people are to be hedged in with a perfect law, every commandment is to be restored. And "they shall be called, The repairer of the breach." Every man builds over against his own house. Are *you* building over against your house in repairing the breach? If so, the wall will be built again, even in troublous times.

This is only a mere hint of what is contained in the Scripture about stones. God would have us keep His words in mind, that we may live in them, and that above all, and in all, and through all, we shall see Jesus Christ, the Stone of Israel, the Rock of Ages.

C. Oct. 23, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting

Talk, "The Kingdom of God; or The Great Controversy Between Good and Evil," The Bible Echo, Feb. 17 & 24, 1896.

THE KINGDOM OF GOD; OR THE GREAT CONTROVERSY BETWEEN GOOD AND EVIL

"Thy kingdom come, Thy will be done in earth, as it in heaven." Matt. 6:10.

It may help us to understand more clearly our own relation to God, and what the service of God means—what religion really is—if we study the fact that the cross of Jesus Christ has to do with more than this earth. We take altogether too limited a view of God's plan of salvation if we confine its working simply to this world of ours.

In this petition the contrast is drawn between heaven and earth, and the prayer is that the will of God may be done on earth as it is done in heaven. The fact that God's will reigns supreme there, makes heaven what it is; and because God's will is not done here, makes this world what it is.

THE UNIVERSE INTERESTED IN THE PLAN OF SALVATION.

Let us first notice two or three scriptures which will call our attention to the thought that heaven has been affected, and is still affected, by God's plan of salvation. Sin has affected more than this world, and more than this world depends upon God's plan of salvation. In his epistle to the Ephesians, Paul says, "Having made known unto us the mystery of His will, according to His good pleasure which He hath purposed in Himself: That in the dispensation of the fulness of times, He might gather together in one all things in Christ, both which are in heaven and which are on earth; even in Him." Eph. 1:9, 10. "For it pleased the Father that in Him should all fulness dwell; and, having made peace through the blood of His cross, by Him to reconcile all things unto Himself; by Him, I say, whether they be things in earth, or things in heaven." Col. 1:19, 20.

It may seem at first thought somewhat strange that there should be anything in heaven needing to be reconciled by the blood of His cross, but so it says. God's plan of salvation extends further than reconciling those that are on the earth. There is something to be reconciled that has to do with things in heaven.

REBELLION IN HEAVEN.

In the Revelation John says, "And there was war in heaven." We are accustomed to the idea that this earth only has been in a state of rebellion; but this scripture says that there was war in heaven. "Michael and His angels fought against the dragon, and the dragon fought and his angels, and prevailed not; neither was their place found any more in heaven. And the dragon was cast out, that old serpent, called the Devil and Satan, which deceiveth the whole world: he was cast out into the earth, and his angels were cast out with him. And I heard a loud voice saying in heaven, Now is come salvation and strength, and the kingdom of our God and the power of His Christ; for the accuser of our brethren is cast down, which accused them before our God day and night."

"Michael and His angels fought." Michael is Christ. Three very simple scriptures will show us that. "Yet Michael the archangel, when contending with the devil, He disputed about the body of Moses, durst not bring against him a railing accusation, but said, The Lord rebuke thee." Jude 9. There we find that Michael is spoken of as the archangel. And in Thessalonians Paul says, "For the Lord Himself shall descend from heaven with a shout, with the voice of the archangel." 1 Thess. 4:16. The Lord Himself shall descend with the voice of the archangel. But we read in John 5:25, "Verily, verily, I say unto you, The hour is coming and now is, when the dead shall hear the voice of the Son of God, ... and shall come forth." Michael

is the archangel; the Lord will descend with the voice of the archangel; and it is the Lord's voice that calls the dead from their tombs.

"And the dragon was cast out, that old serpent." Not in the sense that we use the expression—that old serpent himself—but that ancient serpent, that one that caused the trouble in Eden. There was war in heaven, and the old serpent, the one that caused trouble in Eden, and is still causing trouble here, raised the rebellion, led in the fight, and was cast down to the earth.

Is there any way by which we can tell

WHAT CAUSED THE TROUBLE IN HEAVEN?

I think we can tell very easily by reading the experience of Christ with Satan when He was here on this earth. "Therefore when they were gathered together Pilate said unto them, Whom will ye that I release unto you? Barabbas, or Jesus which is called Christ? For he knew that for envy they had delivered Him." Matt. 27:17, 18. It was envy on the part of Satan against Christ that caused the war in heaven in the first place, and those who are opposed to Christ will have the same disposition today. Speaking of the experience of those who had been converted, and of what they had been before that, Paul says, "For we ourselves also were sometimes foolish, disobedient, deceived, serving divers lusts and pleasures, living in malice and envy, hateful and hating one another." Titus 3:3. Envy is characteristic of the natural heart, as we see from Rom. 1:29: "Being filled with all unrighteousness, fornication, wickedness, covetousness, maliciousness; full of envy." It was envy that set up the opposition to Christ when He was here in the flesh,—simply the carrying forward of that same feeling that set up the strife in heaven. What is envy?—The desire of one to occupy a higher position than he does, a feeling of great self-worthiness. Love never feels like that; "love envieth not."

The Scripture points out very clearly that it

Page 24 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 25

was a feeling of envy on the part of Satan that led to all the trouble in heaven. "How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! how art thou cut down to the ground, which didst weaken the nations? For thou hast said in thine heart," notice the next five statements, and see how everyone of them begins, "I will ascend into heaven, I will exalt my throne above the stars of God: I will sit also upon the mount of the congregation, in the sides of the north: I will ascend above the heights of the clouds; I will be like the Most High." Isa. 14:12-14. Ezekiel also speaks of Satan, "Thus saith the Lord God, Thou sealest up the sum, full of wisdom and perfect in beauty. Thou hast been in Eden, the garden of God; every precious stone was thy covering, the sardius, topaz, and the diamond, the beryl, the onyx, and the jasper, the sapphire, the emerald, and the carbuncle, and gold; the workmanship of thy tabrets and of thy pipes was prepared in thee in the day that thou wast created. Thou art the anointed cherub that covereth; and I have set thee so; thou wast upon the holy mountain of God; thou hast walked up and down in the midst of the stones of fire. Thou wast perfect in thy ways from the day that thou wast created, till iniquity was found in thee. By the multitude of thy merchandise they have filled the midst of thee with violence, and thou hast sinned; therefore I will cast thee as profane out of the mountain of God; and I will destroy thee, O covering cherub, from the midst of the stones of fire. Thine heart was lifted up because of thy beauty, thou hast corrupted thy wisdom by reason of thy brightness; I will cast thee to the ground, I will lay thee before kings, that they may behold thee." Eze. 28:12-17. From these scriptures you will see that it was a feeling of envy on the part of Satan that led to the difficulty in heaven.

Christ was begotten, not created; Satan was created, not begotten. As the only begotten Son, Christ could enter fully into the councils of God. Because he could not do this as Christ did, envy sprang up in the heart of Satan, and he began to

determine, I will exalt myself. He began to stir up rebellion, to say, God is arbitrary, and he began also to get his sympathisers. "We are in slavery, and I have a better plan of government. Choose me as leader, exalt me, and then I will exalt you." Do you not see the same principle that has been in the world ever since the fall? You exalt me and I will exalt you,—perhaps.

SATAN'S DISAFFECTION.

Satan succeeded in getting enough followers to make a rebellion in heaven. Being cast out there he determined to set up his kingdom in this earth, and show to the universe that he could run a government. Gradually he would extend this government till he took away from God the dominion, and then "he would be like the Most High;" he would be God.

He started in just the same way that he started in heaven, by creating dissatisfaction. He said to the woman, "God knows that in the day you eat of the tree of knowledge, you will be as gods. The reason He gave why you should not eat of the tree, is not true. He told you that you would die, but that is not so. The fact is, that when you eat of the tree, you will be like Him. He does not want that, so He is keeping you down. If you listen to me and eat, you will be as gods." And they tried it. In doing that Adam proved false to God, and passed everything into the hands of Satan.

ADAM AND HIS DOMINION.

Adam was in a special sense the son of God. "Which was the son of Enos, which was the son of Seth, which was the son of Adam, which was the son of God." Luke 3:38. He was a son of God in a different sense from what we are. The Scripture says, "Beloved now are we the sons of God." But we are the sons of God by re-creation; Adam was the son of God by creation in the first place. He was set here to have dominion over this part of the

universe as God's representative. "And God said, Let us make man in our image, after our likeness; and let him have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over the cattle, and over every creeping thing that creepeth upon the earth." God made Adam His premier, and placed the dominion in his hands, recognising him as His representative in this earth.

THE DOMINION USURPED BY FRAUD.

The devil, cast out of heaven by this war, comes to the earth, and by misrepresentation induces Adam, Christ's representative, to hand over to him the dominion of this earth. He takes possession of it by lying and fraud; and determines to carry out here what he failed to do in heaven. This is recognised in the Scripture. Christ said, "Hereafter I will not talk much with you; for the prince of this world cometh, and hath nothing in Me." John 14:30 "In whom the god of this world hath blinded the minds of them which believe not." 2 Cor. 4:4. Satan refers to this fact in the temptation of Christ in the wilderness. "And the devil, taking Him up into an high mountain, showed unto Him all the kingdoms of the world in a moment of time. And the devil said unto Him, All this power will I give Thee, and the glory of them; for that is delivered unto me, and to whomsoever I will I give it. If Thou therefore wilt worship me, all shall be Thine." Luke 4:4-7. He got possession of this world, and set up his kingdom, and today he says, "I am king."

ON WHICH SIDE ARE WE?

And whose are we? And with whom are we sympathising in this government of the earth? From this standpoint, religion resolves itself into this question, Shall I be loyal to God in this great controversy that began in heaven and is now transferred to this earth, or shall I serve Satan? Whose subject shall I be in this great controversy?

NATURE OF THE TWO KINGDOMS.

Satan set up his kingdom by fraud and usurpation, and he maintains it by force. Those are his characteristics. But God is love. His kingdom is founded upon love, and the only power He uses in His kingdom, is the power of love.

The charge Satan brought against God was that He was arbitrary, determined to have His own way, and did not love His people. He promised, if the angels would follow him, to set up a better kingdom. Now it remains for this pledge to work out. While God can see the end from the beginning, created beings cannot; and had He at the first crushed out the rebellion by force; had He suppressed it by mere force, there would still have been in the minds of created beings a question of God's justice. So God lets Satan work out his plan, that all the universe may see the contrast between Satan's plan and God's plan. And

THIS WORLD IS THE THEATRE

on which a drama is being enacted which is commanding the attention of the universe. We are called to be actors in this drama. The question to be worked out is, Which plan of government is the better, Satan's or God's? To which one will God's created beings give their allegiance? When God sends out His servants, what is their work? "Delivering thee from the people and from the Gentiles unto whom now I send thee. To open their eyes and to turn them from darkness to light, and from the power of Satan unto God, that they may receive forgiveness of sins." Acts 26:17, 18. The question is one of loyalty to God. This may help you to see the meaning of some things which have possibly been doubtful to you.

THE CASE OF JOB.

The case of Job is a remarkable one, and has probably been in the mind of every one who has ever had the Bible in their hands. Turn with me

Page 26 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 27

to the first chapter of the book of Job and follow his case with this idea in view. "There came a day when the sons of God came to present themselves before the Lord, and Satan came also among them." What right had he to be there? These sons of God were God's representatives in the different parts of the universe. Adam was a son of God, and he was put on this earth to have dominion under God over it. But he betrayed his dominion, and Satan stepped in and took his place, and so, when a council was called for the representatives of God to come together to counsel about their territory, Satan came also. The roll was called, and Earth answered, Here. But it was Satan, not Adam, who answered. "And the Lord said unto Satan, Whence comest thou? Then Satan answered the Lord and said, From going to and fro in the earth, and from walking up and down in it." "Be sober, be vigilant; because your adversary the devil, as a roaring lion, walketh about, seeking whom he may devour." 1 Pet. 5:8. The Son of man came not to destroy men's lives but to save them. He went about doing good.

"And the Lord said unto Satan, Hast thou considered my servant Job, that there is none like him in the earth, a perfect and an upright man, one that feareth God and escheweth evil?" "Then Satan answered the Lord and said, Doth Job fear God for naught? Hast Thou not made an hedge about him and about his house, and about all that he hath on every side? Thou hast blessed the work of his hands, and his substance is increased in the land. But put forth Thine hand now, and touch all that he hath, and he will curse Thee to Thy face." These are the very characteristics of Satan.

Do you see, the Lord says to Satan, "My servant Job, although he is in your territory, yet he remains loyal to Me." "Oh yes," says Satan, "but that does not prove anything. Anyone would do that for the regard that you show him. It is not love that binds Job to you. He is serving you for his reward. Anybody would do it." Do you see the complaint there? "You have put a hedge round him. Unfair. He is

in my dominion. I should think anybody would be loyal to you on those grounds." And that was said in a council in which there were representatives from all the universe. He there made the same charge that he made in heaven. And instead of deciding the matter there in an arbitrary way, the Lord said, "Behold all that he hath is in thy power, only upon himself put not forth thine hand." You know how it went. One after another his possessions were taken from him, and last of all his children were slain, and he was left perfectly alone. Then he was advised to give up everything. "But in all this Job sinned not, nor charged God foolishly."

SATAN AGAIN BEFORE GOD.

"Again there was a day when the sons of God came to present themselves before the Lord, and Satan came also among them, to present himself before the Lord. And the Lord said unto Satan, From whence comest thou? And Satan answered the Lord, and said, From going to and fro in the earth, and from walking up and down in it. And the Lord said unto Satan, Hast thou considered My servant Job, that there is none like him in the earth, a perfect and an upright man, one that feareth God and escheweth evil? and still he holdeth fast his integrity, although thou movedst Me against him to destroy him without cause?" One would think that that would settle the controversy, but you never can settle anything with the right argument with Satan. "And Satan answered the Lord and said, Skin for skin, yea, all that a man hath will he give for his life. But put forth thine hand now, and touch his bone and his flesh, and he will curse Thee to Thy face." "And the Lord said unto Satan, Behold he is in thy hand; but save his life."

JOB'S INTEGRITY.

And you remember the experience of Job after this, how his wife urged him to curse God and die. But still he would not yield. "Though He

slay me," he said, "yet will I trust in Him." "As God liveth, who hath taken away my judgment; and the Almighty who hath vexed my soul; all the while my breath is in me, and the Spirit of God is in my nostrils; my lips shall not speak wickedness, nor my tongue utter deceit. God forbid that I should justify you; till I die I will not remove mine integrity from me." Job 27:2-5.

THE LESSON.

And what did it mean? Here was a demonstration,—not simply to the few that might know of Job's case, nor to all those merely that should read of his experience, but before the whole universe,—that God's power of love was sufficient to hold a man in his integrity. Though his possessions, his children, his all was gone, yet the love that God had to him, and the love that had sprung up in his heart to God, were sufficient to hold him, so that he said, "I will not give up my loyalty though I die." Job was working out before the universe how much power there was in the love of God.

Many times we have experiences that we do not and cannot understand. Why this affliction? why this loss? why this trouble? Do you not see that Job was before the Universe as a man that could be trusted to reveal the power of God's love to hold him firm in his confidence, demonstrating that there is a power in God's love sufficient to stand against trial?

Did you ever wonder why it was that such a man as John the Baptist should end his life is he did. A great prophet, and yet he ended his life shut up in a prison. His head was cut off and his headless trunk buried by his disciples, and "they went and told Jesus." What did that mean to Jesus?—It meant to Him and to all the on-looking universe, There is a man faithful unto death. "Be thou faithful unto death, and I will give thee a crown of life." The pages of history are covered with examples such as this. The martyrs of all

ages have testified to the power of God's love. And remember that martyrs may be found in very humble homes. It is not always in the noblest palaces that the most heroic deeds are done. God and His universe look on and see these witnesses to His love, see that they are not turned away from their integrity by the sophistries and machinations of Satan, but are faithful unto death.

THE GIFT OF CHRIST GIVES THE LIE TO SATAN'S CHARGES.

In the experience of Christ Himself on this earth we have an example of the working out of God's plan of government. The charge Satan brought in the beginning was that God was arbitrary, determined to have His own way, that He did not love any one. And when Satan had turned man aside from the way of truth, and was holding him in slavery, yet "God so loved the world that He gave His only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth on Him should not perish but have everlasting life." And by the gift of His Son God proved that there was love in His government, and that by love He desired to have His will done. In the love He had toward His created beings He gave His only begotten Son to make it possible that His will should be done on the earth. Christ came to this earth to work out this plan, that man might be loyal to God if he chose.

Then you see that when Christ came, it was

THE CLIMAX OF THE CONTROVERSY

between Him and Satan. If Satan shall be in any way able to turn Christ, the second Adam, the representative of the human race starting out again, aside; if he can by any means overcome Him, he will triumph and establish his kingdom here. So upon Christ was brought to bear every possible temptation, and all the power of malignity that had been working in Satan for thousands

Page 28 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 29

of years. And to effect his purpose he followed Christ every step of the way from the manger to the cross. He was determined that Christ should not remain loyal to God while in his dominion. When it came to the cross of Christ's experience, Satan instigated on the part of man everything that his malignity could devise. He urged them on to overcome His human nature, that he might make Him swerve from the path of loyalty. He tried to bribe him. "Acknowledge my right to the kingdom of the earth," he said, "and I will give you all these kingdoms." But this Christ could not do; for it was the very point of the controversy.

We come to the climax of the struggle in the death of Christ. Satan's charge had been that God's government was arbitrary and hard, and that he would give his subjects a better government. The universe looked on to see it worked out. The curse of disobedience rested on the earth, but Christ came to redeem it, "being made a curse for us." Satan had urged on the Jews till they took His life, and thus Satan became the murderer of the Son of God. By His gift to the world God showed that He did desire His will the law of love and filial obedience—to be done on earth as it is done in heaven, and in order to make it possible He was willing to give His only begotten Son to die. Satan showed that he wanted his own way badly enough that he was willing to become the murderer of the Son of God.

All this was enacted before the universe, and how did it effect it?

GOD'S GOVERNMENT VINDICATED BEFORE THE UNIVERSE.

"And there were certain Greeks among them that came up to worship at the feast; the same came therefore to Philip, which was of Bethsaida of Galilee, and desired him, saying, Sir, we would see Jesus. Philip cometh and telleth Andrew; and again Andrew and Philip tell Jesus. And Jesus answered them, saying, The hour is come, that the Son of man should be glorified. ... Now is the judgment of this world; now shall the prince of this world be cast out. And I, if I be lifted up from the earth, will draw *all* unto Me." John 12:20-32. And Jesus Christ, lifted up between heaven and earth on the cross, did draw both heaven and earth to Him. *Through death* He destroyed him that had the power of death, that is, the devil. It is not often a king gains his kingdom by dying, but Jesus Christ won both His kingdom and His subjects by dying, and He destroyed His enemy by death.

THE CROSS SEALED SATAN'S FATE.

"Now shall the prince of this world be cast out. And I, if I be lifted up from the earth, will draw all unto Me." When He was lifted up on the cross, and when He said, "It is finished," and gave up the ghost, all heaven heard; and wherever throughout the universe there had still been in minds thoughts of rebellion and lingering sympathy for Satan, that scene on the cross showed them that Satan's government meant that nothing should stand in his way, and that to effect his purpose he was even ready to murder the Son of God. Thus they were drawn to God by His great love. Then the fate of Satan was sealed; he was cast out, and it was demonstrated that God is love, that He was governing by the power of love.

CONCLUDING THOUGHTS.

And think you that if Satan would not hesitate to take the life of the Son of God that he will hesitate to take your life? Think you that his plan of government is any better now? Do you not see that it is loyalty to God or to Satan? Do you not see that we have either to put ourselves under Satan's leadership and fight against Christ, or to put ourselves under the leadership of Christ to fight against Satan? Which side are *you* on? Which side are *you* choosing tonight? "Ye are a spectacle to

the world, to angels, and to men." Who has your name enrolled in his book. Are you enrolled as fighting under the blood-stained banner of the Lamb, as a loyal subject of God; or as fighting under the black banner of Satan, against the government of God?

This question of the two kingdoms is going on till Christ shall come the second time to take His kingdom. We are very near that time now. All one has to do is to read the Scripture and the signs of the times to know that it is near. Little argument is needed to show any one who will read the Scripture and the signs of the times that the day of the Lord's coming is near and hasteth greatly. The controversy is in its height. Tremendous power is being brought to bear to hold subjects in the kingdom of Satan. He is bringing upon people every devise to hold them in the bonds of sin; to take their minds away from the realisation of the near coming of Christ, and fill them with pleasure and self-seeking. But Christ is at work in the earth, and is today selecting those who will be loyal to Him. And what does it mean to be loyal to Him?—It means to

OBEY THE LAWS OF THE REALM.

Christ has proclaimed the conditions of membership into His kingdom. He has sent His servants throughout the world, saying, "Go ye therefore, and teach all nations, baptising them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: teaching them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded you." Matt. 28:19, 20. Today they are preaching that the coming of His kingdom is near; and they are gathering out those who will be loyal to God.

It costs something to be loyal to God now. It cost Job something; but there is a power in the love of Jesus Christ to hold; there is something in His love that will satisfy every longing soul, and fill with fatness all who will come to Him. The call is now, "Come out from among them, and be ye separate."

The two kingdoms cannot be joined together. And yet there has seemed to be a tendency to try to make them run together. You cannot do it. They are perfectly opposed to each other; light and darkness will not mix. Love and hate are opposite characteristics, and will not co-mingle. At the crucifixion the cross of Jesus Christ made a separation between the repentant and the unrepentant, and today it makes the same division. And God is now sending forth

A SPECIAL MESSAGE

for loyalty to His law. He calls upon every one now who will, to yield himself to obey the laws of His realm; and more than that, He has set up in this last generation a wonderful sign of loyalty. There is a special call to that portion of His law which has been set aside. "Hallow My Sabbaths." "They shall be a sign between Me and you that ye may know that I am the Lord your God." Eze. 20:20. In this generation the Lord has set up His Sabbath as a special sign that He created the heavens and the earth through Jesus Christ. "In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God, and the Word was God. The same was in the beginning with God. All things were made by Him, and without Him was not anything made that was made!" John 1:1-3.

The Sabbath is set up as a special sign of loyalty to God, of obedience to His laws, and of our belief in the creating power and the divinity of Jesus Christ our Lord. Shall we choose Him as our Lord, and step from the kingdom of darkness into the kingdom of light? He is coming soon, and when He comes, He whose right it is to reign will reign. He has redeemed the earth, and He will save when He comes every one who has been obedient to His laws and has identified himself with Christ as leader.

"And I saw heaven opened, and behold a white horse, and He that sat upon him was called Faithful and True, and in righteousness He doth

Page 30 1895 Evangelism Page 31

judge and make war. His eyes were as a flame of fire, and on His head were many crowns; and He had a name written that no man knew but He Himself. And He was clothed with a vesture dipped in blood, and His name is called the Word of God. And the armies which were in heaven followed Him upon white horses, clothed in fine linen, white and clean. And out of His mouth goeth a sharp sword, that with it He should smite the nations and He shall rule them with a rod of iron and He treadeth the winepress of the fierceness and wrath of Almighty God. And He hath on His vesture and on His thigh a name written, King of kings, and Lord of lords." Rev. 19:11-16. Is He our King and our Lord? Those who recognise Him now as King of kings and Lord of lords, will be prepared, when He is revealed, to say, "Lo, this is our God; we have waited for Him, and He will save us; this is the Lord; we have waited for Him, we will be glad and rejoice in His salvation." Isa. 25:9.

D. Oct. 31, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "The Word Became Flesh," *The Bible Echo*, Jan. 6 & 13, 1896.

THE WORD BECAME FLESH

"In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God, and the Word was God." "And the Word was made flesh, and dwelt among us." The Revised Version says, "The Word became flesh."

The theme of redemption will be the science and the song of the eternal ages, and well may it occupy our minds during our short stay here. There is no portion of this great theme that makes such a demand upon our minds in order to appreciate it in any degree, as the subject we shall study tonight,—"The Word became flesh, and dwelt among us." Through Him all things became; now He Himself *became*. He who had all glory with the Father, now lays aside His glory and becomes flesh. He lays aside His divine mode

of existence, and takes the human mode of existence, and God becomes manifest in the flesh. This truth is the very foundation of all truth.

A HELPFUL TRUTH.

And Jesus Christ becoming flesh. God being manifest in the flesh, is one of the most helpful truths, one of the most instructive truths, the truth above all truths, which humanity ought to rejoice in.

I desire this evening to study this question for our personal, present benefit. Let us command our minds to the utmost, because to comprehend that the Word became flesh and dwelt among us, demands all our mental powers. Let us consider, first, what kind of flesh; for this is the very foundation of this question as it relates to us personally. "Forasmuch then as the children are partakers of flesh and blood, He also Himself likewise took part of the same; that through death He might destroy him that had the power of death, that is, the devil; and deliver them who through fear of death were all their lifetime subject to bondage. For verily He took not on Him the nature of angels; but He took on Him the seed of Abraham. Wherefore in all things it behooved Him to be made like unto His brethren, that He might be a merciful and faithful high priest in things pertaining to God, to make reconciliation for the sins of the people. For in that He Himself hath suffered, being tempted, He is able to succour them that are tempted." Heb. 2:14-18. That through death, being made subject to death, taking upon Him the flesh of sin, He might, by His dying, destroy him that had the power of death.

"Verily He took not on Him the nature of angels; but He took on Him the seed of Abraham." The margin says, "He taketh not hold of angels, but of the seed of Abraham He taketh hold;" and one version reads, "He helps not angels." We see the reason from the next verse: "Wherefore in all things it behoved Him to be made like

unto His brethren, that He might be a merciful and faithful high priest, in things pertaining to God." "Now to Abraham and his seed were the promises made. He saith not, And to seeds, as of many; but as of one, and to thy seed, which is Christ." Gal. 3:16. Now verily, He helps the seed of Abraham by Himself becoming the seed of Abraham. God, sending His own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh, and for sin, condemned sin in the flesh; that the righteousness of the law might be revealed in us, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit.

So you see that what the Scripture states very plainly is that Jesus Christ had exactly the same flesh that we bear,—flesh of sin, flesh in which we sin, flesh, however, in which He did not sin, but He bore our sins in that flesh of sin. Do not set this point aside. No matter how you may have looked at it in the past, look at it now as it is in the word; and the more you look at it in that way, the more reason you will have to thank God that it is so.

ADAM'S SIN TYPICAL.

What was the situation?—Adam had sinned, and Adam being the head of the human family, his sin was a typical sin. God made Adam in His own image, but by sin he lost that image. Then he begat sons and daughters, but he begat them in his image, not in God's. And so we have descended in the line, but all after his image.

For four thousand years this went on, and then Jesus Christ came, of flesh, and in the flesh, born of a woman, made under the law; born of the Spirit, but in the flesh. And what flesh could He take but the flesh of the time? Not only that, but it was the very flesh He designed to take; because you see, the problem was to help man out of the difficulty into which he had fallen, and man is a free moral agent. He must be helped as a free moral agent. Christ's work must be, not to destroy him, not to create a new race, but to re-create man, to restore in him the image of God. "We

see Jesus, who was made a little lower than the angels for the suffering of death, crowned with glory and honour; that He by the grace of God should taste death for every man." Heb. 2:9.

AN UNDONE, HELPLESS RACE.

God made man a little lower than the angels, but man fell much lower by his sin. Now he is far separated from God; but he is to be brought back again. Jesus Christ came for that work; and in order to do it, He came, not where man was before He fell, but where man was after he fell. This is the lesson of Jacob's ladder. It rested on the earth where Jacob was, but the topmost round reached to heaven. When Christ comes to help man out of the pit, He does not come to the edge of the pit and look over, and say, Come up here, and I will help you back. If man could help himself up to the point from whence he has fallen, he could do all the rest. If he could help himself one step, he could help himself all the way; but it is because man is utterly ruined, weak, and wounded and broken to pieces, in fact, perfectly helpless, that Jesus Christ comes right down where He is, and meets him there. He takes his flesh and He becomes a brother to him. Jesus Christ is a brother to us in the flesh: He was born into the family.

"For God so loved the world, that He gave His only begotten Son." He had only one Son, and He gave Him away. And to whom did He give Him? "Unto *us* a child is born,

UNTO US A SON IS GIVEN."

Isa. 9:6. Sin has made a change even in heaven; for Jesus Christ, because of sin, has taken upon Himself humanity, and today He wears that humanity, and will through all eternity. Jesus Christ became the Son of man as well as the Son of God. He was born into our family. He did not come as an angelic being, but was born into the family, and grew up in it; He was a child, a youth, a young

Page 32 1895 Evangelism Page 33

man, a man in the full prime of life, in our family. He is the Son of man, related to us, bearing the flesh that we bear.

Adam was the representative of the family; therefore his sin was a representative sin. When Jesus Christ came, He came to take the place in which Adam had failed. "And so it is written, The first man Adam was made a living soul; the last Adam was made a quickening spirit." 1 Cor. 15:45. The second Adam is the man Christ Jesus, and He came down to unite the human family with the divine family. God is spoken of as the Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, of whom the whole family in heaven and earth is named. Jesus Christ, the Son of the living God, came Himself to this part of the family, that He might win it back again, that there might be a

REUNITED FAMILY IN THE KINGDOM OF GOD.

He came and took the flesh of sin that this family had brought upon itself by sin, and wrought out salvation for them, condemning sin in the flesh.

Adam failed in his place, and by the offence of one many were made sinners. Jesus Christ gave Himself, not only for us, but to us, uniting Himself to the family, in order that He might take the place of the first Adam, and as head of the family win back what was lost by the first Adam. The righteousness of Jesus Christ is a representative righteousness, just as the sin of Adam was a representative sin, and Jesus Christ, as the second Adam, gathered to Himself the whole family.

But since the first Adam took his place, there has been a change, and humanity is sinful humanity. The power of righteousness has been lost. To redeem man from the place unto which he had fallen, Jesus Christ comes, and takes the very flesh now borne by humanity; He comes in sinful flesh, and takes the case where Adam tried it and failed. He became, not a man, but He became flesh; He became human, and gathered all humanity unto Himself, embraced

it in His own infinite mind, and stood as the representative of the whole human family.

Adam was tempted at the very first on the question of appetite. Christ came, and after a forty days' fast the devil tempted Him to use His divine power to feed Himself. And notice, it was in sinful flesh that He was tempted, not the flesh in which Adam fell. This is wondrous truth, but I am wondrous glad that it is so. It follows at once that by birth, by being born into the same family, Jesus Christ is my brother in the flesh, "for which cause He is not ashamed to call them brethren." Heb. 2:11. He has come into the family, identified Himself with the family, is both father of the family and brother of the family. As father of the family, He stands for the family. He came to redeem the family, condemning sin in the flesh, uniting divinity with flesh of sin. Jesus Christ made the connection between God and man, that the divine spirit might rest upon humanity. He made the way for humanity.

HE HATH BORNE OUR GRIEFS.

And He came right near to us. He is not one step away from one of us. He "was made in the likeness of men." Phil. 2:7. He is now made in the likeness of man, and at the same time He holds His divinity; He is the divine Son of God. And so, by His divinity joining itself to humanity, He will restore man to the likeness of God. Jesus Christ, in taking the place of Adam, took our flesh. He took our place completely, in order that we might take His place. He took our place with all its consequences, and that meant death, in order that we might take His place with all its consequences, and that is life eternal. "For He hath made Him to be sin for us, who knew no sin, that we might be made the righteousness of God in Him." 2 Cor. 5:21. He was not a sinner; but He invited God to treat Him as if He were a sinner, in order that we, who were sinners, might be treated as if we were righteous. "Surely He hath borne our griefs and carried our sorrows; yet we did esteem Him stricken, smitten

of God, and afflicted." Isa. 53:4. The sorrows that He bore were our sorrows, and it is actually true that He did so identify Himself with our human nature as to bear in Himself all the sorrows and all the griefs of all the human family. "He was wounded for our transgressions, He was bruised for our iniquities; the chastisement of our peace was upon Him, and with His stripes we are healed." What was bruising to Him was healing to us, and He was bruised in order that we might be healed. "All we like sheep have gone astray; we have turned every one to his own way; and the Lord hath laid on Him the iniquity of us all." Isa. 53:6. And then He died because on Him was laid the iniquity of us all. There was no sin in Him, but the sins of the whole world were laid on Him. Behold the Lamb of God, which heareth the sins of the whole world. "And He is the propitiation for our sins; and not for ours only, but also for the sins of the whole world." 1 John 2:2.

THE PRICE PAID FOR EVERY SOUL.

I want your minds to grasp the truth, that, no matter whether a man repents or not, yet Christ has borne his griefs, his sins, his sorrows, and he is invited to lay them on Christ. If every sinner in this world should repent with all his soul, and turn to Christ, the price has been paid. Jesus did not wait for us to repent before He died for us. "While we were yet sinners, Christ died for us." "Herein is love, not that we loved God, but that He loved us, and sent His Son to be the propitiation for our sins." Christ has died in behalf of every single soul here; He has borne their grief and carried their sorrow; He simply asks us to lay them on Him, and let Him bear them.

CHRIST OUR RIGHTEOUSNESS.

Furthermore; every one of us was represented in Jesus Christ when the Word was made flesh and dwelt among us. We were all there in Jesus

Christ. We were all represented in Adam after the flesh; and when Christ came as the second Adam, He stepped into the place of the first Adam, and thus we are all represented in Him, He invites us to step into the spiritual family. He has formed this new family, of which He is the head. He is the new man. In Him we have the union of the divine and the human.

In that new family, every one of us is represented. "And as I may so say, Levi so, who receiveth tithes, paid tithes in Abraham. For he was yet in the loins of his father, when Melchisedec met him." When Melchisedec went out to meet Abraham returning from the spoil, Abraham paid to him a tenth of all. Levi was still in the loins of his father Abraham; but inasmuch as he was a descendant of Abraham, what Abraham did, the Scripture says that Levi did in Abraham. Levi descended from Abraham according to the flesh. He had not been born when Abraham paid tithe; but in that Abraham paid tithe, he paid tithe also. It is exactly so in this spiritual family. What Christ did as head of this new family, we did in Him. He was our representative; He became flesh; He became we. He did not become simply a man, but He became flesh, and every one that should be born into His family was represented in Jesus Christ when He lived here in the flesh. You see, then, that all that Christ did, every one who connects himself with this family is given credit for as doing it in Christ. Christ was not a representative outside him, disconnected from him; but as Levi paid tithe in Abraham, every one who should afterwards be born into this spiritual family, did what Christ did.

THE NEW BIRTH.

See what this means with reference to vicarious suffering. It was not that Jesus Christ came from outside, and simply stepped into our place as an outsider; but by joining Himself to us by birth, all humanity was brought together in the divine head, Jesus Christ. He suffered on

Page 34 1895 Evangelism Page 35

the cross. Then it was the whole family in Jesus Christ that was crucified. "For the love of Christ constraineth us; because we thus judge, that if one died for all, then were all dead," or as the Revised Version says, "All died." 2 Cor. 5:

14. What we want in our experience is to enter into the fact that we did die in Him. But while it is true that Jesus Christ paid the whole price, bore every grief, was humanity itself, yet it is also true that no man receives benefit from that except he receives Christ, except he is born again. Only those who are twice born can enter into the kingdom of God. Those who are born in the flesh, must be born again, born of the Spirit, in order that what Jesus Christ did in the flesh, we may avail ourselves of, that we may really be in Him.

The work of Christ is to bestow the character of God on us; and in the meantime God looks upon Christ and His perfect character instead of upon our sinful character. The very moment that we empty ourselves, or let Christ empty us, of self, and believe on Jesus Christ and receive Him as our personal Saviour, God looks upon Him as indeed our personal representative. Then He does not see us and all our sin; He sees Christ.

OUR REPRESENTATIVE IN THE COURTS OF HEAVEN.

"For there is one God, and one mediator between God and men, the man Christ Jesus." 1 Tim. 2:5. There is a man in heaven now,—the man Christ Jesus,—bearing our human nature; but it is no longer a flesh of sin; it is glorified. Having come here and lived in a flesh of sin, He died; and in that He died, He died unto sin; and in that He lives, He lives unto God. When He died, He freed Himself from the flesh of sin, and He was raised glorified. Jesus Christ came here as our representative, travelled the path back to heaven in the family, died unto sin, and was raised glorified. He lived as the Son of man, grew up as

the Son of man, ascended as the Son of man, and today, Jesus Christ, *our own* representative, *our own* brother, the *man* Christ Jesus, is in heaven, living to make intercession for us.

He has been through every one of our experiences. Does not He know what the cross means? He went to heaven by the way of the cross, and He says, "Come." That is what Christ has done by becoming flesh. Our human minds stand appalled before the problem. How shall we express in human language what was done for us, when "the Word became flesh, and dwelt amoung us"?

How shall we express what God has given to us? When He gave His Son, He gave the most precious gift of heaven, and He gave Him never to take Him back again. To all eternity the Son of man will bear in His body the marks that sin made; forever He will be Jesus Christ, our Saviour, our Elder Brother. That is what God has done for us in giving His Son to us.

CHRIST IDENTIFIED WITH US.

This union of the divine and the human has brought Jesus Christ very near to us. There is not one too low down for Christ to be there with him. He identified Himself completely with this human family. In the judgment, when the rewards and punishments are meted out, He says, "Inasmuch as ye have done it unto one of the least of these My brethren, ye have done it unto Me." One version reads, "Inasmuch as ye have done it unto one of the least of these My little brothers, ye have done it unto Me." Christ looks upon every one of the human family as His. When humanity suffers, He suffers. He is humanity, He has joined Himself to this family. He is our head; and when in any part of the body there is a throb of pain felt, the head feels that throb of pain. He has united Himself with us, thus uniting us with God; for we read in Matthew: "Behold, a virgin shall be with child, and shall bring forth a son, and they shall call His name Emmanuel, which being interpreted is, God with us."

UNITY IN CHRIST.

Jesus Christ thus united Himself with the human family, that He might be with us by being in us, just as God was with Him by being in Him. The very purpose of His work was that He might be in us, and that, as He represented the Father, so the children, the Father, and the Elder Brother might be united in Him.

Let us see what His thought was in His last prayer: "That they all may be one; as Thou, Father, art in Me, and I in Thee, that they also may be one in us." "And the glory which Thou gavest Me, I have given them; that they may be one, even as we are one; I in them, and Thou in Me, that they may be made perfect in one; and that the world may know that Thou hast sent Me, and hast loved them as Thou hast loved Me. Father, I will that they also, whom Thou hast given Me, be with Me where I am; that they may behold My glory, which Thou hast given Me; for Thou lovedest Me before the foundation of the world. O righteous Father, the world hath not known Thee; but I have known Thee, and these have known that Thou hast sent Me. And I have declared Thy name unto them, and will declare it." And the last words of His prayer were: "That the love wherewith Thou hast loved Me may be in them, and I in them." John 17:21-26. And as He was ascending, His parting words to His disciples were, "Lo, I am with you alway, even unto the end of the world." Matt. 28:20. By being in us, He is with us alway, and that this might be possible, that He might be in us, He came and took our flesh.

This also is the way in which the holiness of Jesus works. He had a holiness that enabled him to come and dwell in sinful flesh, and glorify sinful flesh by His presence in it; and that is what He did, so that when He was raised from the dead, He was glorified. His purpose was that having purified sinful flesh by His indwelling presence, He might now come and purify sinful flesh in us,

and glorify sinful flesh in us. He "shall change our vile body, that it may be fashioned like unto His glorious body, according to the working whereby He is able even to subdue all things unto Himself." Phil. 3:21. "For whom He did foreknow, He also did predestinate, to be conformed to the image of His Son, that He might be the firstborn among many brethren." Rom. 8:29.

THE ELECTION OF GRACE.

Let me say that in this idea is bound up the whole question of predestination. There is a predestination; it is a predestination of character. There is an election; it is an election of character. Every one who believes on Jesus Christ is elected, and all the power of God is behind that election, that he shall bear the image of God. Bearing that image, he is predestinated to all eternity in Christ's kingdom; but every one who does not bear the image of God is predestinated unto death. It is a predestination of God in Christ Jesus. Christ provides the character, and offers it to any one who will believe in Him.

THE HEART AND LIFE OF CHRISTIANITY.

Let us enter into the experience that God has given Jesus Christ to us to dwell in our sinful flesh, to work out in our sinful flesh what He worked out when He was here. He came and lived here that we might through Him reflect the image of God. This is the very heart of Christianity. Anything contrary to it is not Christianity. "Beloved, believe not every spirit, but try the spirits, whether they are of God; because many false prophets are gone out into the world. Hereby know ye the Spirit of God: Every spirit that confesseth that Jesus Christ is come in the flesh is of God; and every spirit that confesseth not that Jesus Christ is come in the flesh is not of God." 1 John 4:1-3. Now that cannot mean simply to acknowledge

Page 36 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 37

that Jesus Christ was here and lived in the flesh. The devils made that acknowledgment. They knew that Christ had come in the flesh. The faith that comes by the Spirit of God says, "Jesus Christ is come in *my* flesh; He dwells in *my* flesh; I have received Him." That is the heart and life of Christianity.

The difficulty with the Christianity of today is that Christ does not dwell in the hearts of those professing His name. He is an outsider, one looked at from afar, as an example. But He is more than an example to us. He made known to us what God's ideal of humanity is, and then He came and lived it out before us, that we might see what it is to be in the image of God. Then He died, and ascended to His Father, sending forth His Spirit, His own representative, to live in us, that the life which He lived in the flesh we may live over again. *This* is Christianity.

CHRIST MUST DWELL IN THE HEART.

It is not enough to talk of Christ and of the beauty of His character. Christianity without Christ dwelling in the heart is not genuine Christianity. He only is a genuine Christian who has Christ dwelling in his heart, and we can live the life of Christ only by having Him dwelling in us. He wants us to lay hold upon the life and power of Christianity. Do not be satisfied with anything else. Heed no one who would lead you in any other path. "Christ in you, the hope of glory," His power, His indwelling presence, that is Christianity. That is what we need today; and I am thankful that there are hearts that are longing for that experience, and who will recognise it when it comes. It does not make any difference what your name or denomination has been. Recognise Jesus Christ, and let Him dwell in you. By following where He leads, we shall know what Christian experience is, and what it is to dwell in the light of His presence. I tell you this is a wondrous truth.

Human language cannot put more into human thought or language than is said in these words: "The Word became flesh, and dwelt among us." This is our salvation.

The object in these remarks is not merely to establish a line of thought. It is to bring new life into our soul, and open up our ideas of the word of God and the gift of God, that we may be able to grasp His love for us. We need it. Nothing short of that will meet what we have to meet,—the world, the flesh, and the devil. But He that is for us is mightier than he that is against us. Let us have in our daily lives Jesus Christ, "the Word" that "became flesh."

E. Nov. 2, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "The Faith of Jesus, The Commandments of God, and The Patience of the Saints," *The Bible Echo*, Jan. 20 & 27, 1896.

THE FAITH OF JESUS, THE COMMANDMENTS OF GOD, AND THE PATIENCE OF THE SAINTS

"Here is the patience of the saints; here are they that keep the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus." Rev. 14:12.

In our study at this time we will reverse the order, and say, Here are they that keep the faith of Jesus and the commandments of God. Here is the patience of the saints. The first experience necessary in order to keep a thing is to get it. So before we can keep the faith of Jesus we must get it. Faith is the gift of God, and no one need say that he cannot have it. "For I say through the grace given unto me, to every man that is among you, not to think of himself more highly than he ought to think; but to think soberly, according as God hath dealt to every man the measure of faith." Rom. 12:3. No one need say that he cannot have faith; for God has given it to him. God gives faith, and our part is to exercise that faith, and just as in the physical frame exercise causes growth, so exercising what faith we have will cause it to grow.

You will observe that this is a closing message; for the next thing John saw was one "like unto the Son of man, having on His head a golden crown, and in His hand a sharp sickle." What is seen just before the Saviour is revealed?—Those that keep the commandments of God. The commandments and teaching of men have come in to take the place of the commandments of God; but here is to be a people on the earth just before Christ comes, who will keep the commandments of God, and who will not be carried away by the traditions and teaching of men.

WHAT IS THE FAITH OF JESUS?

These people are also to have the faith of Jesus. In this time there is a great deal said about faith, but the subject is not worn out yet. This is to be the faith of Jesus, in contrast with the faith of the devil. Here are they that keep the commandments of God rather than the commandments of men, and have the faith of Jesus rather than the faith of the devil. What is the devil's faith? It is spoken of in James 2:19: "Thou believest that there is one God; thou doest well; the devils also believe and tremble." When Jesus was here in the flesh, the devils said to Him, "I know Thee who Thou art; the Holy One of God." The devil believes that God exists; he knows it is so, and he trembles at it; but he has not the faith of Jesus. He has the faith that assents to the truth of a certain fact. We may believe that Jesus Christ is the only begotten Son of God; we may believe that the blood of Jesus Christ is able to cleanse from all sin; we may believe that every statement made in the Bible is true; and yet not have the faith of Jesus. We may believe in the creed of the church, which says, "I believe in one God, the Father Almighty, Maker of heaven and earth, and in His only Son, Jesus Christ our Lord;" we may confess to all that, and believe it as a fact, and yet not have the faith of Jesus.

What is the faith of Jesus as contrasted with the faith of the devil? Let us find out from the word. When Jesus came to the tomb of Lazarus, and said to him that was dead, "Lazarus, come forth," He knew that He was speaking the word of God. He was sure of that; for He spoke the words of God continually. "The word which ye hear," He said, "is not Mine, but the Father's which sent Me." John 14:24. He knew that the word of God had power to accomplish that which He had spoken, and that Lazarus would come forth. That is, the faith of Jesus is that faith which believes that God's word will do what it says. It simply lets God's word be true.

But the word of God is true whether we believe it or not. John says, "Again, a new commandment I write unto you, which thing is true in Him and in you." 1 John 2:8. The purpose of the word of God is that it shall be true in us. The word was true in Jesus Christ, and He was the true representative of the word. What the word said, *He was*. And if the word of God is true in us, it will make us like Christ. We have faith in the word of God when we believe that it is a living word, and that it has power to transform our characters, and to work in us that of which it speaks.

FAITH IN THE WORD.

This is the kind of faith that Jesus commended. We read in Matthew's Gospel that "when Jesus was entered into Capernaum, there came unto Him a centurion, beseeching Him, and saying, Lord, my servant lieth at home sick of the palsy, grievously tormented. And Jesus saith unto him, I will come and heal him. The centurion answered and said, Lord, I am not worthy that Thou shouldest come under my roof; but speak the word only, and my servant shall be healed. For I am a man under [not having] authority, having soldiers under me; and I say to this man, Go, and he goeth; and to another, Come, and he cometh; and to my servant, Do this, and he doeth it. When Jesus heard it, He marvelled,

Page 38 1895 Evangelism Page 39

and said to them that followed, Verily I say unto you, I have not found so great faith, no, not in Israel." Matt. 8:5-10. Here is the centurion, a commander of one hundred men in the Roman army. He says to Jesus, Speak the word; that is all you need to do.

We will say that the Roman authority is Caesar, that the centurion's name is Julius, and the soldier's, Alexander. Julius the man says to Alexander the man, "Go;" but Alexander the man says, "What right have you to command me to go? I shall go when I get ready." That is Julius the *man* talking to Alexander the *man* apart from any authority. But Julius the *centurion* says to Alexander the *soldier* "Go," and the soldier goes at once, because Julius is speaking as a representative of Caesar, and really, it is Caesar speaking. You see, then, the difference between the man talking to the man, and the centurion talking to the soldier. The soldier goes, because all the power of the Roman Empire is behind the word spoken by the centurion.

And the centurion said to Christ, I see that you, Jesus of Nazareth, are here, and that you are under authority, representing God. When you speak, it is not Jesus the son of Joseph speaking, but the Son of God; and I know that the word you speak is the word of God, and that it has power in it. This is the kind of faith that Christ commends. The centurion had confidence that Christ was not simply the son of the carpenter, but the Son of the living God, and he believed that the whole authority of God was in the word spoken through Him.

"Faith cometh by hearing," and it is no use for us to talk about faith apart from the word of God. The fact that we desire something with all our heart, is not the least evidence that it will be done. Faith is confidence in God's word, dependence upon God's word, letting God's word be true. Faith is seeing Christ in His word as the power of the living God, and believing with all the heart that He will do what He says. Faith is not sentimentalism, not merely a belief that something is true; it includes submitting and yielding wholly to the word of God. See to it whether you have the faith of Jesus or the faith

of the devil. He believes that the Bible is true, and believes it more fully than many who make a high profession! He knows the Bible is wholly true. He knows it is true but he does not allow it to be true in him. He is a lie; his whole life is a lie; he is a false-hood from the first to the last; and so is everyone whose character is like his, and whose faith goes no further than his. Our very characters are a lie if they are not in harmony with the word of God.

Before a person is converted, he has the choice of saying, "I am true; I am righteous," and thus making God a liar, or of saying, "God only is true," thus making himself a liar. The Scripture says, "Let God be true; but every man a liar." Rom. 3:4. Every unconverted person must make his choice between calling God a liar, or admitting that he is one. Sin is being false, and that is what makes the devil wholly false, because he is a sinner from the beginning; he is a liar, and the father of lies. God says, "All have sinned and come short of the glory of God." We must let Him be true and say, "I have sinned." But when we come to that experience in that way, there is something more to be said. When Nathan came to David to reprove him for his sin and said to him, "Thou art the man," David answered, "I have sinned against the Lord. And Nathan said unto David, The Lord also hath put away thy sin; thou shalt not die." 2 Sam. 12:13. Let God's word be true. When the Lord says, "You have sinned and come short of the glory of God," answer, "I have sinned." When we make that confession, He says to us again, "If we confess our sins, He is faithful and just to forgive us our sins, and to cleanse us from all unrighteousness." To this we must say, "It is so, and let God's word be true in us." And so we will keep saying, "Amen," not in word simply, but in our lives. That is faith, living, divine faith.

FAITH IN THE WORD BRINGS A REFORMATION.

This faith brought the reformation of the sixteenth century, and it is the faith that is to work the reformation of the nineteenth century. In Luther's time the church had covered up God's word, and was giving the people its own teaching, just as it is doing to a large extent now. It was Luther's work to bring the word to the people and let them feed upon it. The word of God is seen constantly in Luther's writing. Faith in God's word, that faith that believes God's word regardless of any outward circumstances whatever, brought the Reformation. Our test will come on the same point. The word tells us that miracles will be wrought to sustain falsehood. The people who depend upon outward circumstances for evidence of their acceptance with God, are the very ones who are preparing themselves to be taken captive by the devil at his will. He can bring outward signs. The word says that he will make fire come down from heaven in the sight of men.

When the earth is removed, what shall we stand on? The word of God will be the only sure foundation, but if we do not learn how to stand steadfastly on that word, we will not be prepared to risk it in that day, and we will be of those that come before the Lord in fear. We need to become accustomed to living in the presence of God, to seeing Him who is invisible, and then, when He becomes visible, it will not frighten us in the least. This is the faith of Jesus,—the faith that believes that God's word is true, that lets God's word work in its power in us, and that submits entirely to that working. No man can have faith in Jesus who is not willing to give up all for Him. He gave us everything, and He takes everything.

Making an acrostic of "faith" may help to impress these thoughts on our minds.

F—Forsaking
A—All
I—I
T—Take
H—Him.

The faith of Jesus means, Forsaking all, I take Him, and let Him be true in me. Being a saint is simply being a true man; being a sinner is simply being a liar. Christ is the faithful and true witness; Christ is the true vine; everything about Christ is true. To be like Christ is to be true; to be different from Christ is to be false.

KEEPING THE COMMANDMENTS.

Now let us turn to the other thought. "Here are they that keep the commandments of God." But it is just as true with the commandments, that we must get them before we can keep them, as it is with the faith. How do we get the commandments?—In the same way that we get the faith,—God must give them to us. "For this is the covenant that I will make with the house of Israel after those days, saith the Lord: I will put My laws into their mind, and write them in their hearts; and I will be to them a God, and they shall be to Me a people." Heb. 8:10. He must give us the commandments before we can keep them, and He must give them to us in His own way, by writing them in our hearts. "Forasmuch as ye are manifestly declared to be the epistle of Christ, ministered by us, written not with ink, but with the Spirit of the living God; not in tables of stone, but in the fleshy tables of the heart." 2 Cor., 3:3. The commandments were first written with the finger of God on the tables of stone, thus foreshadowing the work of writing them on the heart by the Spirit of God. Compare two scriptures: "But if I cast out devils by the Spirit of God, then the kingdom of God is come unto you." "But if I with the finger of God cast out devils, no doubt the kingdom of God is come upon you." Matt. 12:28; Luke 11:20. One says the "finger of God," the other the "Spirit of God." God wrote with His own finger on the tables of stone, and He says He will write His commandments in our hearts, not with ink, but with the Spirit of the living God. This was foretold when He wrote them on stone. Moreover, as He wrote them on stone, He writes them now,—with His Spirit; and His writing in our hearts is to be just as eternal as His

Page 40 1895 Evangelism Page 41

writing on stone. He that doeth the word of God abideth forever. He that keepeth My sayings shall never die.

The word of God is the very life of God, and this word being in our hearts keeps us through eternity. The word of God, written with the Spirit of God on the tables of the heart, will never change. It is His character. But God never puts anything into our hearts, and He never allows the devil to put anything into our hearts to stay there, unless we consent to it. God will never write His law in our hearts unless we consent. We will suppose now that God is going on with His work of writing His law in our hearts, and He writes, "Thou shalt have no other gods before Me," and you say, "I submit to that." He writes again, "Thou shalt not make unto thee any graven image, or any likeness of anything that is in heaven above, or that is in the earth beneath, or that is in the waters under the earth; thou shalt not bow down thyself to them nor serve them; for I the Lord thy God am a jealous God, visiting the iniquity of the fathers upon the children unto the third and fourth generation of them that hate Me; and showing mercy unto thousands of them that love Me and keep My commandments;" and you say, "That is all right." He writes the third commandment, and again you say, "I submit." Then He begins to write the fourth, but you start and say, "O, no; do not write that; I cannot let that come in." What happens?—He writes no more; and by your refusal to let Him write the fourth commandment, you rub out what He has written, and the law of God goes out of your heart. He does not write one portion of His law in our hearts contrary to our consent. We are to study the law in Jesus Christ, who kept His Father's commandments, and then we are to submit to it, that the very life that was manifested in Jesus Christ shall be manifested in us. It is more a question of our submitting, and letting that life manifest itself, than of our manifesting it.

CHRIST THE LIVING LAW.

Writing the law in the heart is simply having Christ dwell in us. Christ was the living law, the law in life. Christ's Spirit is the Spirit of that divine-human life that lived in obedience to God's commandments. That is the Spirit He puts upon us, His other self dwelling in us. The law of God is ministered by the Spirit of God. When that comes into the heart, it is Christ Himself; it is "Christ in you the hope of glory." And when Christ comes into our hearts, He is the living law, the law of God worked out in character. Christ dwelling in our hearts, means bringing the character of God into our lives. Keeping the commandments of God is manifesting the character of Jesus Christ.

Now a word as to obeying the commandments of God. Keeping the commandments of God is obeying the commandments, but there is an infinite amount of attempting to obey the commandments that is not keeping them. But righteousness does not come by the law. Some people hang the law upon the wall, read it over, and then try to do what it says. They have a terribly hard time, and then do not do it. Why?—because they put it up there. That is not where God puts it. He says He will put it in your heart, and you are to keep it there. "Out of the heart are the issues of life." Do you suppose that out of a heart where the law of God is written, can come murders? God has told us what is in the natural heart. He says, "For from within, out of the heart of men, proceed evil thoughts, adulteries, fornications, murders, thefts, covetousness, wickedness, deceit, lasciviousness, an evil eye, blasphemy, pride, foolishness." Mark 7:21, 22. That is what God sees in the natural heart, but does man see all that? "The heart is deceitful above all things, and desperately wicked." Man says, I am no murderer; I am a very moral man. I go to church regularly, nothing of the kind is in my heart. But those very things are there. Unless Christ is there and has cast them out, they have come in and defiled the temple of the soul.

But when Christ, who is the living law comes in, the law is written on the tables of the heart. And when Christ comes in, all the evils of the natural heart are cast out by His holy presence. When we submit to Him, He writes His law in our hearts and lives. Religion cannot be communicated as a theory. Religion is life. When Christ writes His law in our hearts, it is by writing it in our lives, and when this is done, murder and deceit are cast out! That is writing the law in the heart; that is putting the very life of Christ as our life, so that our life manifests His life.

It is a terrible mistake to think that keeping the commandments of God means to take the law, look at it, and then make up our minds that we will do it. That means only failure and discouragement. It is when we see that Christ is the law of God which we are to receive, and when we receive Him, that the law is written in our hearts, and our lives are brought into harmony with that law. The law of the Lord is holy, just, and good. We cannot make our lives holy, but Christ can do it for us. Oh, that we might see in its true light the privilege of being in harmony with God's law. It is the privilege of being like Christ, the privilege of leading a true life, the privilege of communing with God, who created all things through Jesus Christ. It is the great privilege of humanity to be in harmony with God's law.

OBJECT OF CHRIST'S LIFE ON EARTH.

The whole work of Christ was to show the perfection of God's law, and to make it possible for us to be in harmony with it. And when we have Christ's life and teaching to show us what the law of God is, it is perfectly amazing that so many will allow the devil to cheat them out of the privilege of being in harmony with that law. To be like Christ, to be like God, to lead a true life, to be exalted,

to be brought into communion with God,—this is indeed a privilege. There are those that say, but if I live in harmony with the law of God, I will lose my situation, and what will my family do? But there is nothing that can happen to those who are in harmony with the law of God, except what God permits. If He takes away one thing, it is to give a better thing in its place. It may not mean more money, but what of that? Does not God care for His own? "Seek ye first the kingdom of God, and His righteousness; and all these things shall be added unto you." Matt. 6:33. That is what God says. Let God be true, and every man a liar. Faith makes God's word true, and believes what He says, and sees nothing except the word of God.

GOD CARES FOR THOSE WHO ARE TRUE TO HIM.

God is caring for His people in these times. There is abundant proof that those who observe the seventh day, even in these hard times, are better situated financially than the average people. God will care for everyone who is true to Him. He spread a table in the wilderness to show us that, if necessary, He can bring bread from heaven and water from the rock. Trust God to do it. The time is right upon us when we shall need to trust Jesus Christ and His word to keep us in food and clothing, to keep us temporally and spiritually, and those only will be safe who are hidden in Jesus Christ. That is literally coming to pass, and those who do not trust in Jesus Christ will perish. God is warning us, trying to win people away from the destruction that is to come. Submission to Him in all things is our only safety now. "Here are they that keep the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus."

THE LAW KEPT IN CHRIST.

Although we cannot keep the commandments till we get them, that does not mean that the precepts of the law will not be lived out in our

Page 42 1895 Evangelism Page 43

lives. That is just what will be done. No man can do it of himself; but we are to *receive* the law of God in Jesus Christ and to *obey* the law of God in Jesus Christ. Then it is that God dwells with us, and the law is written in our hearts.

"Here are they that keep the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus." It is because they keep the faith of Jesus that they keep the commandments. "Thy word have I hid in mine heart," said the psalmist, "that I might not sin against Thee." And "sin is the transgression of the law." Jesus Christ is the Alpha and Omega, the A to Z; and when we hide Him in the heart, we hide the Word of God in the heart; and what we keep as a living law turns about and keeps us.

"Behold, I come quickly; hold that fast which thou hast, that no man take thy crown." We are living just before the second coming of Christ. Through the faith of Jesus Christ, let God's word be true in our character. God wants us to keep His commandments because they are what will keep us. Christ said, "I know that His commandment is life everlasting," and that is why He could say, "If a man keep My saying, He shall never see death." John 12:50; 8:51. The work of Christ has changed into a sleep the death that came as the result of Adam's transgression. "If a man keep My saying he shall never see death;" for he has within him the living Word. "He that doeth the word of God abideth forever." He may fall asleep, but he will never see death. But those who do not keep God's commandments will see death from which there is no wakening.

THE PATIENCE OF THE SAINTS.

"Here is the patience of the saints." "For ye have need of patience, that, after ye have done the will of God, ye might receive the promise." Heb. 10:36. We have need of patience. "For yet a little while, and He that shall come, will come, and will not tarry." Those that have been keeping His commandments and waiting for Him, have

need of endurance, for there is yet a little while.

"The just shall live by faith." There are three places in the New Testament where this scripture is used, and the emphasis used in each case is different. "For therein is the righteousness of God revealed from faith to faith; as it is written, the *just* shall live by faith" Rom. 1:17. There the emphasis is placed on being righteous.

"But that no man is justified by the law in the sight of God it is evident; for, the just shall live by *faith*." Gal. 3:11. Their faith is emphasised.

"Now the just shall live by faith; but if any man draw back, My soul shall have no pleasure in him." Heb. 10:38. Here living is the leading thought. The keeping of the commandments has been going on, yet here is a time when Christ seems to delay. If we live by faith, we shall live through all the destruction about us. "A thousand shall fall at thy side, and ten thousand at thy right hand; but it shall not come nigh thee." "The just shall live by faith." "Only with thine eyes shalt thou behold and see the reward of the wicked." That is the promise of God to us, but He also says, "Ye have need of patience." "Ye have heard of the patience of Job, and have seen the end of the Lord; that the Lord is very pitiful, and of tender mercy." Job endured, although he could not see the reason for it. But in that trial of Job God was working out before the universe the fact that His love can keep a man when all temporal blessings are taken away.

In the 18th chapter of Luke we have the case of the widow and the unjust judge recorded as instruction for us, with reference to the delay of the coming of the Lord. This is the time above all others, just before the coming of the Lord, when we are not to faint. "And he spake a parable unto them, to this end, that men ought always to pray and not to faint; saying, There was in a city a judge, which feared not God, neither regarded man. And there was a widow in that city; and she came unto him, saying, Avenge me of mine adversary [or opponent]. And he would not for

a while; but afterward he said within himself, Though I fear not God nor regard man, yet because this widow troubleth me, I will avenge her, lest by her continual coming she weary me." To get rid of her he would vindicate her of her opponent at law. "And shall not God avenge His own elect, which cry day and night unto Him, though He bear long with them? I tell you that He will avenge them speedily."

DISTRESSING TIMES AHEAD.

We are in the time of trouble foretold in God's word. These distressing times we see about us are but the beginning of these things. "This know also, that in the last days perilous [or hard] times shall come." 2 Tim. 3:1. Are we not seeing hard times, hard times financially and spiritually? And these times on which we have entered, though there may be times when they will brighten, will grow worse and worse. The slight revival financially in these colonies is not permanent. God has sent out His message to prepare a people for His coming, to gather out a people who will understand these things. Men's hearts are already failing them for fear; they are saying, What do these things mean? "But as the days of Noah were, so shall also the coming of the Son of man be." We shall see violence and murder. That is the devil's work. We shall see in this world a situation such as the human mind has never conceived of; we shall see a situation that will strike terror into every heart that does not know Jesus Christ and the power of His salvation. We can see it coming.

In that day God's people cry unto Him for deliverance; but He seems to put off the day of delivering them, because we shall have come to that time when the deliverance of God's people means the death of their adversaries. The deliverance of God's people from their foes can only be followed by the coming of the Lord Jesus and the destruction of their enemies. God is so slow to pour out His wrath upon those who have rejected Him, that

He seems almost to have deserted His people. But God will "avenge His own elect, which cry day and night unto Him, though He bear long with them."

"But when ye shall hear of wars and commotions, be not terrified; for these things must first come to pass; but the end is not by and by. Then said He unto them, Nation shall rise against nation, and kingdom against kingdom; and great earthquakes shall be in divers places, and famines and pestilences; and fearful sights and great signs shall there be from heaven. But before all these they shall lay their hands on you, and persecute you, delivering you up to the synagogues, and into prison, being brought before kings and rulers for My name's sake." Luke 21: 9-12. Notice what they are brought up for. Because a man is hated, it does not follow that he is a Christian. He must be hated for "My name's sake." Because the world does not like a man, it does not follow that he is a Christian. It must dislike him for the same reason that it disliked Christ. Those that are Christians will be reviled because they are in harmony with Christ's life and character. "And it shall turn to you for a testimony. Settle it, therefore, in your hearts, not to meditate before what ye shall answer; for I will give you a mouth and wisdom, which all your adversaries shall not be able to gainsay nor resist. And ye shall be betrayed both by parents, and brethren, and kinsfolk, and friends; and some of you shall they cause to be put to death. And ye shall be hated of all men for My name's sake. But there shall not an hair of your head perish. In your patience possess ye your souls." Verses 13-19. In your endurance acquire your lives. We are living just before the coming of the Lord. "For yet a little while, and He that shall come, will come, and will not tarry." It is in our endurance that we acquire our lives. Before the coming of the Lord, there will be a people who will be fulfilling His will. Our place is to be one of them. Our place is to be one of those of whom the Lord can say, "Here is the patience of the saints; here are they that keep the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus."

Page 44 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 45

F. Nov. 5, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "God or Caesar, Which?", *The Bible Echo*, March 2, 9 & 16, 1896.

GOD OR CAESAR, WHICH?

"Then went the Pharisees, and took counsel how they might entangle him in his talk. And they sent out unto him their disciples with the Herodians, saying, Master, we know that thou art true, and teachest the way of God in truth, neither carest thou for any man: for thou regardest not the person of men. Tell us therefore, What thinkest thou? Is it lawful to give tribute unto Caesar, or not? But Jesus perceived their wickedness, and said, Why tempt ye me, ye hypocrites? Shew me the tribute money. And they brought unto him a penny. And he saith unto them, Whose is this image and superscription? They say unto him, Caesar's. Then saith he unto them, Render therefore unto Caesar the things which are Caesar's; and unto God the things that are God's. When they had heard these words, they marvelled, and left him, and went their way." Matt. 22:15-22.

The Pharisees and Herodians were completely answered in these words. A sharp distinction was drawn between the things of God and the things of Caesar; that is, the things which pertain to God,—religion, and the things which pertain to Caesar,—civil government. There was not one of those Pharisees or Herodians that had any ground to stand upon after He had made that answer. There was not one of them that thought it was any use to say, "That general principle is good, but you see there are some things in which God and Caesar are in partnership. What about that?" They did not dare to say a word. When He said, "Render therefore unto Caesar the things which are Caesar's, and unto God the things that are God's," they marvelled and went their way, because in those few words He had laid down those eternal principles of right, and had so completely answered them that there was nothing more to be said.

It was announced that we would consider this evening something of the evils of religious legislation; God or Caesar, Which? or the evils which result from religious legislation, in mixing up God and Caesar.

A PLAIN DISTINCTION.

As a foundation, I want first to draw a distinction between the things of God and the things of Caesar. "Caesar" stands for civil government. The things of Caesar are those which have to do with civil government. The things of God are those which have to do with God, our relation to God, our duty to God, everything that pertains to God as a personal matter between us and God. I want to lay down for our consideration the contrast between the things of God and the things of Caesar; the contrast between the realms in which they rule, their subjects, and their manner of ruling. To make it plain we will draw a simple diagram:—

God	Caesar
MIND	BODY
THOUGHT	ACTION
SIN	CRIME
MORAL	CIVIL
FORGIVENESS	PENALTY
LOVE	FORCE
ETERNAL	TEMPORAL

THE TWO REALMS.

First as to the realms in which they rule. God in Jesus Christ rules the *mind*; Caesar the *body*. Let us stop on this a moment. When Jesus Christ came to set up His kingdom, He came to set up a different sort of a kingdom than had existed. Human power and the kingdom of this world—Caesar—had ruled the body, they had ruled the

outward conduct, but here comes Jesus Christ to set up a kingdom within a kingdom, to have a kingdom, to have subjects, and to have that right in this world, where Caesar's kingdom is.

But while men had been—shall I say satisfied—not always that, and yet it was all Caesar could do to rule the body,—Jesus Christ comes to set up His kingdom in the mind; that is, to rule the thoughts, while Caesar has his kingdom over the body, and rules actions. This is not to say that Jesus Christ does not rule actions, but He gets behind actions, and controls actions through thought. They had had laws in the world, they had God's law in the world, but Jesus Christ came to show what that law meant, to live it Himself, and to teach it as it meant to God. And so He explained it as we read Matthew 5, where Christ Himself, the very one who spoke the law from Sinai, now, with His divinity veiled in humanity, comes on the mount, and speaks that law over again, and gives it a spiritual meaning.

"Ye have heard that it was said by them of old time, Thou shalt not kill; and whosoever shall kill shall be in danger of the judgment; but I say unto you, That whosoever is angry with his brother without a cause shall be in danger of the judgment." This is further expressed in 1 John 3:15: "Whosoever hateth his brother is a murderer." "Ye have heard how it was said by them of old time, Thou shalt not commit adultery; but I say unto you, That whosoever looketh on a woman to lust after her hath committed adultery with her already in his heart." He further explains that covetousness is idolatry, and this is set forth in Eph. 5:2-5: "And walk in love, as Christ also hath loved us, and hath given Himself for us an offering and a sacrifice to God for a sweet smelling savour. But fornication, and all uncleanness, or covetousness, let it not be once named among you, as becometh saints. Neither filthiness, nor foolish talking, nor jesting, which are not convenient; but rather giving of thanks. For this ye know, that no whoremonger, nor unclean person,

nor covetous man, who is an idolater, hath any inheritance in the kingdom of Christ and of God."

This is Christ's interpretation of how the law of God applies. This does not apply simply to the outward act. Caesar rules the outward conduct. I may stand before a man, I may hate him with a perfect hatred, and I may tell him so to his face, but Caesar says nothing to me. Caesar has nothing to do with it. But suppose my hatred grows into action, and I proceed to do the man violence. Caesar says, "You must keep your hate within yourself, or I shall come in and interfere." But I am just as much in God's sight a murderer when I hate my brother as though I had taken his life. It is better for civil society that there are laws to restrain the outward manifestation of that hate, but in God's sight I am a murderer when I hate.

But suppose Caesar should attempt to enforce this law as God explains it, will you tell me how many would be left outside the prison walls to guard those within? Suppose he should come into this tent, and, taking the law as God explains it, should say, "I am here for every man who has ever been a murderer." How many, do you think, would be left to listen to the sermon? God in Christ rules the hearts, and Christ came to do that which it is impossible for man to do,—to rule the very thoughts of the heart. And He explains that no service is acceptable to Him unless it is heart-service.

The Pharisees had plenty of religion of their kind. They liked to display it, and they kept bringing it forth. They had come to Christ to display it. They came to Him asking why His disciples ate with unwashen hands. I will not read the record, but Christ answered them, saying, "Hear, and understand: Not that which goeth into the mouth defileth a man." "Then answered Peter and said unto Him, Declare unto us this parable." "And Jesus said, Do ye not yet understand, that whatsoever entereth in at the mouth goeth into the belly and is cast out into the draught. But those things

Page 46 1895 Evangelism Page 47

which proceed out of the mouth come forth from the heart; and they defile the man. For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies; these are the things which defile a man; but to eat with unwashen hands defileth not a man." Matt. 15:10, 11, 15-20.

THOUGHT PRECEDES ACTION.

Every overt act is preceded by thought. No man ever does a thing he has not thought of. Now many are thinking, I suppose, "I question that, because I have done things I did not intend to do. And I did them because I did not think." I tell you the very reason you did them without thinking was because you had done them so many times before that by thinking it had become habit. I say that every act is preceded by the thought, and that thought is the very character of your being. It is in the inmost thought, the inner self, where character dwells. Man may be restrained by outward forms from expressing himself; he may be but a whited sepulchre. And if the sepulchre is white-washed outside, Caesar has nothing to say; he cannot enter into the temple of the heart and control thought. Jesus Christ sets up His kingdom in the mind; His subjects are the thoughts of the heart, and no one is pure in God's sight unless his very thought is pure; no one is free from transgression unless his very thoughts are in harmony with God. Says the Scripture, "Casting down imaginations and every high thing that exalteth itself against the knowledge of God, and bringing into captivity every thought to the obedience of Christ." 2 Cor. 10:5. That is religion and Jesus Christ can do that for us. But when Caesar has attempted to invade the realm of the mind, when he has stepped out of his place and tried to control what only Jesus Christ can control,—the inmost thoughts of the heart,—then we have had written in blood some of the darkest pages of human history.

SIN AND CRIME.

God in Jesus Christ deals with sin; Caesar deals with *crime*. The Scripture says, "The thought of foolishness is sin;" but it is not crime. Therefore as Jesus Christ dwells in the mind, ruling the thoughts, anything contrary to His thought is sin, and He deals with sin. Sin is defined in the Scripture to be the "transgression of the law," and Jesus Christ in His kingdom deals with sin. Caesar has nothing to do with sin; it is crime that he deals with. Sin is the transgression of God's law in the thought of the heart. Sin is a lapse from holiness, and holiness dwells in the inmost heart. Anything different to that is sin; but Caesar cannot inquire about that. He waits till the thought becomes an overt act contrary to his law; because while God has a law to rule the heart, Caesar has a law to rule the action. When one transgresses Caesar's law he may or may not have sinned against God, but it is crime. There should be a very careful distinction drawn between sin and crime. Crime is transgression of human law; sin is transgression of God's law as interpreted by Jesus Christ. Sin may or may not be crime. A man may be a murderer of the blackest type before God, and not be guilty of a crime. I may be an idolater, breaking God's law every day, and not have committed a single crime. I may be dark and deep- stained with sin, and not commit any crime.

MORALITY AND CIVILITY.

God's government is *moral*; Caesar's government is *civil*. Christ deals with morality. But we must understand what morality is. There is an accommodated sense of the word, in which we say, "He is not a Christian, but he is a moral man." When we come to the strict sense of the word, it means "One that is in harmony with God's law." The word "civil" has to do with the relations between man and man; the word "moral" has to do with the relations between man and God. The

truly moral man will be civil, you may be sure of that, and the only purpose of civil government is to make those men civil who would not be otherwise, who are not governed by the higher law of morality, the law of God in the heart.

The object, and the only object, of Caesar's government is,—not to give men rights, God does that,—but to protect men in their God-given rights. No company of men can confer rights upon any other company of men, but they can protect them in the proper use of those rights which they already have. Those rights belong to them, they are given them of God. Men will not be moral; then Caesar comes in with his power, and compels, and properly too, those men who will not be moral, to be civil. Outward conduct is civility; inward conduct is morality. God lives in the heart, making men moral by conferring upon them His own moral character. But Caesar cannot do this; he cannot get into the mind and see when men are committing sin. All he can do is to look at the body, see whether men are committing crime or not, and make them civil if they will not be moral.

FORGIVENESS vs. PENALTY.

Further, God in Christ exercises *forgiveness* in His government; Caesar knows no forgiveness, he knows nothing but the *penalty*. A man commits a sin against God, he has been a sinner all his life, but he sees Christ lifted up, and hears the promise, "If we confess our sins, He is faithful and just to forgive us our sins, and to cleanse us from all unrighteousness," and he accepts that promise; and right there his sins are forgiven; his load of crime is entirely removed; and he stands before God as though he had never committed a sin in his life. But if a man commits a crime, he may he ever so sorry, and he may confess to Caesar, but Caesar says, "Settle that with your Maker; I know nothing but the penalty."

If we should introduce into civil government the principles God uses in His kingdom,

we should have perfect confusion. Look at these principles: "Then came Peter to Him, and said, Lord, how oft shall my brother sin against me, and I forgive him? till seven times? Jesus saith unto him, I say not unto thee, Until seven times, but, Until seventy times seven." "Take heed to yourselves: If thy brother trespass against thee, rebuke him; and if he repent, forgive him. And if he trespass against thee seven times in a day, and seven times in a day turn again to thee, saying, I repent; thou shalt forgive him." Matt. 18:21, 22; Luke 17:3, 4.

Suppose we should apply this principle to civil government. Here is a man arrested for horse stealing. He is brought up before the judge, and says, "I am very sorry, and the Bible says you must forgive." The judge says, "You are forgiven." He goes out and steals another horse, is brought back, and again forgiven. He does that seven times over. How do you think the judge would feel? I think that by the time he had reached the seventh experience he would think that there was some mistake about the law. These principles, which are the very glory of God's moral government, the very glory of His character, we cannot apply to Caesar's government. God does forgive, even to seventy times seven, and He does it for us, thank God, but these principles do not belong here; they are for a different realm, and God, by the gift of His Son, has so provided that He can exercise forgiveness and still maintain the character of His law. By the sacrifice of Jesus Christ God has upheld the character of His government, keeps His law where it belongs, and yet holds out forgiveness to all that believe on His Son. Because of His wonderful provision for the stability of His government, God's law is not brought into disrepute when the man who has broken it again and again turns about and says, "I repent."

By forgiving, civil government would break down the whole system of government; but God keeps His law where it belongs, and yet forgives everyone who repents.

Page 48 1895 Evangelism Page 49

LOVE vs. FORCE.

In order to carry on His government on the earth God uses *love*, and love only, as His power; Caesar knows nothing of the power of love, and uses only *force*. In Jer. 31:3 God says, "I have loved thee with an everlasting love;" and in Rom. 2:4 we read, "Or despisest thou the riches of His goodness; ... not knowing that the goodness of God leadeth thee to repentance?" "God so loved the world that He gave His only begotten Son," and He depends wholly and only upon the power of that love in Jesus Christ to win men to submit themselves to Him.

Most men when they die lose their kingdoms, and lose control over their subjects. Jesus Christ, the King of Israel, gained both His kingdom and His followers by dying. And so it is upon the love of God in Jesus Christ that God depends, and though He has been charged with having an arbitrary government, yet He waits and waits, and displays His love again and again to draw men to Him. But He compels none. God gives to every man freedom of will to choose or refuse Him. If he says, "I will not have this man to reign over me," God does not reign over him. That is God's method of government. But Caesar knows no such government. He simply controls the body. When the thought goes into outward act, Caesar takes the body and puts it under control, that the man may not be able to express that thought further; but that man, even though shut up in a dungeon, may go right on sinning against God at every breath. Caesar cannot help that. He can prevent a man's thought from expressing itself in any way to injure his fellowman; but God looks through stones and bars into the heart, and in His sight that man is still a sinner, though he is kept from manifesting it by the power of the sword.

TEMPORAL vs. ETERNAL.

Further, God deals wholly with things that are *eternal*; Caesar with things that are *temporal*. God Himself is eternal. "The eternal God is

thy refuge, and underneath are the everlasting arms." It was through the eternal Spirit that Christ offered Himself for us. It is eternal life that He holds out as a reward. Caesar knows nothing of such things as that. He is not supposed to know whether a man is on the road to heaven or hell. He is not supposed to make inquiry where he proposes to spend his time in the future. All he is to ask is, "What are you doing today?" Caesar's punishment has nothing to do with eternity. He simply deals with temporal gifts, temporal punishments, temporal rewards; nothing more.

Then we have the contrast. God in Christ deals with the mind; Caesar with the body. God with the thoughts; Caesar with the actions. God with sin; Caesar with crime. God with morals; Caesar with civil things. God exercises forgiveness, Caesar imposes the penalty. God uses love, Caesar, force. God deals with eternal things; Caesar with temporal things. These are sharply defined distinctions.

THE POWERS THAT BE.

But is it not true that the powers that be are ordained of God?—Certainly. "Let every soul be subject unto the higher powers [notice carefully how it reads; for every word has a meaning. If it is only higher power, there is something beyond that.]; for there is no power but of God, and the powers that be are ordained of God." It is in God's order that there should be civil governments on the earth. And we are to yield obedience to those governments. Then, you say, what is the trouble?—There is no trouble if we put the other right with it. "Render unto Caesar the things which are Caesar's, and to God the things that are God's." The very idea of civil government is of God, and He has ordained civil rulers over this realm; but not to rule over His realm. He has drawn the line of distinction between the two, and has ordained the powers that be to rule over things civil, and leave Him to rule over things moral. When Caesar confines his actions to his own sphere, every Christian is enjoined by God to be obedient; that is a part of his Christianity. There should be no one more loyal to civil government, when it is in the sphere to which God ordained it, than the Christian. He should be the model citizen; but when Caesar tries to put himself in the place of God, he makes bad work. He cannot take the place of God. God says, "Stay where I put you, and I command every one of My followers to obey you; but do not come over into My realm; for you cannot carry on My government. Stay in your sphere, and you will have every one of My subjects to be your subjects; but if you get into My realm, You will spoil your subjects and Mine too." God has made this very plain. Let us go to the Scripture for instruction.

THE THREE HEBREWS AND THE FIERY FURNACE.

Nebuchadnezzar the king built a great image all of gold, and set it up on the plain of Dura. He made a proclamation, calling the princes, captains, governors, and subjects of his realm to the dedication of the image. At the sound of the music everyone was to bow down and worship this image, which was really to worship Nebuchadnezzar, because he had had a vision of an image whose head was of gold, representing himself, and from this he made an image all of gold, and set it up to represent himself. In the company were three men, Jewish captives, who had been placed in office by Nebuchadnezzar. When the sound of music was heard, and the whole company prostrated themselves, those three men stood up, and certain ones went and told the king. He was furious with rage, and commanded them to bring the three men before him, and he said unto them, "Is it true, O Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego, do ye not serve my gods, nor worship the golden image which I have set up?" "I tell you that whosoever does not fall down and worship this image will be cast into the burning fiery furnace." "Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego answered and said unto the King Nebuchadnezzar, We are not careful to answer thee in this matter. If it be so, our God whom we serve is able to deliver us from the burning fiery furnace, and He will deliver us out of thine hand, O king. But if not, be it known unto thee, O king, that we will not serve thy gods, nor worship the golden image which thou hast set up."

At this answer Nebuchadnezzar was all the more enraged, and commanded that the furnace should be heated seven times hotter than it was wont to be, and that the three men should be cast in. Why, he said, I am Nebuchadnezzar, the king of Babylon; God Himself has ordained me. What right have these men to disobey my commands? And we have the prophecy concerning Nebuchadnezzar in Jer. 27:5-7: "I have made the earth, the man and the beast that are upon the ground, by My great power and by My outstretched arm, and have given it unto whom it seemed meet unto Me. And now have I given all these lands into the hand of Nebuchadnezzar the king of Babylon, My servant; and the beasts of the field have I given him also to serve him. And all nations shall serve him, and his son, and his son's son, until the very time of his land come: and then many nations and great kings shall serve themselves of him." "And he commanded the most mighty men of his army to bind Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego, and to cast them into the burning fiery furnace. Therefore, because the king's commandment was urgent, and the furnace exceeding hot, the flame of the fire slew those men that took up Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego. And these three men, Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego, fell down bound into the midst of the burning fiery furnace. Then Nebuchadnezzar the king was astonied, and rose up in haste and spake, and said unto his counsellors, Did we not cast three men bound into the midst of the fire? They answered and said unto the king,

Page 50 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 51

True, O king. He answered and said, Lo, I see four men loose, walking in the midst of the fire, and they have no hurt; and the form of the fourth is like the Son of God. Then Nebuchadnezzar came near to the mouth of the burning fiery furnace, and spake, and said, Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego, ye servants of the most high God, come forth, and come hither. Then Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego came forth of the midst of the fire. And the princes, governors, and captains, and king's counsellors, being gathered together saw these men, upon whose bodies the fire had no power, nor was an hair of their head singed, neither were their coats changed, nor the smell of fire had passed on them."

THE LESSON.

What was the lesson in this for the king? God was saying to Nebuchadnezzar, "You are out of your place. You are My servant; I gave you authority, but not to exercise in My realm. Any command you give contrary to My commands, I will bring it to confusion." And the lesson is for us in this day. When Caesar gets out of his place, and steps across the line that divides things civil from things moral, God says, "Get back into your place."

MEDO-PERSIA SUCCEEDED BABYLON.

Just according to the prophecy, Nebuchadnezzar, his son, and his son's son ruled the kingdom. We will read the record in Daniel. "Belshazzar the king made a great feast to a thousand of his lords, and drank wine before the thousand." And he commanded to bring in the gold and silver vessels which his grandfather had taken of the temple of the Lord. But Belshazzar trembled, and sent for his wise men to read the writing, but no man among them could read it. Then they told him of a man who had interpreted a vision

for his grandfather. He commanded him to be sent for, and Daniel was brought before the king. "And this is the writing that was written, Mene, Mene, Tekel, Upharsin. This is the interpretation of the thing: Mene, God hath numbered thy kingdom and finished it. Tekel; Thou are weighed in the balances, and art found wanting. Peres; Thy kingdom is divided and given to the Medes and Persians. In that night was Belshazzar the king of the Chaldeans slain. And Darius the Median took the kingdom." God had raised up this new kingdom; for we have the prophecy of the fall of Babylon in Isa. 21:2: "A grevious vision is declared unto me; the treacherous dealer dealeth treacherously, and the spoiler spoileth. Go up, O Elam; besiege, O Media." It was in God's providence that Babylon fell.

And now we have another lesson.

DANIEL IN THE LIONS DEN.

After Darius had taken the kingdom, we find that Daniel was preferred above the other princes of the kingdom, and that he was made first president of the realm. That of course roused envy, and the men went to work to get his place. They went to king Darius, and said, "King Darius, live forever. All the presidents of the kingdom, the governors, and the princes, the counsellors and the captains, have consulted together to establish a royal statute, and to make a firm decree, that whosoever shall ask a petition of any god or man for thirty days, save of thee, O king, he shall be cast into the den of lions. Now, O king, establish the decree, and sign the writing, that it be not changed, according to the law of the Medes and Persians, which altereth not. Wherefore king Darius signed the writing and the decree.

"Now when Daniel knew that the writing was signed he went into his house; and his windows being open in his chamber toward Jerusalem, he kneeled upon his knees three times a day, and prayed, and gave thanks before his God, as he did aforetime." He had been accustomed to pray three times a day, and when king Darius forbade him to pray to God, he paid no attention whatever. He did not close his window and sit in his chair, so that they would not know whether he was praying or not. He got down on his knees and prayed as he had aforetime.

Now these men had had just what they wanted. They had heard Daniel pray. No doubt they had heard him pray before that, but they were interested in this prayer. Then these men came unto the king and said, "That Daniel, which is of the children of the captivity of Judah, regardeth not thee, O king, nor the decree that thou hast signed, but maketh his petition three times a day. Then the king when he heard these words, was sore displeased with himself, and set his heart on Daniel to deliver him: and he labored till the going down of the sun to deliver him. Then these men assembled unto the king, and said unto the king, Know, O king, that the law of the Medes and Persians is, That no decree nor statute which the king established may be changed. Then the king commanded, and they brought Daniel, and cast him into the den of lions. Now the king spake and said unto Daniel, Thy God, whom thou servest continually, He will deliver thee. And a stone was brought and laid upon the mouth of the den; and king sealed it with his own signet, and with the signet of his lords; that the purpose might not be changed concerning Daniel. Then the king went to his palace and passed the night fasting: neither were instruments of music brought before him: and his sleep went from him. Then the king arose very early in the morning, and went in haste unto the den of lions. And when he came to the den he cried with a lamentable voice unto Daniel: and the king spake and said to Daniel, O Daniel, servant of the living God, is thy God whom thou servest continually able to deliver thee from the lions? Then said Daniel unto the king, O king, live forever. My God hath sent His angel and hath shut the lions' mouths, that they have not hurt me; forasmuch as before Him innocency was found in me; and also before thee,

O king, have I done no hurt." What! had he not broken the law?—Yes; but the king was out of his place in making it, and therefore it was no offence to go contrary to it. And God showed this to be so.

What is the lesson?—God is saying, Caesar, "Keep out of My realm; keep on your own side of the fence. The minute you come over here I give My subjects perfect right to disobey you. I will stand by them in it." And He did.

Thus the contest between civil encroachments on the domains of God and fidelity to God went on till Jesus Christ came. Then the Roman Empire filled the world. Macaulay says of it: "It was the sublimest incarnation of power, and a monument, the mightiest of greatness built by human hands, which has upon this planet been suffered to appear." When Jesus Christ came, all the attention paid to Him was to put His name down and tax Him the same as they had the cattle. But He had a mission to this world, and that was to bring freedom to the mind, to bring freedom to the thought, to deliver the captives that were bound by the power of sin. He was to present the character of God and to preach the kingdom of God. We can read that in the very first of the gospel by Mark. "Now after that John was put in prison, Jesus came into Galilee, preaching the gospel of the kingdom of God, and saying, The time is fulfilled, and the kingdom of God is at hand: repent ye, and believe the gospel." Mark 1:14, 15.

The Roman Empire had gods many and lords many, but the one god that stood over all was the Roman state itself. They regarded Caesar, the head of the government, as divine, and they worshipped him as the very incarnation of the government. They reasoned thus: "Rome has conquered the world. The gods of Rome have done this, and chief among them is the Roman state." This religion of theirs was not a theory; it was wondrous practical, and I think I will take the time to read a brief extract from Gibbon on this point:—

"The religion of the nations was not merely a speculative doctrine professed in the schools or preached in the temples. The innumerable deities

Page 52 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 53

and rites of polytheism were closely interwoven with every circumstance of business or pleasure, of public or of private life; and it seemed impossible to escape the observance of them, without, at the same time, renouncing the commerce of mankind and all the offices and amusements of society. ... The public spectacles were an essential part of the cheerful devotion of the pagans, and the gods were supposed to accept, as the most grateful offering, the games that the prince and the people celebrated in honour of their peculiar customs. The Christian, who with pious horror, avoided the abomination of the circus or the theatre, found himself encompassed with infernal snares in every convivial entertainment, as often as his friends, invoking the hospitable deities, poured out libations to each other's happiness. When the bride, struggling with well- affected reluctance, was forced in hymeneal pomp over the threshold of her new habitation, or when the sad procession of the dead slowly moved toward the funeral pile, the Christian, on these interesting occasions, was compelled to desert the persons who were dearest to him, rather than contract the guilt inherent to those pious ceremonies. Every art and every trade that was in the least concerned in the framing or adorning of idols, was polluted by the stain of idolatry.

"The dangerous temptations which on every side lurked in ambush to surprise the unguarded believer, assailed him with redoubled violence on the day of solemn festivals. So artfully were they framed and disposed throughout the year, that superstition always wore the appearance of pleasure, and often of virtue. ... On the days of general festivity, it was the custom of the ancients to adorn their doors with lamps and with branches of laurel, and to crown their heads with garland of flowers. This innocent and elegant practice might have been tolerated as a mere civil institution. But it most unluckily happened that the doors were under the protection of the household gods, that the laurel was sacred to the

lover of Daphne, and that garland of flowers, though frequently worn as a symbol of either joy or mourning, had been dedicated in their first origin to the service of superstition. The trembling Christians who were persuaded in this instance to comply with the fashions of their country and the commands of the magistrates, laboured under the most gloomy apprehensions from the reproaches of their own conscience, the censures of the church, and the denunciations of Divine vengeance."

And it was so that the Christian could hardly turn round, could not go to the funeral or marriage of a friend, because of the idolatrous practices interwoven with these ceremonies. His Christianity completely separated him from his friends, from the government, for the Romans would have no interference with their religion. According to Neander they had a law declaring that, "whoever introduces new religions, the tendency and character of which are unknown, whereby the minds of men may be disturbed, shall, if belonging to the higher rank, be banished; if to the lower, punished with death."

CHRIST AND THE ROMAN LAW.

Jesus Christ was one of the lower rank, and He went up and down in Judea, teaching a new religion. The Pharisees knew this, and although they hated and despised the Roman government, although they plotted to overthrow it, although they hoped that Jesus Christ, when He came, would lead a revolution against it, yet when they saw that that was not His plan, they purposed to get the Roman government to overthrow Him. And when it came to His trial, they tried to get a condemnation from Pilate on the charge of blasphemy: for, they said, "He made Himself the Son of God." "When Pilate therefore heard that saying, he was the more afraid: and went again into the judgment hall, and saith unto Jesus, Whence

art Thou? But Jesus gave him no answer." Pilate tried to release Him, "but the Jews cried out saying, If thou let this man go, thou art not Caesar's friend; whosoever maketh himself a king speaketh against Caesar." And Pilate knew that if he did not accede to their request that there would a word go to Tiberius the cruel, "Pilate your governor has allowed an insurrection to go on here, and has refused to have anything to say against it." And so he did what they wanted him to do. What was the charge?—Unfriendly to Caesar. That was the charge on which Jesus Christ was put to death. It was *contrary to the law* for Him to teach a new religion, but He did it. And for this they put Him to death.

THE APOSTLES AND THE POWERS THAT BE.

He was raised from the dead, and called His disciples together, and said to them, "Go ye into all the world, and preach the gospel to every creature." Go throughout the whole Roman Empire and preach the gospel to every creature; yet He knew that that was directly contrary to the law of Rome. The disciples went and preached as they were instructed, and then the civil authorities came down upon them. The disciples were put in prison, but "the angel of the Lord by night opened the doors and brought them forth and said, Go, stand and speak in the temple to the people all the words of this life. And when they heard that, they entered into the temple early in the morning and taught. But the high priest came and they that were with him, and called the council together, and all the senate of the children of Israel, and sent to the prison to have them brought. But when the officers came and found them not in the prison, they returned and told, saying, The prison truly found we shut with all safety, and the keepers standing without before the doors; but when we had opened, we found no man within. Now when the high priest and the captain of the

temple heard these things, they doubted of them whereunto this would grow. Then came one, and told them, saying, Behold, the men whom ye put in prison are standing in the temple and teaching the people. Then went the captain with the officers, and brought them without violence; for they feared the people, lest they should have been stoned. And when they had brought them, they set them before the council, and the high priest asked them, saying, Did we not straightly command you that ye should not teach in this name? And behold, ye have filled Jerusalem with your doctrine, and intend to bring this man's blood upon us. Then Peter and the other apostles answered, and said, We ought to obey God rather than man." Yet it was contrary to law.

Paul, who had himself been a persecutor, after he had been converted took Barnabas, and went out preaching, contrary to law. They passed through Asia Minor preaching the word, and on coming to Phillippi, healed a woman possessed of an evil spirit. "But when her master saw that the hope of their gains was gone, they caught Paul and Silas, and drew them into the market place unto the rulers. And brought them to the Magistrates, saying, These men, being Jews, do exceedingly trouble our city." They did not trouble the city at all. They simply took away from the man his hope of gain. They shut them in prison, but the prison doors were thrown open,—God's way of teaching them a lesson.

Again, we have the experience of the apostles in the 17th chapter of Acts. "Paul, as his manner was, went in unto them, and three Sabbath days reasoned with them out of the Scriptures, opening and alleging, that Christ must needs have suffered, and risen again from the dead; and that this Jesus, whom I preach unto you, is Christ. And some of them believed, and consorted with Paul and Silas; and of the devout Greeks a great multitude, and of the chief women not a few. But the Jews, which believed not, moved with envy, took unto them certain lewd fellows of the baser

Page 54 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 55

sort, and gathered a company, and set all the city on an uproar, and assaulted the house of Jason, and sought to bring them out to the people. And when they found them not, they drew Jason, and certain brethren unto the rulers of the city, crying, These that have turned the world upside down are come hither also." And these men, that had themselves put the whole town in an uproar, took these noble men, and brought them to the magistrates, and said, "These men have turned the whole world upside down."

At every step the apostles were hounded with that law, and yet Christ said, "Go, ye into all the world, and preach the gospel to every creature." They fought it out, and bled and died, and kept the fight up for centuries, till the Roman Empire was compelled to yield. That is what brought

LIBERTY INTO THE WORLD.

God was saying to Caesar, "Keep on your side of the fence. Let My subjects teach in My realm." This had to be learned over and over again. It had to be learned in the Reformation; but the liberty that was preserved in the Dark Ages, and the liberty that we have today, we owe to the establishment of that principle that Caesar has to do with the things of Caesar, and God with the things of God. God will take care of His followers in doing this, and He commands everyone of them to render unto Caesar the things that are Caesar's when he stays in his own realm.

RESULTS OF CHURCH AND STATE UNION.

Let me say further, that unless these things are kept separate as God has put them, it will destroy both the church and the state. When the Jews crucified Christ, they said, "His blood be upon us and our children forever," and it was. Of all the horrible pages of history the most horrible is the siege of Jerusalem, when mothers ate their

own children; but these things came upon them because they mixed the things of God and the things of Caesar, and took hold of the arm of Caesar to control the things of God. They suffered the penalty. Their nation as a nation was at that time brought low, and has never recovered. And the lesson is the same today. Let me say that any religion that needs the support of Caesar is not worth supporting. I care not what religion it is. Jesus Christ did not call for Caesar to help Him. He depended upon the power and the love of God to win for Him. And they have won. The Roman Empire has gone down in destruction, but the kingdom of Jesus Christ lives; for it is not of this world. It is founded on eternal principles. It lives and will live. But any church that fancies it necessary to call upon Caesar for help is not worthy to live. It had better die. Any church that asks Caesar for help, any church that accepts the proffered help, is not a Christian Church; it is Caesarian. Any form of Christianity that fancies it necessary to get the support of the civil power is ready to die.

THESE LESSONS FOR US TODAY.

These lessons, written on the pages of sacred history, wherein God has put underlying principles, are for us today. What means it that in every land there is a growing desire to put together the things that God has separated? I have reports from every land of the desire to unite the church and the state. There is a demand made for it, and I regret to say that the demand comes from the side of the church. What does it mean? It is a sign of the times. I want to tell you my friends, that this seeking for the aid of Caesar on the part of the church, is the published confession before God and man that the church has lost the power of God. When a church has the power of God it despises the power of Caesar; it wants none of it. Think of exchanging the power of God and the religion of Jesus Christ for the power of man and hypocrisy; because all that Caesar can do is to control the actions. God has made the mind free, and even Jesus Christ, who came to save the world, said, "If any man believe not, I judge him not." He came not to condemn, but to save.

When the church takes the power of the civil government to aid in anything that pertains to the things of God, it is a published confession, before God, before all heaven, and before man,—a confession that Christianity should blush to make, that it has lost the power God has given it. Christ said, "All power in heaven and earth is given unto Me." Who would exchange that power for the paltry power of Caesar? This is for us. Have nothing to do with it. Let alone that cursed union between church and state, which has wrought the misery of the ages, and has written in blood thousands of pages of history, and slain millions of martyrs. Have you not seen enough of it to understand the ruin it will cause? Will you not say, God rather than Caesar; religion rather than hypocrisy?

Civil government cannot touch religion at any point, it matters not where it is, without involving a mixture which will bring trouble to both the church and the state. "Render therefore unto Caesar the things which are Caesar's; and unto God the things that are God's." God will bless, sustain, and keep everyone that does this. No matter at what sacrifice—houses, friends, property,—obey God rather than man. Everyone who desires to make his religion practical is earnestly urged to keep these principles in mind.

G. Nov. 9, 1895, Armadale Campmeeting Talk, "Christ Our Example," *The Bible Echo*, Feb. 3 & 10, 1896.

CHRIST OUR EXAMPLE

"Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest. Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me; for I am meek and lowly in heart; and ye shall find rest unto your souls. For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light." Matt. 11:28-30.

I wish especially to call attention to these words: "Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me." Everybody knows that Christ is our example in the Christian life. It would be useless for me to take your time or mine to set forth that fact. There are a great many who desire to imitate the example of Christ, a great many who do not know how, and the purpose of our study this afternoon will be, if possible, to help some one to know how to do this. I take it for granted that every Christian knows that he ought to be like Christ. There is no teaching of the Scripture more plain than this, and the promise is, that while the disciple is not above his teacher, yet every one who is perfected, will be as his teacher. Our purpose is to bring out some simple and plain lessons which, we hope, will be helpful to you in understanding better how to imitate the life of Christ.

THREE DEFINITE POINTS.

We might wander over a great deal of ground in this matter, and occupy our whole time, without getting anything very definite in our minds. But I want to get two or three lessons fixed; for they are the foundation of every other lesson, and with them all the other lessons come of themselves. To make the point definite in our minds with reference to learning of Him, I want to set before you three points.

We are to imitate the example of Christ in living *in God* and *with God* and *for God*. How shall we live, as did Christ in God, with God, and for God?

CHRIST THE BRANCH.

Christ was the very revelation of God, the life of God in the earth. In Zech. 6:12 the prophet says of Him: "Behold the man whose name is the Branch; and He shall grow up out of His place [not in the wrong place, but where He is; He will grow up out of His place], and He shall build the temple of the Lord." Christ is here spoken of as the branch, and He was the branch of God. But

Page 56 1895 Evangelism Page 57

His root was in heaven; and in being the branch of God to this world, He is, in another sense, the arm of God. God was in heaven, but He was reaching down in Jesus Christ to get hold of the world. *As the branch*, Christ grew as the branch, in order to be something visible to the world. God is in clouds and darkness; but He wanted to reveal Himself to a world that had been cut off by sin, so Christ came as a branch of Himself.

THE HIDDEN SOURCE OF LIFE.

You know that the roots of a tree are hidden underneath; but they are the secret sources of life, and that which appears, which we call the tree, is after all but the root which comes up in sight. Christ was the branch to the world, but His root was hidden in God, and He was made manifest that the world might see what God is. Christ's life, when He was here in the flesh, was in God, and He depended on God just as much for life for His service here as we are obliged to depend upon God. To be sure, He had life; "for as the Father hath life in Himself, so hath He given to the Son to have life in Himself." But when, He came here to be the revelation of God to the world, and an example to humanity, He put Himself in the very place of humanity; and as humanity was weak, He became weak for humanity's sake. As humanity was dependent wholly upon a power outside of itself, so He became dependent. And He said, "As the living Father hath sent Me, and I live by the Father: so he that eateth Me, even he shall live by Me."

He took that place of dependence, that position of weakness, in order that He might pass through the experience of those whom He came to save; His life was hid in God, and He depended wholly upon God and upon the ministry of angels.

CHRIST'S LIFE IN GOD.

Do not think that the life of Christ here was a life of ease because He was the divine Son of God.

He was the divine Son of God, but He veiled that divinity. Behold the wondrous condescension of God in Christ. Although He had power, yet He laid it down, and became dependent. This is stated in Scriptures. The Gospel of John is the great gospel of life. We turn to it when we want to learn about life. In this Gospel Christ says, "If I do not the works of My Father, believe Me not. But if I do, though ye believe not Me, believe the works; that ye may know, and believe, that the Father is in Me, and I in Him."

While it is true that Jesus Christ was divinity veiled in humanity, it is also true that He was humanity enshrined in divinity. In His humanity He hung Himself upon His Father for help, for strength, for all that He needed as humanity; in His divinity, the Father dwelt in Him, and worked through Him. He was divinity in humanity, the roots reaching to heaven, but He was humanity enshrined in divinity. So He says in John 14:10: "Believest thou not that I am in the Father, and the Father in Me? the words that I speak unto you, I speak not of Myself; but the Father that dwelleth in Me, He doeth the works." And He asked for His disciples, "That they all may be one; as Thou, Father, art in Me, and I in Thee." John 17:21. Christ was that union of the divine and the human, which is the perfection of humanity, because of divinity working in and through humanity.

"No man hath seen God at any time; the only begotten Son, which is in the bosom of the Father, He hath declared Him." John 1:18. Notice the statement. It does not say, "who came from the bosom of the Father," but "which is in the bosom of the Father." There was such a union between Christ and His Father that where Christ was, there the Father was. And He was in the bosom of the Father while here upon earth, His life hid in God for our sakes.

Now we will notice

CHRIST'S LIFE WITH GOD;

that is to say, His communion with God, His fellowship with God. While His life was with God, it must also flow out through humanity, and Christ, by putting Himself in the position of humanity, puts Himself in the place of the empty vine, that must be filled from the Father. He puts Himself in that position where, by His communion with God, He received from God what He gave to the world. In His last prayer He said, "For I have given unto them the words which Thou gavest Me;" "and the glory which Thou gavest Me I have given them." John 17:8, 22.

He stood between God and man, to receive from God on His divine side, to hand out on His human side, and to make a complete connection between the divine and the human. But in putting Himself there, He subjected Himself to the same conditions that we find in us. He had nothing in Himself, He emptied Himself, and became a channel of blessing and light and power and life and glory to man. What He brought to the world, He brought because the Father gave it to Him, and He must needs go to the Father to get what the Father would have Him give to the world, because of His dependence.

CHRIST'S SOURCE OF STRENGTH.

So we find Christ going often to the Father for communion, seeking from Him strength. Let us read two or three scriptures that will emphasise this. "In the morning rising up a great while before day, He went out, and departed into a solitary place, and there prayed." Mark 1:35. Why?—Because He had a day before Him of revealing the Father, a day before Him of giving God to the people, and He must needs rise a great while before day, and go to the Father, and in fellowship with Him, in communion with Him, He must receive from Him what He was to give to the people.

"Now when all the people were baptised, it came to pass that Jesus also being baptised, and praying, the heaven was opened, and the Holy Ghost descended in a bodily shape like a dove upon Him, and a voice came from heaven which said, Thou art My beloved Son, in whom I am well pleased." Luke 3:21, 22. The heavens were opened to Christ when He prayed; the heavens will be opened to us when we pray.

"And it came to pass about an eight days after these sayings, He took Peter and John and James, and

WENT UP INTO A MOUNTAIN TO PRAY.

And as He prayed, the fashion of His countenance was altered, and His raiment was white and glistering." Luke 9:28, 29. But let me tell you He prayed more than a short prayer that night. Christ prayed His short prayers in public; but when He went to commune with God in the night season, then it was that He poured out His soul before God, reaching out in His weakness, and clinging to God, not simply for Himself, but for all the people, for our sakes, that He might grasp divine power; and it was while He was praying that the fashion of His countenance was altered.

It was when Moses was in the presence of God that his face shone with glory, so that when he came out the people could not stand before him. It was when Christ, as our representative, prayed that night on the mountain till His disciples fell asleep and the dews of night fell on Him, that the heavens were opened to Him. It is in our communion with God that glory rests upon us, and our filthy garments are changed to the white robes of Christ's righteousness.

CHRIST'S LIFE FOR GOD.

And so it was in answer to His communion with the Father that He received from God the blessings He gave to humanity; but now, having a life *in* God, maintained by fellowship *with* God, that life of power is to be spent *for* God. Christ's life was a life of sacrifice, a life of service for God;

Page 58 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 59

He was a representative of God as well as the representative of humanity. He was sent here to represent the divine character, but also to show that it is possible for that divine character to be revealed in humanity.

Do not think that God is some far-away being. The life and experience of Christ were to show to the world that God can dwell in humanity; that God has made humanity as a temple for His own indwelling, and Christ received the very presence of the Father to dwell in His humanity, to show that humanity can be a temple for the living God.

Christ spent His life wholly in service for God. All the strength received from the Father in His hours of prayer went out in ministry. He fed the people, taught them, laboured for them, and He became weary as He walked up and down Judea, giving His life for the people. And He ended it by giving His life on the cross for them. That is the life of Christ, in God, with God, and for God.

CHRIST'S LIFE TO BE REPEATED IN US.

I delight to dwell upon that picture, and to have it presented before our minds; but I want to tell you that the only reason that picture is recorded on the page of history is because it is God's intention that the same experience shall be lived over again in us. It is God's purpose that we shall be like Christ, and He has made provision that we shall be. I know we are weak, I know we are helpless, I know we are unworthy; but I know that God has made wondrous provision. God knew that we were unworthy; but He made the provision that through just such humanity as there is here today, if they will have faith in Christ, He will reveal His character, and make them channels of blessing to the world. That is God's design for us, and let us rejoice in the thought; let us take our eyes off the cheap, common things, and low grades of Christian experience, and look up to the throne of God and of Christ, our Advocate,

who is there to intercede for us. Let us believe that God intends a wonderful experience for us in His Son. His plan is to do it, and His grace is sufficient.

Our lives, just like Christ's are to be in God, with God, for God. "Ye are dead, and your life is hid with Christ in God." That experience is for us, and we are to realise every day that we have no life in ourselves; that we have no power in ourselves; but that all our life and power must come from Christ. Our life, like Christ's, must be between the mountain and the multitude, going up into the mountain with God get what He has for us, that we may bring it down to give to the people.

When Christ fed the thousands by His miracles, He Himself did not give the bread to the people; but He blessed it and brake it, and gave it to His disciples, and they gave it to the people. We are to go to Him, and He will bless the loaf, and give it to us; and then, as a loaf blessed of Him, and having in it life and salvation, we are to bring it to the people. And so we must continue

OUR LIFE OF FELLOWSHIP WITH GOD.

And this life of fellowship must be, in every detail, like Christ's. We must be born in the Spirit as was He born in the Spirit; we must be baptised of the Holy Spirit as was He. When we go to temptation, we must go as He did,—led of the Spirit; when we return from victory over temptation, we must return as He did, in the power of the Spirit. When we preach we must say as He did— "The Spirit of the Lord is upon Me, because He hath anointed Me to preach the gospel to the poor; He hath sent Me to heal the broken-hearted, to preach deliverance to the captives, and recovering of sight to the blind, to set at liberty them that are bruised." Luke 4:18. He was baptised of the Holy Spirit, and "went about doing good." He would even go out of His way

to give somebody the opportunity of receiving benefit from Him. His was a life of service and self-sacrifice, and He calls upon us to follow His example, not in our own strength, but with a life in God, rooted in heaven. He bids us come boldly to the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need.

LEARNING BY SERVICE.

Our life, being a life with God in the power of the Spirit, must also be a life for God. We are kept many times from the fulness of this experience by being afraid of God. We are afraid that if we unreservedly and fully give ourselves up to God and say, "Whether I live or die, whether in sickness or health, all my life shall be for God," that God will call us to something that we do not want; and it is that very fear that keeps God from revealing Himself to us and in us. God does not reveal Himself by telling about Himself; but He says, "Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me." By service learn.

We do not enter the school of Christ to have Him tell us the theory of the Christian life simply as something to be studied out ourselves. God gives us knowledge of Himself by revealing Himself *in* us, and when He wants us to know the experience of faith and the victory of faith, He leads us up to a Red Sea, that He may teach us what this victory means. It is by living with God that we learn God. Our heads may be filled with a great many theories; but they will all be useless unless we know what God is by seeing what He does for us, by seeing what He can do for those that believe in Him, by being in Him, and letting Him work.

We have a great many lessons to learn about God, and the fundamental lesson is, "Walk in the light." Everything depends upon light. Take it away and the flowers will die. They must live in the light. Take away the light of God from us, and our Christian experience perishes, but the

light goes on. It is not stationary; it moves, and we must move with it in order to keep the light we have, and open the channel for more light.

Let us notice now our life for God.

DENYING SELF.

In Matt. 16:24 we read, "Then said Jesus unto His disciples, If any man will come after Me, let him deny himself and take up his cross and follow Me." "Let him deny himself." Those words have a much broader meaning than staying away from some place of amusement, or giving up eating something that pleases the palate. They mean the sacrifice of self, the disinheriting of self, the emptying out of self, the very denial of self. Peter denied Christ when he said, "I know Him not," and we are to treat self in exactly the same way. Does self rise up and claim recognition? then say, "I know you not." Just as distinctly as Peter three times denied his Lord, so we, when self rises up and wants to control us, are to say, "I do not know you; I will have nothing to do with you." Deny self, disinherit self, let self die, and keep it dead, too.

Said Paul, "I protest by your rejoicing, which I have in Christ Jesus our Lord, I die daily." I Cor. 15:31. Many people are troubled in their Christian experience because self is continually rising. "Why," they say, "I thought yesterday that I had gained a complete victory, and that self was crucified." Self was crucified just as long as the faith that cast self out kept it out, but just the moment that that faith wavers, self rises up and asserts its power. The faith which puts self to death must keep it dead. Self must be crucified daily and hourly through faith in Jesus Christ.

"Then said Jesus unto His disciples, If any man will come after Me, let him deny himself, and take up his cross and follow Me." I would like to impress upon your minds today what is included in the cross of Christ. Let us spell it.

C.—Crucifixion. The very first letter and

Page 60 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 61

the very first lesson of the cross. Said Paul in his letter to the Galatians, "I am crucified with Christ: nevertheless I live; yet not I, but Christ liveth in me: and the life which I now live in the flesh I live by the faith of the Son of God, who loved me and gave Himself for me." Gal. 2:20. He said again in this same letter, "God forbid that I should glory save in the cross of our Lord Jesus Christ, by whom the world is crucified unto me, and I unto the world." Gal. 6:14. Taking up the cross means the death of self; bearing the cross means dying daily, self- death, keeping self dead. That is crucifixion, the very first letter of the cross, but I want to tell you that there is another letter.

R.—Resurrection. After crucifixion there is a rising again. "For if we have been planted together in the likeness of His death, we shall be also in the likeness of His resurrection." Rom. 6:5. I like the Revised Version of this verse, which reads, "For if we have been united with the likeness of His crucifixion, we shall be also with the likeness of His resurrection" (margin). If you spell

C, you can spell R. For "like as Christ was raised up from the dead by the glory of the Father, even so we also should walk in newness of life." Christ lived this life on the earth for our sakes; He was crucified for our offences, but He was raised again for our justification. We do not need to mourn; for He who made heaven and earth is our Saviour, and He lives today for us. He said when He was here, "All power upon heaven and earth is given unto Me." He gained this power by His death, and when He was raised up, He was raised up to newness of life. "In that He died, He died unto sin once, but in that He lives, He lives unto God. Likewise reckon ye yourselves to be dead indeed unto sin, but alive unto God through Jesus Christ our Lord." And the new life to which we are raised is not the old life of self, but it is the life of Jesus Christ,—that divine-human life, which is not simply the life of God apart from flesh, nor the life of flesh apart from God, but the life of

God which has been wrought into human flesh. That life comes to us in our resurrection from the crucifixion of self. Where self dies Christ lives; where the old man is buried, the new man is raised to life; where the old man lived in sin, the new man walks with God. It is the resurrection life in the power of Christ's resurrection.

Said Paul in his letter to the Philippians, I count everything that I ever thought was worth anything, as loss, "for the excellency of the knowledge of Jesus Christ my Lord." As less than nothing I hold the experiences of the past, "that I may know Him and the power of His resurrection." It is the resurrection power that we Christians need; it is the resurrection life that we must have; and I thank God that it is the resurrection life that is provided. Do not be satisfied with anything short of that. It is God's free gift in Jesus Christ. I would that I could arouse everyone that has the least spark of faith in Jesus Christ, to lay hold largely upon His power. There is no danger of our exhausting the supply; infinite are His resources; infinite His love; infinite His desire for us. He is only waiting for us to grasp it by faith. I thank God that it is so.

O.—Obedience. That goes with the cross. To everyone who thinks that he cannot obey God's law, I would say, Obey the gospel. If you are afraid of the law, obey the gospel, that is enough. What happens to those who do not obey the gospel?—"And to you who are troubled, rest with us, when the Lord Jesus shall be revealed from heaven with His mighty angels, in flaming fire taking vengeance on them that know not God, and that *obey not the gospel of our Lord Jesus Christ.*" 2 Thess. 1:7-9. Friends, obey the gospel, and I will risk the law. Obey the gospel, because we have found in the plainest possible manner that the gospel is simply the *law in Christ*.

Read 2 Cor. 10:5, and it will show us to what extent this obedience is to go. "Casting down imaginations, and every high thing that exalteth itself against the knowledge of God,

and bringing into captivity every thought to the obedience of Christ." He who does not obey the gospel in thought, does not obey the gospel at all. He who does not obey the truth in thought, does not obey the truth at all. No outward life can satisfy; it must be the inmost life of the soul; and the outward life, after all, will be but the revealing of what is within. "Out of the abundance of the heart the month speaketh." And the glory of every pure thought and holy deed we are to give to Him who loved us and gave Himself for us. Obedience stands right in the centre of the cross.

S.—Sacrifice. That sacrifice which offers up self,—self-sacrifice: the complete yielding of everything to God, the entire consecration which lays everything upon God's altar, and cares not for the opinion of men, but looks to God for His opinion; which cares not for the words of men, but looks to God in Jesus Christ for His word; which lives the life He lived in the flesh, by the faith of the Son of God, who loved us and gave Himself for us.

S.—Service. A life given up to God, devoted wholly to God. Christ's mission here was to save the lost, and it is the mission of every representative of His to do the same work. Let me tell you, my friends, in the fear of God, that we will not stand clear in His sight if we have not laboured for Him. Selfishness has no place in heaven. And unless we get rid of self, we can never go to heaven. Jesus Christ is the only One who can take us there; self will drag us down to hell. Let Jesus Christ lift us up. Let us consecrate our lives and all we have to the service of God. It is all His anyway. How much I ask you, is it to give to God what belongs to Him already? Anything short of this sacrifice is robbing God. We are His by creation and by redemption. In the mouth of two witnesses shall it be established that we are His. Then act as though we were His, and let Him act as though we were

The very purpose of the life of Christ in heaven now is that the image of God may appear in our lives. Christ lived His life here in the flesh to show

us what the image of God is; but He is not satisfied with that. He wants us to co-operate with Him in letting that life be lived again in us. Christ told His disciples just before ascending that He would send His Holy Spirit to dwell in them. God's purpose, and I would that this thought might be burned in our minds, is that the very life that Christ lived shall be lived by His followers. And we live that life by our submission and willingness to give up our own way and let God be glorified in Jesus Christ.

That is Christian life. I would that I could impress upon every Christian what it is his privilege to be. If you have not known it, take hold of Jesus Christ. God is able to do great things for us. He has promised to do great things for us, and His promises never fail; they are today yea and amen in Jesus Christ. What God wants us to do is to have faith in them, and treat Him as our loving Father, who has given us all things in Jesus Christ.

Now we have the cross,—Crucifixion, resurrection, obedience, sacrifice, service. It begins with the death of self; it rises into a new life, even the life of Christ; it shows itself in implicit obedience to God in Jesus Christ; it gives itself a sacrifice to others; for says the Scripture, "Hereby perceive we the love of God, because He laid down His life for us; and we ought to lay down our lives for the brethren." 1 John 3:16. "The Son of man came not to be ministered unto, but to minister, and to give His life a ransom for many." "For whosoever will save his life shall lose it; and whosoever will lose his life for My sake shall find it." Matt. 10:25. He who holds on to self will perish with self; he who lets go of self will live in Jesus Christ, and will find a life that measures with the life of God.

GIVING UP SELF ONLY A QUESTION OF TIME.

It is only a question with us of when we are going to give up this life. You are, I know, very well aware that the days of our life are but "threescore years and ten; and if by reason of strength

Page 62 1895 Evangelism Page 63

they be fourscore years, yet is their strength labour and sorrow; for it is soon cut off, and we fly away." Ps. 90:10. Shall we give up this life now and receive the life of Christ, or shall we hold to this life until it is taken away from us, and it is too late to receive the life of Christ? We are to meet God face to face. Shall we meet Him in Christ or in self? We are to meet the law of God. Shall we meet that law in Jesus Christ or in ourselves? These experiences must come to everyone. The question for us to settle is, Shall they come to us in Christ or out of Christ? Our safety, our glory, our joy, is in meeting these experiences in Jesus Christ.

DEGREES IN THE SCHOOL OF CHRIST.

I want now to call your attention to the experience of the apostle Paul as a disciple, in the school of Christ. Before his conversion Paul was a disciple in the school of Gamaliel. I do not know what the customs of the Jewish schools were in that time, or whether they conferred any degrees on Paul, but I know that he was a learned man, and I suppose he had gathered up the wisdom of the day as it could be learned in the Jewish schools. Speaking of himself in his letter to the Philippians, he says, "For we are the circumcision, which worship God in the spirit, and rejoice in Christ Jesus, and have no confidence in the flesh. Though I might also have confidence in the flesh. If any other man thinketh that he hath whereof he might trust in the flesh, I more. Circumcised the eighth day, of the stock of Israel, of the tribe of Benjamin, an Hebrew of the Hebrews; as touching the law, a Pharisee; concerning zeal, persecuting the church; touching the righteousness which is in the law, blameless." And he speaks of this again to the Galatians: "For ye have heard of my conversation in time past in the Jews' religion, how that beyond measure I persecuted the church of God, and wasted it: and profited in the Jews' religion above many mine equals in mine own nation, being more exceedingly zealous of the traditions of my fathers." Phil. 3:3-6; Gal. 1:13, 14. That is where Paul stood when he entered the school of Christ. I want to follow his experience in the school of Christ, and see the degrees that he took.

The first degree is:

B. A.—Born Again.

That is the first degree everyone takes in the school of Christ. Writing to the Corinthians Paul says, "And last of all He was seen of me also, as one born out of due time." 1 Cor. 15:8. Christ said, "Marvel not that I said unto thee, Ye must be born again." John 3:7. But right in connection with that "must" is another. And as Moses lifted up the serpent in the wilderness, even so must the Son of man be lifted up. "Ye must be born again," "the Son of man must be lifted up," and in Him is the life for the new birth. The first degree then is Born Again.

The next degree that Paul took was:

M. A.—Moulded Afresh.

Made over completely by the new life. Paul writes of this in Col. 3:9, 10, "Lie not one to another, seeing that ye have put off the old man with his deeds; and have put on the new man which is renewed in knowledge, after the image of Him that created Him." The first degree, Born Again, is conferred upon us in order that the new life dwelling in us may mould and fashion us after the image of God.

The next degree is:

D. D.—Delivered Debtor.

After one has received the new birth, moulding him into the new life, to what then is he debtor? Said Paul, "I am a debtor both to the Greeks
and to the Barbarians; both to the wise and to
the unwise. So, as much as in me is, I am really to
preach the gospel to you that are at Rome also."
Rom. 1:14, 15. He had been delivered, and he
felt himself a debtor to give to others what he had
received. He took this degree and deserved it. His
life was a manifestation that he was indeed a D. D.

in Christ, a delivered debtor, who gave his life to give to others what God had given him.

I think Paul took the next degree also, that of: **LL. D.**—Life Lovingly Dedicated.

These are the genuine degrees in God's school, Born Again, Moulded Afresh, Delivered Debtor, a Life Lovingly Dedicated. What is this but life in God, life with God, and life for God? That was Paul's experience, and God has set forth that experience for us, because it belongs to every child of God.

We might continue this lesson at great length, but I want these thoughts to abide in your minds. They are a great deal better to talk about and to think about than the cheap, common things of life. Let our minds be filled with the things of God, with the word of God, and then expect God to tell us great things about His word, and to reveal to us the deep things of God. And let us look for these degrees in our lives. No university founded by man can confer these degrees upon anyone, but in the school of Christ they are open to everyone. If anyone wants to carry about with him degrees that are worth something, let him enter the school of Christ, and take the degrees given there.

If you will carry away with you these thoughts today, that God in Jesus Christ lived a life of perfection on earth, and that Jesus Christ now lives in heaven, our great high Priest, making intercession for us, receiving from the Father the promise of His Spirit that He may give it to us, in order that the very same character that appeared in the character of Jesus Christ to the glory of God may appear in you, and if you will believe in God to work that in you by crucifixion, by obedience, by self-sacrifice, by service, God will greatly bless your lives in Jesus Christ.

H. 1895, undated talk, "The Law in Christ; Or, the Relation Between the Law and the Gospel," *The Bible Echo*, April 20 & 27, May 4, 11, 18, & 25, June 1, 1896.

THE LAW IN CHRIST; OR, THE RELATION BETWEEN THE LAW AND THE GOSPEL

All that man has lost through sin has been restored "through the redemption which is in Christ Jesus." "For this purpose the Son of God was manifested that He might destroy [undo] the works of the devil." 1 John 3:8. All this is accomplished for us, "not by works of righteousness which we have done, but according to His mercy He saved us, by the washing of regeneration, and renewing of the Holy Ghost, which He shed on us abundantly through Jesus Christ our Saviour." Titus 3:5, 6.

And yet God does not make His plan of salvation effective for any individual without his co-operation. God has honoured man by bestowing upon him reasoning powers and the freedom of choice, and while man can by no means save himself, yet it is not God's plan to save him contrary to his will. He says to him: "Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord: though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool." Isa. 1:18. "He that will [willeth or chooseth] let him take of the water of life freely." Rev. 22:17, R. V.

In the beginning "God created man in His own image," "in the likeness of God made He him." But this image has been marred and well nigh obliterated by sin. Yet "God so loved the world that He gave His only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish, but have everlasting life" (John 3:16), that thus through Him, "who is the image of the invisible God," man might be "created in Christ Jesus unto good works" (Eph. 2:10), and restored to the image of God, by being "conformed to the image of His Son." Rom. 8:29. The wondrous provisions of God's grace whereby "He might be just, and the justifier of him which believeth in Jesus" (Rom. 3:26) have nothing less than this in view,

Page 64 1895 Evangelism Page 65

that "as we have borne the image of the earthy, we shall also bear the image of the heavenly." 1 Cor. 15:49.

The agency employed by God to bring about this result is called "the gospel," which is defined to be "the power of God unto salvation to every one that believeth." Rom. 1:16. It is "the gospel of your salvation," "the gospel of the grace of God," "the gospel of peace," the same gospel which was "preached before ... unto Abraham" (Gal. 3:8), and afterwards to the children of Israel, "for unto us was the gospel preached, as well as unto them." Heb. 4:2. This gospel of Christ is God's divine power to save believers, "for therein is the righteousness of God revealed." Rom. 1:17. The righteousness of God is revealed in the gospel; and for that reason the gospel "is the power of God unto salvation." It is salvation from sin and restoration to a life of righteousness which are needed, and this experience is provided for us through the incarnation, the death, and the resurrection of Christ, who "was made in the likeness of men," and "who was delivered for our offences, and was raised again for our justification." Rom. 4:25. But this is the gospel; for we read: "Moreover, brethren, I declare unto you the gospel... by which also ye are saved. ... For I delivered unto you first of all that which I also received, how that Christ died for our sins according to the Scriptures; and that He was buried, and that He rose again the third day according to the Scriptures." 1 Cor. 15:1-4.

The efficacy of the gospel is also presented in these words: "For Christ sent me not to baptise, but to preach the gospel; not with wisdom of words, lest the cross of Christ should be made of none effect. For the preaching of the cross is to them that perish foolishness; but unto us which are saved it is the power of God." 1 Cor. 1:17, 18. The gospel is the *power of God* to every one that believeth. A discourse concerning the cross is, to those who are saved, *the power of God*, because the cross of Christ—Christ the crucified Saviour dying for sin—is the central thought of

the gospel. So also we read again: "But we preach Christ crucified, unto the Jews a stumblingblock, and unto the Greeks foolishness; but unto them which are called, both Jews and Greeks, *Christ the power of God* and the wisdom of God." 1 Cor. 1:23, 24.

From these scriptures it is evident that the efficacy of the gospel, its power to salvation, is found in the fact that it is "God's joyful message ... concerning His Son, Jesus Christ our Lord," who is "The Lord our Righteousness." Jer. 23:6. Thus it appears that the gospel becomes the power of God unto salvation because of the righteousness which is revealed in it, and that this righteousness is found only in Christ, and is inseparable from Him. This is "the hope of the gospel ... which is Christ in you the hope of glory: whom we preach, warning every man, and teaching every man in all wisdom; that we may present every man perfect in Christ Jesus." "And ye are complete in Him."

Wrong views concerning our relation to God's plan of salvation for us have arisen from failing to comprehend the fulness of the character of God. While it is true that "He delighteth in mercy" and "taketh pleasure ... in those that hope in His mercy," it is also true that He is "of purer eyes than to behold evil," and that He will "execute judgment and justice in the earth." God requires that His own character, as revealed in Christ, should be the standard of character for His children. "Be ye therefore perfect, even as your Father which is in heaven is perfect." Matt. 5:48. "But as He which hath called you is holy, so be ye holy in all manner of conversation." 1 Peter 1:15.

And abundant provision has been made in Christ that the expectation of God for man may be fully met. For He "hath blessed us with all spiritual blessings in heavenly places [or things] in Christ," and "hath chosen us in Him … that we should be holy and without blame before Him in love," and "hath made us accepted in the beloved." Eph. 1:3, 4, 6. But all this is for a definite

purpose. It is that we "being made free from sin and become servants to God" (Rom. 6:22) should be found "righteous before God, walking in all the commandments and ordinances of the Lord blameless." Luke 1:6. "Thou shalt call His name Jesus, for He shall save His people from their sins." Matt. 1:21. But there is no provision made to save people in their sins.

In order that man may intelligently cooperate with God in His purpose to restore His image in him, God has made a revelation to man of His own character as the standard of perfection, and the test of righteousness. Since God designs to renew His likeness in us, we may know what He is by what He requires of us. The holiness, the righteousness, and the goodness of God are set forth in His law, which is declared to be "holy, just [righteous] and good," and the perfection which He requires of us will be revealed in a life which is in harmony with "that good and acceptable and perfect will of God." Rom. 12:2.

Because "a man is not justified by the works of the law, but by the faith of Jesus Christ" (Gal. 2:16), and because we "are not under the law but under grace" (Rom. 6:14), some have fallen into the error of supposing that Christians have nothing whatever to do with the law of God. It is therefore well worth our while to consider the purposes served by the law, and the relation between the law and the gospel.

In order that it may be true of us that "the blood of Jesus Christ His Son cleanseth us from all sin" (1 John 1:7), we must "confess our sins" (1 John 1:9), and we must be made aware of sin before we can confess it. This brings out the first purpose of the law, for by the law is the knowledge of sin (Rom. 3:20), and "I had not known sin, but by the law; for I had not known lust, except the law had said, Thou shalt not covet." Rom. 7:7. The way in which the law reveals sin appears from the fact that "all unrighteousness is sin "(1 John 5:17), and that the law reveals unrighteousness by defining righteousness. The law,

being a transcript of the righteous character of God, is used by the Holy Spirit to "reprove the world of sin" (John 16:8), by showing men that they are "wretched, and miserable, and poor, and blind, and naked" (Rev. 3:17) when their own characters are placed in contrast with the purity and holiness of God. When we thus see God we exclaim with Isaiah, "Woe is me! for I am undone; because I am a man of unclean lips" (Isa. 6:5), and with Job we say, "I abhor myself and repent in dust and ashes." Job 42:6. All this is made plain in the Scripture. "Righteous art Thou, O Lord, and upright are Thy judgments. Thy testimonies that Thou hast commanded are righteous and very faithful!" "My tongue shall speak of Thy word; for all Thy commandments are righteousness." Ps. 119:137, 138, 172.

But while the law thus makes known sin to us by setting forth the righteous character of God, and being itself righteousness, it is yet utterly unable to confer that righteousness upon us. "I do not frustrate the grace of God; for if righteousness come by the law, then Christ is dead in vain." Gal. 2:21. "For if there had been a law given which could have given life, verily righteousness should have been by the law. But the Scripture hath concluded all under sin, that the promise by faith of Jesus Christ might be given to them that believe." Gal. 3:21, 22. Here is where the work of Christ avails for us, and the very object of that work is that the righteousness defined by the law, and revealed in the gospel, may be fulfilled in us. "For what the law could not do, in that it was weak through the flesh, God sending His own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh, and for sin, condemned sin in the flesh; that the righteousness of the law might be fulfilled in us, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit." Rom. 8:3, 4. "For He hath made Him to be sin for us, who knew no sin; that we might be made the righteousness of God in Him" 2 Cor. 5:21.

The righteousness of the law was fulfilled by Christ, who did "not come to destroy, but to fulfil"

Page 66 1895 Evangelism Page 67

the law, and who by a life of perfect obedience to the Father's will, wherein He "became obedient unto death, even the death of the cross," was "made unto us wisdom, and righteousness, and sanctification, and redemption." 1 Cor. 1:30. "For as by one man's disobedience many were made sinners, so by the obedience of one shall many be made righteous. Moreover the law entered that the offence might abound. But where sin abounded, grace did much more abound; that as sin hath reigned unto death, even so might grace reign through righteousness unto eternal life by Jesus Christ our Lord." Rom. 5:19-21.

The work accomplished by Christ in behalf of man is more than to pay the penalty for a broken law; it includes the bringing of man into harmony with that law. He "gave Himself for us, that He might redeem us from all iniquity, and purify unto Himself a peculiar people, zealous of good works." Titus 2:14. For this it became necessary not only that righteousness should be imputed to us, but imparted to us; not only that Christ should live for us, but that He should live in us; not only that we should be "justified by faith "(Rom. 5:1), but that we should be " sanctified by faith." Acts 26:18. So the Word was made flesh and dwelt among us (and we beheld His glory [His character], the glory [the character] as of the only begotten of the Father), full of grace and truth." John 1:14. Angels could convey messages for God, and could do deeds for God, but only the Son of God could reveal the righteousness of God by being God.

In His life among men Christ became the righteousness which was defined in the law. "The law was given by Moses but grace and truth [grace and the reality] came by Jesus Christ." John 1:17. In the law, considered merely as a code, we have only the form of truth, but Christ is the Truth. "Behold, thou art called a Jew, and restest in the law, and makest thy boast of God, and knowest His will, and approvest the things that are more excellent, being instructed out of

the law; and art confident that thou thyself art a guide of the blind, a light of them which are in darkness, an instructor of the foolish, a teacher of babes, which has *the form* of knowledge and of the truth in the law." Rom. 2:17-20. The law gives the *form*, but Christ is the *reality*. Christ had the law in His *heart*, and so His life was the law in living characters. This was set forth in the prophecy concerning His work centuries before He was "made of a woman": "I delight to do Thy will, O My God; yea, Thy law is within My heart." Ps. 40:8.

In His teaching Christ interpreted the spiritual character of the law, showing that to hate was to commit murder, to think impurely was to commit adultery, to covet was to be an idolater, and His life was so completely in harmony with the sacred precepts as interpreted by Him that He could challenge those who were constantly seeking something against Him with the inquiry, "Which of you convinceth Me of sin?" John 8:46.

And He "who did no sin" (1 Peter 2:22) wrought out this life of perfect righteousness not for Himself but for us, that the image of God might be again revealed in our lives. The law was within the heart of Christ, and He came to do the will of God, in order that the same law might be written in our hearts, and that we might be restored to the blessedness of doing God's will; that the *form* might become the *reality* in us. This is accomplished for each individual by his acceptance of the work of Christ for him through faith in the word of God, by opening the door of his heart to Christ, that He may become the very life of his life, so that he may be "saved by His life." Rom. 5:10. This is righteousness by faith. This is being "found in Him, not having mine own righteousness, which is of the law, but that which is through the faith of Christ, the righteousness which is of God by faith." Phil. 3: 9.

Thus we see that the law first gives knowledge of sin. It sets up a perfect standard of righteousness, and so defines the righteousness required; but it cannot confer that righteousness. It does not make one a sinner; it simply reveals the fact that he is a sinner. It cannot give righteousness; it simply shows the need of righteousness. But God, who requires the righteousness of the law in our characters, has made provision that this righteousness shall be brought to us in Christ, who is the centre of the gospel. The standard of character which is defined by the law is presented to us in Christ in the gospel. So we read: "But now the righteousness of God without the law is manifested, being witnessed by the law and the prophets; even the righteousness of God which is by faith of Jesus Christ, unto all and upon all them that believe; for there is no difference; for all have sinned and come short of the glory [the character] of God; being justified freely by His grace through the redemption that is in Christ Jesus; whom God hath set forth to be a propitiation through faith in His blood, to declare His righteousness for the remission of sins that are past, through the forbearance of God; to declare, I say, at this time His righteousness; that He might be just and the justifier of him which believeth in Jesus." Rom. 3:21-26. By the law sin is revealed; in the gospel righteousness is revealed. By the law the disease is made known; in the gospel of Christ the cure is found. This is the first step in the relation between the law and the gospel.

After we have come to Christ and are justified by faith, without the deeds of the law (Rom. 3:28), after we have become "the children of God by faith in Christ Jesus" (Gal. 3:26), having received Him who is righteousness and the living law, what then is our relation to the law? This will perhaps best appear by considering the results of genuine faith in Christ.

To believe on Christ is to receive Christ; not to assent to a creed, but to accept a *life*; not to strive for the maintenance of certain outward forms, but to become "partakers of the divine nature." 2 Peter 1:4. Creeds and forms cannot save people from their sins. Terrible is the catalogue

of the sins of those "having a form of godliness, but denying the power thereof." 2 Tim. 3:1-5. A new life must be imparted before man can "live unto God." "Except a man be born from above, he cannot see the kingdom of God." John 3:3. For neither is circumcision anything, nor uncircumcision, but a new creation." Gal. 6:15, R.V. This experience depends upon the faith which each one exercises for himself, and "it is of faith, that it might be by grace." Rom. 4:16. To all who sincerely pray the prayer, "Create in me a clean heart," (Ps. 51:10), the reply comes, "Believe ye that I am able to do this? ... According to your faith be it unto you." Matt. 9:28, 29. "And this is the victory that overcometh the world, even our faith" (1 John 5:4); but faith for victory is the "faith which worketh by love." Gal. 5: 6.

"Do we then make void the law through faith? God forbid: yea, we establish the law." Rom. 3:31. "This is the victory which overcometh the world, even our Christ made present with all His glorious power by faith;" but this is the Christ in whose heart is the law of God; who said of Himself, "I have kept my Father's commandments" (John 15:10); who was and is the law of God in life, so that when the prayer, "that Christ may dwell in your hearts by faith" (Eph. 3:17), is answered, the law in Christ is "written not with ink, but with the Spirit of the living God; not in tables of stone, but in fleshy tables of the heart." 2 Cor. 3:3. And thus do we establish the law.

"Where there is not only belief in God's word, but a submission of the will to Him—where the heart is yielded to Him, the affections fixed upon Him, there is faith, faith that works by love and purifies the soul. Through this faith the heart is renewed in the image of God. And the heart that in its unrenewed state is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be, now delights in its holy precepts." "God is love." 1 John 4:8. His law is an expression of His love, and Christ is that law of love expressed in life; so when we receive Christ into our hearts, then love, the fruit of the

Page 68 1895 Evangelism Page 69

Spirit, is received into our hearts, and "when the principle of love is implanted in the heart, ... the new covenant promise is fulfilled, I will put my laws into their hearts, and in their minds will I write them" (Heb. 10:16) [Steps to Christ (SC), p. 60]; for "love is the fulfilling of the law." Rom. 13:10. And thus do we "establish the law" by faith.

But after the law is thus by faith established in the heart by abiding in Christ, and having Him, who is the living law, abide in us, then the fruit of such a union with Christ will appear in the life. "He that abideth in Me, and I in him, the same bringeth forth much fruit" (John 15:5), and thus are we "filled with the fruits of righteousness." Phil. 1:11. And now the law, which revealed sin but could not confer righteousness, witnesses to the character of the righteousness which we have received through faith in Christ. "But now the righteousness of God without the law is manifested, being witnessed by the law and the prophets." Rom. 3:21. The law reveals sin by defining righteousness, by showing us the character of God. The gospel reveals righteousness. "Therein is the righteousness of God revealed." Rom. 1:17. We receive this righteousness as the free gift of God in receiving Jesus Christ. The law cannot give us what we need. It urges us to Christ, where we receive what it demands but cannot bestow. Then we return to the same law, and it bears witness to the fact that the righteousness we have received in Christ Jesus is the very righteousness which it demands but cannot impart.

This was God's plan for those who would believe in Christ. "God offered them in His Son the perfect righteousness of the law." [Thoughts From the Mount of Blessing (MB), p. 54.] If they would open their hearts fully to receive Christ, then the very life of God, His love, would dwell in them, transforming them into His own image; and thus through God's free gift they would possess the righteousness which the law requires.

The words "abolish," "take away," "destroy,"

and "change" have been so persistently connected with the law by some public teachers that there exists in the minds of many people the honest conviction that all which is expressed by these words was done to the law by Christ. It is true that He came to "abolish" something, and to "take away" something, and to "destroy" something, and to "change" something; but it is important that we should know just what it was that He abolished, and what it was that He took away, and what it was that He destroyed, and what it was that He intended to change by His work in behalf of man. This we can easily learn from the Scriptures.

WHAT WAS ABOLISHED.

It is said of our Saviour, Jesus Christ, that He "hath *abolished death*, and hath brought life and immortality to light through the gospel." 2 Tim. 1:10. Death is the result of sin. "Sin, when it is finished, bringeth forth death." James 1:15. But "sin is the transgression of the law." 1 John 3:4. Christ, therefore, came to abolish that which is the result of being out of harmony with the law, and He did it, not by abolishing the law, but by bringing us into harmony with the law.

WHAT WAS TAKEN AWAY.

We read that Christ "was manifested to *take away our sins*." 1 John 3:5. He is the sin-bearer, "who His own self carried up our sins in His body to the tree, that we having died unto sins, might live unto righteousness." 1 Peter 2:24, R.V., margin. Sin is lawlessness, and Christ was manifested to take away, not the law, but lawlessness.

WHAT HE CAME TO DESTROY.

The attitude of Christ toward the law is set forth in the prophecy which says: "He will magnify the law and make it honourable." Isa. 42:21. In His sermon on the mount, which is itself but

the interpretation of the principles contained in the words spoken from Mount Sinai, Christ said: "Think not that I am come to destroy the law or the prophets; I am, not come to destroy, but to fulfil." Matt. 5:17. He "came to explain the relation of the law of God to man, and to illustrate its precepts by His own example of obedience." But we are taught that "for this purpose the Son of God was manifested, that He might *destroy the works of the devil.*" 1 John 3:8. The works of the devil are those which are contrary to God's law. "The devil sinneth from the beginning," and in every case "sin is the transgression of the law."

Furthermore, Christ came to destroy the devil himself. Satan had introduced into this world rebellion against God and His law, and Christ's mission and work were to put an end to that rebellion and the instigator of it. In order to do that, He took our flesh, "that through death He might destroy him that had the power of death, that is the devil." Heb. 2:14.

WHAT HE CAME TO CHANGE.

It is a blessed thing to know that a change was wrought by Christ in giving Himself for man. There was certainly need that a change should be made. Men were far from righteousness, "being alienated from the life of God through the ignorance that is in them" (Eph. 4:18), "having no hope and without God in the world." Eph. 2:12. "But God, who is rich in mercy, ... hath quickened us together with Christ, ... and hath raised us up together, and made us sit together in heavenly places in Christ Jesus." Eph. 2:4-6. And thus "we all ... are changed into the same image from glory to glory." 2 Cor. 3:18. But more even than a change of character has been provided for us, for "we look for the Saviour, the Lord Jesus Christ, who shall change our vile body, that it may be fashioned like unto His glorious body." Phil. 3:20, 21. "We shall not all sleep, but we shall all be changed, in a moment, in the twinkling of an eye, at the last trump." 1 Cor. 15:51, 52. Glorious change! A renewed character and a renewed body! This is the fulness of the salvation provided for us in Jesus Christ.

It thus becomes evident from the teaching of the Scriptures that Christ came to abolish, not the law, but death; to take away, not the law, but our sins; to destroy, not the law, but the devil and his works; to change, not the law, but us. He did all this "by the sacrifice of Himself." Heb. 9:26. If the law could have been changed or abolished, Christ need not have died.

SIN TRANSIENT; THE LAW ETERNAL.

In different ways God teaches that sin is transient, while the law is eternal. While Jesus was teaching on one occasion "the scribes and Pharisees brought unto Him a woman taken in adultery," and asked what should be done in such a case, not because they desired to be instructed, but "tempting Him, that they might have to accuse Him." After her accusers had made their charge, "Jesus stooped down, and with His finger wrote on the ground." John 8:3, 6. "Although doing this without apparent design, Jesus was tracing on the ground, in legible characters, the particular sins of which the woman's accusers were guilty." Thus Jesus wrote the record of sins in the sand. How easily could this record be obliterated! A gust of wind or a dash of water, and it is gone! But God wrote His law with His finger upon tables of stone,—an unchangeable and imperishable record of His own character. This same law He writes in the heart of the believer, there to remain to all eternity; for "he that doeth the will of God abideth forever." 1 John 2:17. Sin, and death the result of sin, may be taken away; for "the blood of Jesus Christ, His Son cleanseth us from all sin" (1 John 1:7), and "death is swallowed up in victory, (1 Cor. 15:54), but "all Thy commandments are righteousness" and "Thy

Page 70 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 71

righteousness is an everlasting righteousness." Ps. 119:172, 142. "Hearken unto Me, ye that know righteousness, the people in whose heart is My law;" "My salvation shall be forever, and My righteousness shall not be abolished." Isa. 51:7, 6. "Jesus Christ is the same yesterday and today, yea, and forever." Heb. 13:8, R.V.

The very charge made against God by Satan was that His plan of government was defective, and His law imperfect, and the whole controversy between Christ and Satan has been waged over this point: Shall God's rule be acknowledged and His law respected in this world, or shall the rebellion succeed, and the kingdom of Satan be established here? Is it not clear, therefore, that everyone who today takes the position that God's law has been changed or abolished is really putting himself on the side of the "god of this world" (2 Cor. 4:4) and in opposition to "the God and Father of our Lord Jesus Christ"? Eph. 1:3. But God will show to the satisfaction of the universe, even in the very face of Satan's work, that His law is perfect and His government just. "Who shall not fear Thee, O Lord, and glorify Thy name? for Thou only art holy; for all nations shall come and worship before Thee; for Thy judgments are made manifest." Rev. 15:4.

A STANDARD NEEDED.

But if God's law has been changed or abolished, there is no longer any standard by which to test the character of the righteousness which men claim to have received by faith. Each one is then at liberty to erect his own standard to suit his own inclinations. Such teaching as this is now bearing its legitimate fruit in the world. God's holy law is not brought to bear upon the consciences of men to convince of sin, as in former days; hence the need of the Saviour is not felt to the same degree; and without a standard with which to test their professed righteousness, the counterfeit passes for the genuine, and religion is reproached. It is

universally acknowledged that there is need of having a standard in all the transactions between man and man, and so we have the standard of weight, the standard of measure, etc. Without these standards there would be the utmost confusion in the business world. Moreover, these standards must not be variable. A variable standard is no standard at all. But is man wiser than God? "Were men free to depart from the Lord's requirements, and set up a standard of duty for themselves, there would be a variety of standards to suit different minds, and the government would be taken out of the Lord's hands. The law of self would be erected, the will of man would be supreme, and the high and holy will of God—His purpose of love toward His creatures—would be dishonoured, disrespected." (MB 51, 52.)

OFFICE OF THE LAW.

The office of the law in making known sin, and in witnessing to the righteousness obtained through faith in Christ may be illustrated by the way in which a mirror is used. A man may learn by looking into it that his face is smirched with smut. The mirror did not put the smut there, neither can it take it away. It simply reveals its presence. Some other means must be used to remove the dirt; but when this is done, the same mirror testifies that his face is clean. But suppose the man should destroy or throw away the mirror because it revealed the presence of the dirt, and yet, not fully satisfied with this course, should endeavour to make himself clean, what will now satisfy him of the success of his efforts? He may feel better because he has made some effort to be clean; but at the same time he may have done only an incomplete work, or he may have made matters worse. So we are defiled by sin. The law reveals that fact, yet cannot cleanse; but there is "a fountain opened to the house of David and to the inhabitants of Jerusalem for sin and for uncleanness" (Zech. 13:1), in which we

may wash and be clean. The law testifies to the character of the work wrought for us by "Him that loved us, and washed us from our sins in His own blood." Rev. 1:5. But if the law is variable or has been abolished, we are left in uncertainty. Then self-righteousness may pass for righteousness because one *feels* satisfied in trying to meet the standard which he himself has set up.

THE PLEDGE OF AN IMMUTABLE LAW.

The fact that the law of God is not done away, is the pledge of our security in heaven. "So speak ye, and so do, as they that shall be judged by the law of liberty." James 2:12. That law is the standard in the judgment. Harmony with the law of God is the condition of the entrance into the kingdom. Everyone who applies for admission is tested by it. The law is a transcript of God's character. Everyone must meet this standard in its perfection, and those who do not reach it are shut out of the kingdom. We cannot meet the standard except as we receive Christ; but when we have received Christ, we know we have that which will meet the test. If anyone could be admitted to the kingdom who was out of harmony with God's law, sin would be transferred into the world to come. The very fact that the law of God is neither changed nor abolished is our safety in the eternal kingdom, the pledge that "affliction shall not rise up the second time."

THE LAW OUT OF CHRIST AND THE LAW IN CHRIST.

Observe the difference between the law of God as a rigid code and the same law coming to us in Christ. A command which out of Christ is a rigid code, in Christ becomes a living promise. The law, out of Christ, simply a rigid code, says, "Thou shalt," and "thou shalt not." But that same law in Christ becomes a living

promise. "Whereby are given unto us exceeding great and precious promises." 2 Pet. 1:4. "In every command or injunction that God gives, there is a promise, the most positive, underlying the commandment." [MB76.] When we read: "Blessed are the meek, for they shall inherit the earth," that is clearly a promise. When we read in the law: "Thou shalt not kill," we read it out of Christ simply as a command, or we may know it in Christ as a living promise. That is, He in His life promises each one, "Thou shalt not kill." I cannot of myself help hating, which is breaking the sixth commandment. I am trying not to do it, and yet I do it. I turn about, and find that that same command in Christ, written by the Spirit of the living God on the fleshy tables of the heart, has brightened into a promise, and it says, "I have a promise to make to you. You have received Me; you shall not kill."

Outside of Christ, as a code, the law says, "Thou shalt not steal;" but I cannot help it. Then I turn about, and find that that law in Christ has brightened into a promise, and it reads to me, "You are the one that has been stealing. I have a promise to make to you. You shall not steal."

The law reveals sin by defining righteousness, and then drives us to Christ, who is the centre of the gospel. There the righteousness of the law is revealed. [See Appendix A, Section A.]

COMPLETE OBEDIENCE.

Partial obedience is a very thorny path; full obedience is the easy yoke promised us. When we tell the Lord that we will keep all His commandments, He immediately takes possession of us, and says we shall. We do not abolish the law through faith; on the contrary, "it is faith, and faith only, that makes us partakers of the grace of Christ, which enables us to render obedience." [SC 60, 61.] But this is accomplished, not by commanding the believer, "Thou shalt," but by shedding abroad in his heart the love of God

Page 72 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 73

which gives him the blessed assurance of "Thou wilt." Not, thou must fulfil the law, else thou canst not live; but, because thou art now living in "the Living One," thou wilt fulfil the law. This is righteousness by faith. This is the gospel.

The same standard of righteousness has been set before man in all ages. In olden time the instruction was: "Fear God and keep His commandments; for this is the whole duty of man." Eccl. 12:13. And the death of Christ did not make any change in this teaching; for "circumcision is nothing, and uncircumcision is nothing, but the keeping of the commandments of God" (1 Cor. 7:19), and "this is the love of God, that we keep His commandments; and His commandments are not grievous." 1 John 5:3. Furthermore, the provision has been the same in all ages for meeting this standard of righteousness. The Lord said of old, through the prophet: "A new heart also will I give you, and a new spirit will I put within you; and I will take away the stony heart out of your flesh, and I will give you an heart of flesh. And I will put My Spirit within you, and cause you to walk in My statutes, and ye shall keep My judgments, and do them." Ezek. 36:26, 27. The same ground of hope for success in the Christian life is held out to us in the inspired prayer of the great apostle: "Now the God of peace, ... make you perfect in every good work to do His will, working in you that which is well pleasing in His sight, through Jesus Christ." Heb. 13:20, 21.

A SUMMARY.

We are now prepared to summarise the results of our study upon the relation between the law and the gospel. We have found that the law reveals sin by defining the standard of righteousness, and that in the gospel the righteousness required by the law is revealed. We have found that the gospel is the gospel of *Christ*, and that the righteousness which is revealed in it is the righteousness wrought out for us by Christ through a

life of perfect obedience to the law of God. Thus the gospel is God's provision not merely for fulfilling the requirements of the law *for* us in Christ, but also for fulfilling the requirements of the same law *in* us through Christ, and this is accomplished by receiving Christ, the very embodiment of the law, into our hearts by faith, so that "it is no longer I that live, but Christ liveth in me." Gal. 2:20, R.V., margin.

The fruit of such a union with Christ is seen in a life which is in harmony with that same law which was the inspiration of His life, and the law which at first revealed sin now bears witness to the genuine character of that righteousness "which is by faith of Jesus Christ." And thus what the law could not do in that it was weak through our flesh, has been done for us by putting that same law into the flesh in Christ, and through Him into our flesh, "that the righteousness of the law might be fulfilled in us who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit." Rom. 8:4.

This brings us to the conclusion that THE GOSPEL IS SIMPLY THE LAW IN CHRIST, and therefore an attempt to abolish the law is an attempt to abolish Christ and the gospel, and an attempt to change the law is in attempt to change the character of Christ and to thwart the purpose of the gospel. A heart filled with love to Christ and the spirit of truth will seek no such results, but will thankfully say: "Abundant peace have they who love Thy law; and it is no stumbling block to them." Ps. 119:165, Spurrill's Translation. See margin of A.V.

Page 74 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 75

Page 76 1895 Evangelism

Appendix A Statements on the Law and Gospel Blended

These exhibits begin with a letter written within days of the publication of the final section of Prescott's talk "The Law in Christ." The other statements are given chronologically beginning in 1888. Emphasis in all is supplied. Bracketed sections are observations of the compiler.

A. June 6, 1896 (Letter 96, to Uriah Smith, in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 1574-1576).

[A highly significant correlation exists between the concepts in the last two paragraphs of the section above entitled "THE LAW OUT OF CHRIST AND THE LAW IN CHRIST," as well as the final text Prescott used, and a letter Ellen White wrote five days after these paragraphs were published. This letter to Uriah Smith shows further the endorsement by the Holy Spirit of the insights that Prescott was sharing. The letter in its entirety follows.]

"Sunnyside" Cooranbong, N.S.W., June 6, 1896.

Eld. U. Smith, Battle Creek, Mich.

Dear Brother:

(The enclosed pages present a few points which were opened to Sister White last night, and which she wished sent to you. She has for some days been suffering from the effects of cold and overwork, and is today unable to read or write. The matter was written out as she presented it. We sent some copies of articles and letters by the S.F. mail, which Sister White desired you to read; but as we were not certain that you were in Battle Creek, they were addressed to Elder Tenney, with direction that he read and forward to you. Yours in the work, M. Davis)

"The law was our schoolmaster to bring us

unto Christ, that we might be justified by faith." [Gal. 3:24.] In this scripture, the Holy Spirit through the apostle is speaking especially of the moral law. **The law reveals sin** to us, and causes us **to feel our need of Christ**, and to flee unto him for pardon and peace by exercising repentance toward God and faith toward our Lord Jesus Christ.

An unwillingness to yield up preconceived opinions, and to accept this truth, lay at the foundation of a large share of the opposition manifested at Minneapolis against the Lord's message through Brethren Waggoner and Jones. By exciting that opposition, Satan succeeded in shutting away from our people, in a great measure, the special power of the Holy Spirit that God longed to impart to them. The enemy prevented them from obtaining that efficiency which might have been theirs in carrying the truth to the world, as the apostles proclaimed it after the day of Pentecost. The light that is to lighten the whole earth with its glory was resisted, and by the action of our own brethren has been in a great degree kept away from the world.

The law of ten commandments is not to be looked upon as much from the prohibitory side, as from the mercy side. Its prohibitions are the sure guarantee of happiness in obedience. As received **in Christ**, it works in us the purity of character that will bring joy to us through eternal ages. To the obedient it is a wall of protection. We behold in it the goodness of God, who by revealing to men the immutable principles of righteousness, seeks to shield them from the evils that result from transgression.

We are not to regard God as waiting to punish the sinner for his sin. The sinner brings the punishment upon himself. His own actions start a train of circumstances that bring the sure result. Every act of transgression reacts upon the sinner, works in him a change of character, and makes it

1895 Evangelism Page 77

more easy for him to transgress again. By choosing to sin, men separate themselves from God, cut themselves off from the channel of blessing, and the sure result is ruin and death.

The law is an expression of God's idea: when we receive it **in Christ** it becomes our idea; it lifts us above the power of natural desires and tendencies, above temptations that lead to sin. "**Great peace have they that love thy law**; and nothing shall offend them,"—cause them to stumble.

There is no peace in unrighteousness; the wicked are at war with God. But he who receives **the righteousness of the law in Christ** is in harmony with heaven. "Mercy and truth are met together; righteousness and peace have kissed each other."

B. Nov. 1888 (MS 15, "To Brethren Assembled at General Conference," in The 1888 Materials, pp. 164-166).

[This manuscript was addressed to those in attendance at the Minneapolis Conference. Reference is made to the 1886 General Conference, which occurred while Ellen White was in Switzerland, and at which G. I. Butler distributed his booklet *The Law in the Book of Galatians*.]

I know it would be dangerous to denounce Dr. Waggoner's position as wholly erroneous. This would please the enemy. I see the beauty of truth in the presentation of the righteousness of Christ in relation to the law as the doctor has placed it before us. You say, many of you, it is light and truth. Yet you have not presented it in this light heretofore. Is it not possible that through earnest, prayerful searching of the Scriptures he has seen still greater light on some points? That which has been presented harmonizes perfectly with the light which God has been pleased to give me during all the years of my experience. If our ministering brethren would accept the doctrine which has been presented so clearly—the righteousness of Christ in connection with the

law—and I know they need to accept this, their prejudices would not have a controlling power, and the people would be fed with their portion of meat in due season. Let us take our Bibles, and with humble prayer and a teachable spirit, come to the great Teacher of the world; let us pray as did David, "Open thou mine eyes, that I may behold wondrous things out of thy law" (Ps. 119:18).

... The truth must be presented as it is in Jesus; if there are any among us who become stirred up because ideas contrary from what they have believed are presented in this meeting, then stop your unsanctified criticisms and candidly investigate the subject, and it will sanctify the soul.

Two years ago, while in Switzerland, I was addressed in the night season by a voice which said, "Follow me." I thought I arose, and followed my guide. I seemed to be in the Tabernacle at Battle Creek, and my guide gave instructions in regard to many things at the conference. I will give in substance a few things that were said: "The Spirit of God has not had a controlling influence in this meeting. The spirit that controlled the Pharisees is coming in among this people, who have been greatly favored of God."

Many things were spoken which I will not now present to you. I was told that there was need of great spiritual revival among the men who bear responsibilities in the cause of God. There was not perfection in all points on either side of the question under discussion. We must search the Scriptures for evidences of truth. "There are but few, even of those who claim to believe it, that comprehend the third angel's message, and yet this is the message for this time. It is present truth. But how few take up this message in its true bearing, and present it to the people in its power! With many it has but little force."

Said my guide, "There is much light yet to shine forth from the law of God and the gospel of righteousness. This message, understood in its true character, and proclaimed in the Spirit, will lighten the earth with its glory. The great decisive question is to be brought before all nations, tongues, and peoples. The closing work of the third angel's message will be attended with a power that will send the rays of the Sun of Righteousness into all the highways and byways of life, and decisions will be made for God as supreme Governor; His law will be looked upon as the rule of His government."

C. May 27, 1890 (Review and Herald article, "Living Channels of Light," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 674).

There should be deep searching of the Scriptures that the ministers of God may declare the whole counsel of God. The relation of Christ to the law is but faintly comprehended. Some preach the law, and feel that their brethren are not doing their whole duty if they do not present the subject in the very same way in which they do. These brethren shrink from the presentation of justification by faith, but just as soon as Christ is discovered in his true position in **relation to the law**, the misconception that has existed on this important matter will be removed. The law and the gospel are so blended that the truth cannot be presented as it is in Jesus, without blending these subjects in perfect agreement. The law is the gospel of Christ veiled; the gospel of Jesus is nothing more or less than the law defined, showing its far-reaching principles. "Search the Scriptures," is the injunction of our Lord. Search to find out what is truth. God has given us a test whereby to prove doctrine: "To the law and to the testimony; if they speak not according to this word, it is because there is no light in them." Search the Scriptures diligently, earnestly, unweariedly, to find out what God has revealed concerning yourself, your duties, your work, your responsibilities, your future, that you may make no mistake in seeking for eternal life. You may, in

searching the Scriptures, know the mind and

the will of God; and although the truth does not coincide with your ideas, you may have grace to lay down every prejudice in favor of your own customs and practices, and see what is truth, pure and unadulterated. Here is the word of the Lord. Obey it from the heart. Christ is full of pitying tenderness to all who repent. He will pardon the transgressor.

D. Dec. 27, 1890 (Diary, Washington, D.C., in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 779, 783).

I feel the burden on my soul to **present not only the law but the gospel**. One is not complete without the other. ...

The law and the gospel go hand in hand. The one is the complement of the other. The law without faith in the gospel of Christ cannot save the transgressor of law. The gospel without the law is inefficient and powerless. The law and the gospel are a perfect whole. The Lord Jesus laid the foundation of the building, and He lays "the headstone thereof with shoutings, crying, Grace, grace unto it." Zech. 4:7. He is the Author and Finisher of our faith, the Alpha and Omega, the beginning and the end, the first and the last. The two blended—the gospel of Christ and the law of God— produce the love and faith unfeigned.

E. 1890 (MS36, "Danger of False Ideas on Justification by Faith," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 822).

... On the one hand, religionists generally have **divorced the law and the gospel**, while we have, on the other hand, almost done the same from another standpoint. We have not held up before the people the righteousness of Christ and the full significance of His great plan of redemption. We have left out Christ and His matchless love, brought in theories and reasonings, and preached argumentative discourses.

Page 78 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 79

F. Feb. 27, 1891 (Diary, "Christ Our Righteousness," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 892).

The law and the gospel, revealed in the Word, are to be preached to the people; for **the law and the gospel, blended, will convict of sin**. ... Both the law and the gospel are blended. **In no discourse are they to be divorced**.

G. Dec. 13, 1892 (Review and Herald article, "Let the Trumpet Give a Certain Sound," in The 1888 Materials, pp. 1079, 1080).

As the bow in the cloud is formed by the union of the sunlight and the shower, so the rainbow encircling the throne represents the combined power of mercy and justice. It is not justice alone that is to be maintained; for this would eclipse the glory of the rainbow of promise above the throne; men could see only the penalty of the law. Were there no justice, no penalty, there would be no stability to the government of God. It is the mingling of judgment and mercy that makes salvation complete. It is the blending of the two that leads us, as we view the world's Redeemer, and the law of Jehovah, to exclaim, "Thy gentleness hath made me great." We know that the **gospel** is a perfect and complete system, revealing the immutability of the law of God. It inspires the heart with **hope**, and with **love** to God. Mercy invites us to enter through the gates into the city of God, and justice is satisfied to accord to every obedient soul full privileges as a member of the royal family, a child of the heavenly King. If we were defective in character, we could not pass the gates that mercy has opened to the obedient; for justice stands at the entrance, and demands holiness in all who would see God. Were justice extinct, and were it possible for divine mercy to open the gates to the whole race, irrespective of character, there would be a worse condition of disaffection and rebellion in heaven than before Satan was expelled. The peace, happiness, and harmony of heaven would be broken. The

change from earth to heaven will not change men's character; the happiness of the redeemed in heaven results from the character formed in this life after the image of Christ. The saints in heaven will first have been saints on earth.

H. March 20, 1894 (*Review and Herald* article, "Christ the Center of the Message," in *The 1888 Materials*, p. 1225).

In the love of God has been opened the most marvelous vein of precious truth, and the treasures of the grace of Christ are laid open before the church and the world. "For God so loved the world, that he gave his only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in him should not perish, but have everlasting life." What love is this,—what marvelous, unfathomable love!—that would lead Christ to die for us while we were yet sinners. What a loss it is to the soul who understands the strong claims of the law, and who yet fails to understand the grace of Christ which doth much more abound. It is true that the law of God reveals **the love** of God when it is preached as the truth in Jesus; for the gift of Christ to this guilty world must be largely dwelt upon in every discourse. It is no wonder that hearts have not been melted by the truth, when it has been presented in a cold and lifeless manner.

No wonder faith has staggered at the promises of God, when ministers and workers have failed to present **Jesus in his relation to the law of God**. How often should they have assured the people that "He that spared not his own Son, but delivered him up for us all, how shall he not with him also freely give us all things?"

I. May 1, 1895 (Letter 57, to O. A. Olsen, in *The 1888 Materials*, pp. 1338, 1339).

Unless he makes it his life business to behold the uplifted Saviour, and by faith accept the merits which it is his privilege to claim, the sinner can no more be saved than Peter could walk upon the water unless he kept his eyes fixed steadily upon Jesus. Now, it has been Satan's determined purpose to eclipse the view of Jesus, and lead man to look to man, and trust to man, and be educated to expect help from man. For years the church has been looking to man and expecting much from man, but not looking to Jesus, in whom our hopes of eternal life are centered. Therefore God gave to His servants a testimony that presented the truth as it is in Jesus, which is the third angel's message in clear, distinct lines.

John's words are [to be] sounded by God's people, that all may discern the light and walk in the light: "He that cometh from above is above all: he that is of the earth is earthly, and speaketh of the earth: He that cometh from heaven is above all. And what He hath seen and heard, that He testifieth; and no man receiveth **His testimony**. He that hath received **His testimony** hath set to his seal that God is true. For He whom God hath sent speaketh the words of God: for God giveth not the Spirit by measure unto Him. The Father loveth the Son, and hath given all things into His hands. He that believeth on the Son hath everlasting life: and he that believeth not the Son shall not see life; but the wrath of God abideth on him."

This is the testimony that must go throughout the length and breadth of the world. It presents the law and the gospel, binding up the two in a perfect whole. (See Romans 5, and 1 John 3:9 to the close of the chapter.) These precious scriptures will be impressed upon every heart that is opened to receive them. "The entrance of Thy words giveth light; it giveth understanding unto the simple"—those who are contrite in heart. "As many as received Him, to them gave He power to become the sons of God, even to them that believe on His name." These have not a mere nominal faith, a theory of truth, a legal religion, but they believe to a purpose, appropriating to themselves the richest gifts of God. They plead for the gift, that they may give to others. They can say, "Of His fullness have all we received, and grace for grace."

J. May 25, 1896 (*The Bible Echo* article, "Preaching the Law and the Gospel").

[This is another significant correlation between what Ellen White was writing on the law and the gospel, and Prescott's presentations. In a column immediately adjacent to the sixth section of Prescott's article on "The Law in Christ; Or, The Relation Between the Law and the Gospel" published May 25, 1896, in The Bible Echo is a two-paragraph article by Ellen White entitled, "Preaching the Law and the Gospel." Since The Bible Echo was a missionary journal addressed to non- Adventists, she clearly is writing to the "religionists" who "generally have divorced the law and the gospel" by leaving out the law. Her appeal to Seventh-day Adventists, "on the other hand," was to present the gospel, not just the law, as MS36, 1890, clearly stated. (See Section E.)]

...**The gospel** has been published to a large part of the human race; but **the law of God**, the foundation of His government, has been clouded by the superstitions and inventions of men. ...

Page 80 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 81

Appendix B Statements on the Commandments of God and the Faith of Jesus of Equal Importance

These exhibits come from a search of *The Ellen G. White 1888 Materials* for her use of the phrases "the commandments of God" and "the faith of Jesus" as found in Rev. 14:12. What we discover is very instructive. Note especially Section A, p. 217, where she equates "the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus" with "the law and the gospel going hand in hand." The phrases have been highlighted, along with other pertinent concepts. The page locations in *The 1888 Materials* are noted in brackets at the ends of paragraphs.

A. Dec. 1888 (MS 24, "Looking Back at Minneapolis").

Elder E. J. Waggoner had the privilege granted him of speaking plainly and presenting his views upon justification by faith and the righteousness of Christ in relation to the law. This was no new light, but it was old light placed where it should be in the third angel's message. What is **the burden of that message**? John sees a people. He says, "Here is the patience of the saints: here are they that **keep the commandments of God**, and **the faith of Jesus**" (Rev. 14:12). This people John beholds just before he sees the Son of man "having on his head a golden crown, and in his hand a sharp sickle" (verse 14). [p. 211]

The faith of Jesus has been overlooked and treated in an indifferent, careless manner. It has not occupied the prominent position in which it was revealed to John. Faith in Christ as the sinner's only hope has been largely left out, not only of the discourses given but of the religious experience of very many who claim to believe the third angel's message. At this meeting I bore testimony that the most precious light had been shining forth from the Scriptures in the presentation of the great subject of the righteousness of

Christ connected with the law, which should be constantly kept before the sinner as his only hope of salvation. This was not new light to me for it had come to me from higher authority for the last forty-four years, and I had presented it to our people by pen and voice in the testimonies of His Spirit. But very few had responded except by assent to the testimonies borne upon this subject. There was altogether too little spoken and written upon this great question. The discourses of some might be correctly represented as like the offering of Cain—Christless. [p. 212]

The third angel's message is the proclamation of the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus Christ. The commandments of God have been proclaimed, but the faith of Jesus Christ has not been proclaimed by Seventh-day Adventists as of equal importance, the law and the gospel going hand in hand. I cannot find language to express this subject in its fullness.

"The faith of Jesus." It is talked of, but not understood. What constitutes the faith of Jesus, that belongs to the third angel's message? Jesus becoming our sin-bearer that He might become our sin-pardoning Saviour. He was treated as we deserve to be treated. He came to our world and took our sins that we might take His righteousness. Faith in the ability of Christ to save us amply and fully and entirely is the faith of Jesus. [p. 217]

B. June 1889 (MS30, "Experience Following the Minneapolis Conference").

The message that was given to the people in these meetings presented in clear lines not alone **the commandments of God**—a part of the third angel's message—but **the faith of Jesus**, which comprehends more than is generally supposed. And it will be well for the third angel's message to be proclaimed in **all its parts**, for the people need every jot and tittle of it. If we proclaim **the commandments of God** and

leave **the other half** scarcely touched, the message is marred in our hands. [p. 367]

I have not left anything undone that I have had any evidence it was my duty to do. And as far as Battle Creek is concerned I can do no more than I have done. Those who have not united with me and the messengers of God in this work, but whose influence has been to create doubt and unbelief, I do not judge. Every jot of influence that has been cast on the side of the enemy will meet its reward according to its works. God was working with me to present to the people a message in regard to **the faith of Jesus** and the righteousness of Christ. There have been those who have not worked in harmony but in a way to counteract the work God has given me to do. I must leave them with the Lord. [pp. 370, 371]

The Lord is not pleased to have man trusting in his own ability or good deeds or in a legal religion, but in God, the living God. The present message that God has made it the duty of His servants to give to the people is no new or novel thing. It is an old truth that has been lost sight of, just as Satan made his masterly efforts that it should be. The Lord has a work for every one of His loyal people to do to bring the faith of Jesus into the right place where it belongs—in the third angel's message. The law has its important position but is powerless unless the righteousness of Christ is placed be**side the law** to give its glory to the whole royal standard of righteousness. "Wherefore the law is holy, and the commandment holy, and just, and good" (Rom. 7:12). [p. 375]

Stand out of the way, Brethren. Do not interpose yourselves between God and His work. If you have no burden of the message yourselves, then prepare the way for those who have the burden of the message, for there are many souls to come out of the ranks of the world, out of the churches—

even the Catholic church—whose zeal will far exceed that of those who have stood in rank and

file to proclaim the truth heretofore. For this reason the eleventh hour laborers will receive their penny. These will see the battle coming and will give the trumpet a certain sound. When the crisis is upon us, when the season of calamity shall come, they will come to the front, gird themselves with the whole armor of God, and exalt His law, adhere to **the faith of Jesus**, and maintain the cause of religious liberty which Reformers defended with toil and for which they sacrificed their lives. [p. 378]

C. Sept. 13, 1889 (MS27, "Counsels to Ministers").

The soul-saving message, the third angel's message, is the message to be given to the world. The commandments of God and the faith of Jesus are both important, immensely important, and must be given with equal force and power. The first part of the message has been dwelt upon mostly, the last part casually. The faith of Jesus is not comprehended. We must talk it, we must live it, we must pray it, and educate the people to bring this part of the message into their home life. "Let this mind be in you, which was also in Christ Jesus." Phil. 2:5. [p. 430]

D. Oct. 1889 (MS22, Diary Entries).

We will not be able to meet the trials of this time without God. We are not to have the courage and fortitude of martyrs of old until brought into the position they were in. The Lord proportions His grace to meet every emergency. We are to receive daily supplies of grace for each daily emergency. Thus we grow in grace and in the knowledge of our Lord Jesus Christ, and if persecution comes upon us, if we must be enclosed in prison walls for **the faith of Jesus** and the keeping of **God's holy law**, "As thy days, so shall thy strength be." Should there be a return of persecution there would be grace given to arouse every energy of the soul to show a true

Page 82 1895 Evangelism Page 83

heroism. But there is a large amount of nominal Christianity which has not its origin in God, the Source of all power and might. God gives us not power to make us independent and self-sufficient. We must ever make God our only dependence. [p. 460]

E. Dec. 1889 (MS 18, "Address in Regard to the Sunday Movement").

We should diligently study the Word of God, and pray in faith that God will restrain the powers of darkness, for as yet the message has gone to comparatively few, and the world is to be lightened with its glory. The present truth—the commandments of God and the faith of Jesus—has not yet been sounded as it must be. There are many almost within the shadow of our own doors for whose salvation no personal effort has ever been made. [p. 502]

F. 1889 (MS13, "Standing by the Landmarks").

The passing of the time in 1844 was a period of great events, opening to our astonished eyes the cleansing of the sanctuary transpiring in heaven, and having decided relation to God's people upon the earth, [also] the first and second angels' messages and the third, unfurling the banner on which was inscribed, "The commandments of God and the faith of Jesus." One of the landmarks under this message was the temple of God, seen by His truth-loving people in heaven, and the ark containing the law of God. The light of the Sabbath of the fourth commandment flashed its strong rays in the pathway of the transgressors of God's law. The nonimmortality of the wicked is an old landmark. I can call to mind nothing more that can come under the head of the old landmarks. All this cry about changing the old landmarks is all imaginary. [p. 518]

G. Nov. 1890 (Letter If, "To Brethren in Responsible Positions").

[The paragraphs are also on pp. 1078 and 1080 in

the Dec. 6, 1892, article entitled, "Let the Trumpet Give a Certain Sound," in Review Herald, Dec. 6 and 13, 1892, which is almost identical to the Nov. 1890 letter.]

While you hold the banner of truth firmly, proclaiming the law of God, let every soul remember that the faith of Jesus is connected with the commandments of God. The third angel is represented as flying in the midst of heaven, symbolizing the work of those who proclaim the first, second, and third angels' messages; all are linked together. The evidences of the abiding, ever-living truth of these grand messages that mean so much to us, that have awakened such intense opposition from the religious world, are not extinct. Satan is constantly seeking to cast his hellish shadow about these messages, so that the remnant people of God shall not clearly discern their import, their time and place; but they live, and are to exert their power upon our religious experience while time shall last. [pp. 724, 725]

The rainbow above the throne, the bow of promise, testifies to the whole world that God will never forget His people in their struggle. Let Jesus be our theme. Let us with pen and voice present, not only the commandments of God, but the faith of Jesus. This will promote real heart piety as nothing else can. While we present the fact that men are subjects of a divine moral government, their reason teaches them that this is truth, that they owe allegiance to Jehovah. This life is our time of probation. We are placed under the discipline and government of God to form characters and acquire habits for the higher life. Temptations will come upon us. Iniquity abounds; where you least expect it, dark chapters will open that are most terrible, to weigh down the soul; but we need not fail nor be discouraged while we know that the bow of promise is above the throne of God. We shall be subject to heavy trials, opposition, bereavement, affliction; but we know that Jesus passed through all these. These experiences are valuable to us. The advantages are not by any means confined to this short life. They reach into eternal ages. Through patience, faith, and hope, in all the changing scenes of life, we are forming characters for everlasting life. Everything shall work together for good to those that love God. [pp. 728, 729]

H. March 24, 1891 (Sermon, "Our Present Dangers", *General Conference Bulletin*, April 13, 1891).

There is the highest reason for us to prize the true Sabbath and stand in its defense, for it is the sign which distinguishes the people of God from the world. The commandment that the world makes void is the one to which, for this very reason, God's people will give greater honor. It is when the unbelieving cast contempt upon the word of God that the faithful Calebs are called for. It is then that they will stand firm at the post of duty, without parade, and without swerving because of reproach. The unbelieving spies stood ready to destroy Caleb. He saw the stones in the hands of those who had brought a false report, but this did not deter him; he had a message, and he would bear it. The same spirit will be manifested today by those who are true to God. The psalmist says, "They have made void thy law. Therefore I love thy commandments above gold; yea, above fine gold." When men press close to the side of Jesus, when Christ is abiding in their hearts by faith, their love for the commandments of God grows stronger in proportion to the contempt which the world heaps upon his holy precepts. It is at this time that the true Sabbath must be brought before the people by both pen and voice. As the fourth commandment and those who observe it are ignored and despised, the faithful feel that it is the time not to hide their faith but to exalt the law of Jehovah by unfurling the banner on which is inscribed the message of the third angel, the commandments of God and the faith of **Jesus**. [p. 902]

I. Jan. 16, 1896 (Letter 6, "To Brethren Who Occupy Responsible Positions in the Work").

One of the dangers to which God's people will be exposed is this, The delusions that are coming upon a world that has turned from the truth. Those will be of such deceptive power, that the apostle under the inspiration of the Spirit of God, declares. "If it were possible, they shall deceive the very elect." Our work now is to confirm our souls in the faith,—that faith which is a working faith, which works by love and purifies the soul. Faith, living, active, working faith, we must have. Christ demands this of us. Verily Christ hath need of us now to represent him, not the cold, harsh, denunciatory, overbearing and ruling power of the prince of darkness. Those who are Christ's friends will now do whatsoever he commands them. Stand, therefore, having on the whole armor, and having done all, to stand. Let the soul temple be cleansed of prejudice, of that root of bitterness, and hatred, whereby many are being defiled. Cling to the mighty one. Communicate to others light, with cheerful words, and with courage in the Lord. Labor to diffuse that faith and confidence that has been your own consolation. Let it be heard from every lip and voice, "Here is the patience of the saints, here are they that keep the commandments of God, and the faith of Jesus." "Behold, I come as a thief. Blessed is he that watcheth and keepeth his garments, lest he walk naked, and they see his shame." "Let us be glad and rejoice, and give honor to him; for the marriage of the Lamb is come, and his wife hath made herself ready. And to her was granted that she should be arrayed in fine linen, clean and white: "for the fine linen is the righteousness of saints." [pp. 1483, 1484]

Who will now understand these things that I write. There are men who have known the truth, who have feasted upon the truth, who are now divided between infidel sentiments. There is only a step between them and the precipice of

Page 84 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 85

eternal ruin. The Lord is coming, but those who ventured to resist the light that God gave in rich measure at Minneapolis, who have not humbled their hearts before God, will follow on in the path of resistance, saying, "Who is the Lord that I should obey His voice?" The banner all will bear who voice the message of the third angel, is being covered with another color that virtually kills it. This is being done. Will our people now hold fast to the truth. "Here is the patience of the saints: here are they that keep **the commandments of God,** and the **faith of Jesus." This is our standard.** Hold it aloft; for it is truth. [p. 1486]

J. April 15, 1901 (Sermon, "An Appeal to Our Ministers" in *General Conference* Bulletin, April 16, 1901).

Very many will get up some test that is not given in the word of God. We have our test in the Bible,—the commandments of God and the testimony of Jesus Christ. "Here are they that keep the commandments of God and have the faith of Jesus." This is the true test, but many other tests will arise among the people. They will come in in multitudes, springing up from this one and that one. There will be a continual rising up of some foreign thing to call attention from the true test of God. [p. 1752]

Page 86 1895 Evangelism

Appendix C

Article on J. S. Washburn and His 1890's Evangelism (Review and Herald, Jan. 26, 1989)

J. S. Washburn: Unsung Hero Would British Adventism have Survived Without Him?

By David N. Marshall

Judson S. Washburn could be called the unsung hero of Adventism in Britain. Born in Waukon, Iowa, in 1863, Washburn was 25 at the time of the "righteousness by faith" General Conference of 1888. He, along with a small group of pastors, emerged from that session with a new fervor, a new perspective on every Adventist belief, and began to preach revival.^{1*}

In February 1891, Washburn attended a ministerial Bible school in Battle Creek at which Ellen White spoke. He must have been among those who complained that "in our camp meetings," 1888 notwithstanding, speakers continue to dwell "upon the law ... and not on Jesus." He doubtless appreciated the way Ellen White dealt with this complaint. "Many of our ministers

have merely sermonized, presenting subjects in an argumentative way and scarcely mentioning the saving power of the Redeemer.... Of all professed Christians, Seventh-day Adventists should be foremost in uplifting Christ before the world."

"There is danger," she also wrote in her diary, "of presenting the truth in such a way that the intellect is exalted, leaving the souls of the hearers unsatisfied." Like harsh taskmasters, too many ministers were imposing "stem duty" upon their congregations "as if it were a master ruling with a scepter of iron—a master, stem, inflexible, all-powerful—devoid of the sweet, melting love and tender compassion of Christ."

With these ideals pushing back his horizons, Washburn took a ship to Britain, arriving in December 1891.

Adventism had scarcely secured a toehold in England when Washburn arrived. Despite hard work by evangelists such as John Loughborough, S. H. Lane, and A. Allen John in the preceding dozen years, membership remained small: Southampton and Ulceby, a little more than 20; in Grimsby, Kettering, and Wellingborough, substantially less. And these figures included the expatriate evangelists and headquarters and publishing house staff, with their families. As yet there was little to show for long years of hard work by literature evangelist George Drew in the port cities of Hull and Liverpool. In London the work had scarcely begun. The first baptism there, a result of the effort of two Bible workers, took place in 1888.

Massive Changes

During the 10 years of his first stay in Britain, Washburn presided over massive changes. His campaigns in Southampton increased the membership from 20 to 120. Unprecedented success attended his crusades in London, Bath, Bristol, Newport, and Cardiff. This growth in membership left other workers amazed. By 1898 it became necessary to convene a meeting of

1895 Evangelism Page 87

^{1 *} The evidence from the June 4, 1950 interview with J. S. Washburn reveals that he was with the "three-fourths of the workers [who] stood against the new light" at Minneapolis. He remained in doubt as to A. T. Jones' preaching the truth and as to Ellen White's inspiration, until meeting and visiting with both of them at the Ottowa, Kansas, campmeeting the summer of 1889. (WDF 242, Ellen G. White Estate) (Note added by compiler.)

A report on the discussion and presentations at that Bible school is found in Ellen White's diary for February 27, 1891 (manuscript 21, 1891). The quotations in this and the following paragraph are reproduced in *The Ellen G. White* 1888 Materials, vol. 2, pp. 890, 891, 896.

ministers in Bath to discuss the "division of the British field into conferences."

The precarious state of things at the time of Washburn's arrival and the great escalation in membership as a result of his ministry led one researcher to conclude that British Adventism might have perished but for his contribution.³

On April 28, 1882,^{4†} Washburn began corresponding with Ellen White.⁵ His letters reflect the impact upon his thinking of both 1888 and the Bible conference of 1891. They help catalog the extent to which his new perceptions influenced his approach to evangelism. And that approach provides a clue as to why the Holy Spirit was able to bless his endeavors.

Before examining the method, however, let us look at the man.⁶

Washburn fell far short of our modem image of a successful evangelist. No one of us would have been impressed by his presence or delivery. For years he wore the same suit, until it became shiny. Though avoiding actual untidiness, he could never have been accused of being a snappy dresser.

He delivered his sermons in front of, rather than behind, the lectern. To the astonishment of his hearers, he frequently preached for two hours without notes or a Bible. Washburn knew the whole New Testament by heart, together with portions of the Old Testament, including the book of Daniel. Verse by verse he could at will draw from what he had memorized.

"I began meetings here in Bath ... on 10 January [1892]," Washburn told Ellen White. "There was a company of five or six before the work began." He preached twice during the workweek, in addition to once on Sabbath and once on Sunday. The Sunday meetings drew the largest attendance. He began with 30 and, as the crusade gathered momentum, eventually preached to 450. The population of the city was 60,000.

Prior to his departure from the United States, Washburn sought advice on how to evangelize the English. The advice proved indecisive and only implanted in his mind some unhelpful stereotypes regarding those he would seek to save. From the start, he told Ellen White, he had abandoned the approach favored in the United States. Like Paul in Corinth, he "determined not to know any thing among you, save Jesus Christ" (1 Cor. 2:2). "We thought we would not begin in the old way here, so began with Christ as Creator," and "I have made Christ, in fact, the central and one important thing in every sermon." The preaching of righteousness by faith began "getting people to come to Christ." Within the context of the centrality of Christ, he presented every doctrine, including the Sabbath.

Prophetic Support

Ellen White wrote to E. J. Waggoner, supporting Washburn's approach. Waggoner read the letter at a workers' meeting in London, which proved a source of considerable encouragement. The progress of the work in England, Ellen White told them, had been hindered by the preconception that work in England must of necessity go slowly.

By December 1892, Washburn was preaching to congregations of 500 and never less than 160. From beginning of the summer until October

23, every sermon took the form of an exposition of a passage from the book of Romans. Not until he had instilled that gospel message into the minds of his hearers, Washburn told Ellen White, did he begin a study of the prophetic book of Daniel. And even this book he found "to focus in on Christ." Before the close of his first year of evangelism in Bath, 50 were worshiping every Sabbath, and between 25 and 30 had committed themselves to keep the Sabbath.

Opposition Arises

But opposition had arisen. Preachers thundered from their pulpits against Washburn and the Sabbath. They printed tracts against the Adventist faith. Nevertheless, Washburn explained to Ellen White, "all who know anything about us know that we believe in the gospel and that our doctrine is not simply a legal theory. ... I do truly believe that if Christ is lifted up He will draw."

Washburn concluded one of his letters to Ellen White with the thought that he still had much to learn about the book of Revelation. He appeared wary of using it in his evangelistic approach, at least in the initial stages.

In the 1890s the work of an evangelist was sufficiently newsworthy to attract attention from local newspapers. In Bath, Newport, and Cardiff, they reproduced Washburn's sermons verbatim, a godsend to the modem researcher. Thus we may read exactly what he said and analyze his evangelistic method.

Washburn treated Revelation as a "postgraduate" course. In both Newport and Cardiff he preached from the book, but only after spending two evangelistic seasons preaching on Christ-centered topics and Daniel. His evangelistic method may be summed up as Christ always up front—His atonement, His righteousness, His soon return.

When Washburn returned to the United States in 1900, he played "a leading part in the transfer of denominational headquarters from

Battle Creek, Michigan, to Washington, D.C."⁷ His return visits to Britain during the 1920s and early 1930s saw him engaged in revival crusades. Many Adventists still living date their conversion to Washburn meetings in dingy public halls under the influence of the Holy Spirit.

Washburn outlived two wives. His first wife died in 1932, his second in 1953. He himself died on July 21, 1955, at Hagerstown, Maryland, at the age of 92.

Speakers at his funeral service recalled his great love of music. He had composed hymns, led choirs, and sung solos throughout the United States and Great Britain. The style of his compositions was simple but indicative of his one abiding passion: the love of Christ for the sinner.

Thirty years after Washburn's death, a conference committee met to choose the name for a new school hall. Aware of his importance in the history of British Adventism, the president suggested, "Why not the J. S. Washburn Hall?"

Embarrassed puzzlement spread through the committee. "Never heard of him," said one member. The others admitted that they had not heard of him either. They chose another name.

Notes added by Compiler:

- * The evidence from the June 4, 1950 interview with J. S. Washburn reveals that he was with the "three-fourths of the workers [who] stood against the new light" at Minneapolis. He remained in doubt as to A. T. Jones' preaching the truth and as to Ellen White's inspiration, until meeting and visiting with both of them at the Ottowa, Kansas, campmeeting the summer of 1889. (WDF 242, Ellen G. White Estate)
- † This appears to be a typographical error. The year 1892 fits the context better.

Page 88 1895 Evangelism 1895 Evangelism Page 89

Bryan Phillips, in an unpublished Ph.D. dissertation on early Adventism in Wales, at the University of Wales. See also David Marshall, *The Third Angel's Message* (Stanborough Press, 1987), pp. 52-59.

[†] This appears to be a typographical error. The year 1892 fits the context better. (Note added by compiler)

^{5 3}Washbum correspondence, White Centre, Newbold College.

For these details, we are indebted to the diaries and recollections of those who remember Washburn's extended visits to Britain in the 1920s and early 1930s, especially to Charles Smart of Gowerton.

Review and Herald, Aug. 25, 1955, obituaries.